
 

 

Planning Committee 
Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Councillor Chris Clark (Chair) 

Councillor Leila Ben-Hassel (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillors Joy Prince, Clive Fraser, Humayun Kabir, Jamie Audsley, 

Gareth Streeter, Scott Roche, Ian Parker and Lynne Hale 
 

 Reserve Members: Toni Letts, Bernadette Khan, Caragh Skipper, 
Stephen Mann, Pat Clouder, Andrew Pelling, Michael Neal, 
Richard Chatterjee, Ola Kolade and Jade Appleton 
 

 
 
A meeting of the Planning Committee which you are hereby summoned to attend, 
will be held on Thursday, 27 January 2022 at 6.00 pm in Council Chamber, Town 
Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX  
 
KATHERINE KERSWELL 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 
London Borough of Croydon 
Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA 

Jayde Watts  
020 8726 6000 x52729 
jayde.watts@croydon.gov.uk 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
Wednesday, 19 January 2022 

 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, or you can view the 
webcast both live and after the meeting has completed at 
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk  
 
If you would like to record the meeting, we ask that you read the guidance on the 
recording of public meetings here before attending  
 
To register a request to speak, please either e-mail 
Democratic.Services@croydon.gov.uk or phone the number above by 4pm on the 
Tuesday before the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk/
https://croydonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13507&path=0
mailto:Democratic.Services@croydon.gov.uk


 
 

 

The agenda papers for all Council meetings are available on the Council website 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
 
If you require any assistance, please contact   
Jayde Watts 020 8726 6000 x52729 

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

AGENDA – PART A 
 

1.   Apologies for absence  

 To receive any apologies for absence from any members of the 
Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 7 - 10) 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 13 January as 
an accurate record. 
 

3.   Disclosure of Interest  

 Members and co-opted Members of the Council are reminded that, in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct and the statutory 
provisions of the Localism Act, they are required to consider in advance 
of each meeting whether they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI), an other registrable interest (ORI) or a non-registrable interest 
(NRI) in relation to any matter on the agenda.  If advice is needed, 
Members should contact the Monitoring Officer in good time before the 
meeting.   
  
If any Member or co-opted Member of the Council identifies a DPI or 
ORI which they have not already registered on the Council’s register of 
interests or which requires updating, they should complete the 
disclosure form which can be obtained from Democratic Services at any 
time, copies of which will be available at the meeting for return to the 
Monitoring Officer. 
  
Members and co-opted Members are required to disclose any DPIs and 
ORIs at the meeting.   
 

 Where the matter relates to a DPI they may not participate in any 
discussion or vote on the matter and must not stay in the meeting 
unless granted a dispensation.   

 Where the matter relates to an ORI they may not vote on the 
matter unless granted a dispensation.    

 Where a Member or co-opted Member has an NRI which directly 
relates to their financial interest or wellbeing, or that of a relative 
or close associate, they must disclose the interest at the meeting, 
may not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and 
must not stay in the meeting unless granted a dispensation.  
Where a matter affects the NRI of a Member or co-opted 
Member, section 9 of Appendix B of the Code of Conduct sets 
out the test which must be applied by the Member to decide 
whether disclosure is required. 

  
The Chair will invite Members to make their disclosure orally at the 
commencement of Agenda item 3, to be recorded in the minutes. 



 

 

 

4.   Urgent Business (if any)  

 To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 
opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency. 
 

5.   Development presentations (Pages 11 - 12) 

 To receive the following presentations on a proposed development: 
 
There are none.  
 

6.   Planning applications for decision (Pages 13 - 16) 

 To consider the accompanying reports by the Director of Planning & 
Strategic Transport: 
 

 6.1   6.1 21/01274/FUL - 100 Reddown Road Coulsdon CR5 1AL 
(Pages 17 - 38) 
 

 Demolition of the existing dwelling and redevelopment of the site to 
provide 9 flats in a new 3/4 storey building including living 
accommodation in the roof space with associated car parking, 
landscaping and cycle storage. 
 
Ward: Coulsdon Town 
Recommendation: Grant permission 
 

 6.2   6.2 21/02912/FUL - Citylink House, 4 Addiscombe Road, 
Croydon, CR0 5TT (Pages 39 - 110) 
 

 Demolition of existing building and redevelopment of the site to provide  
a  part  14  storey  and part  28  storey  building  with basement,  
comprising  498  co-living  units  and  associated communal  amenity  
spaces  (Use  Class  Sui  Generis),  84 residential units (Use Class C3), 
commercial space (Use Class E) and flexible commercial and 
community space (limited uses within Use Class E/F1/F2) at 
ground/mezzanine level, together with roof terraces and balconies, 
wheelchair accessible parkingspaces, refuse and cycle storage and 
associated landscaping and public realm works including removal of 
subways. Works include stopping up of section of highway on Altyre 
Road and subway  to  No.1  Croydon,  12-16  Addiscombe  Road  under 
Section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
 
Ward: Addiscombe West 
Recommendation: Grant permission 
 



 

 

 6.3   6.3 21/02020/FUL -  Bradmore Way, Coulsdon, CR5 1PB 
(Pages 111 - 142) 
 

 Demolition of existing dwelling and garage and erection of a 2-3 storey  
building  (including  lower  ground  floor),  comprising  7 dwellings, 
together with car parking, cycle parking, refuse storage and associated 
landscaping. 
 
Ward: Old Coulsdon 
Recommendation: Grant permission 
 

7.   Items referred by Planning Sub-Committee  

 To consider any item(s) referred by a previous meeting of the Planning 
Sub-Committee to this Committee for consideration and determination: 
 
There are none.  
 

8.   Other planning matters (Pages 143 - 144) 

 To consider the accompanying report by the Director of Planning & 
Strategic Transport: 
 
 

 8.1   Weekly Planning Decisions  
 

 Attached is the list of Delegated and Planning Committee/Sub 
Committee decisions taken between 3 January 2022 and 14 January 
2022. 
 

9.   Exclusion of the Press & Public  

 The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 

to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting: 

 

"That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended." 
 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Planning Committee 
 
 

Meeting held on Thursday, 13 January 2022 at 6.00 pm in Council Chamber, Town Hall, 
Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX 

 
MINUTES 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Chris Clark (Chair); 
Councillor Leila Ben-Hassel (Vice-Chair); 

 
 
 
Also 
Present:  

Councillors Joy Prince, Clive Fraser, Scott Roche, Ian Parker, Lynne Hale and 
Richard Chatterjee (In place of Gareth Streeter) 
 
 
Councillors Jade Appleton & Robert Ward 
 

Apologies: Councillors Richard Chatterjee (Apologies for lateness), Humayun Kabir and 
Jamie Audsley 

  

PART A 
 
 

1/22   
 

Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 18 November 
2021 be signed as a correct record. 
 

2/22   
 

Disclosure of Interest 
 
 
There were no disclosures of a pecuniary interest not already registered. 
 

3/22   
 

Urgent Business (if any) 
 
 
There was none. 
 

4/22   
 

Development presentations 
 
 
There were none. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 

 
 

5/22   
 

Planning applications for decision 
 

6/22   
 

19/04661/FUL - 34 Brownlow Road, Croydon, CR0 5JT 
 
Demolition of existing dwelling and the erection of a 4 storey building 
comprising 7 apartments with a single parking space and other external 
alterations. 
 
Ward: Park Hill and Whitgift 
 
The officer presented details of the planning application and responded to 
questions for clarification. 
 
Councillor Richard Chatterjee (having already given apologies for lateness) 
attended the meeting during the presentation of the planning application at 
6.20. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Councillor Chatterjee took 
no part in this item as he was not present at the start of the presentation. 
 
Mr Wayne Mullen spoke against the application. 
 
Mr Spencer Copping spoke on behalf of the applicant in support of the 
application. 
 
The Ward Member Councillor Jade Appleton addressed the committee with 
her view on the application. 
 
The Committee deliberated on the application before them having heard all 
the speakers who addressed the Committee, and in turn addressed their 
views on the matters. 
 
The motion to approve was taken to a vote and fell with two Members voting 
in favour and three Members voting against and two Members abstained their 
vote.  
 
The substantive motion to GRANT the application based on the officer’s 
recommendation was not supported. 
 
Councillors Ben-Hassel, Roche and Parker clarified that the grounds for 
refusal were on the basis of the impact on the amenity of the 34A Brownlow 
Road to the rear as a result of the height of the development and the proximity 
to the rear boundary. 
 
The motion to refuse the application was proposed by Councillor Parker. This 
was seconded by Councillor Ben-Hassel. 
 
The motion to refuse was taken to a vote and carried with five Members 
voting in favour and two Members voting against.  
 
The Committee RESOLVED to REFUSE the application for the development 
at 34 Brownlow Road, Croydon, CR0 5JT. 

Page 8



 

 
 

7/22   
 

21/04028/FUL - 25 The Grove, Coulsdon, CR5 2BH 
 
Erection of two-storey building with double-storey roof and basement level to 
provide eight (8) self-contained flats (following demolition of existing two-
storey dwelling house), associated amenity, cycle storage, hard/soft 
landscaped, vehicle parking and waste storage spaces, and Alterations. 
 
Ward: Coulsdon Town 
 
The officers presented details of the planning application and responded to 
questions for clarification. 
 
Mr Joe Garner, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. 
 
The Committee deliberated on the application before them having heard all 
the speakers who addressed the Committee, and in turn addressed their view 
on the matter.  
 
The substantive motion to GRANT the application based on the officer’s 
recommendation was proposed by Councillor Fraser. This was seconded by 
Councillor Prince. 
 
The motion to approve was taken to a vote with four Members voting in favour 
and four Members voting against. The Chair used his casting vote and voted 
in favour.  
 
The Committee RESOLVED to GRANT the application for the development at 
25 The Grove, Coulsdon, CR5 2BH. 
 
Planning Officer Ross Gentry left the meeting at 7:30pm. 
 
 

8/22   
 

21/00816/FUL - 6-8 The Gallop, South Croydon, CR2 7LP 
 
 
Demolition of existing pair of bungalows and replacement with 9 dwelling 
houses. Formation of vehicular access to the front of the site. 
 
Ward: Selsdon and Addington Village 
 
The officer presented details of the planning application and responded to 
questions for clarification. 
 
Mr David Rutherford spoke in objection to the application. 
 
Mrs Natalie Gentry spoke on behalf of the applicant in support of the 
application.  
 
The referring Ward Member Councillor Robert Ward addressed the committee 
with his view on the application. 

Page 9



 

 
 

 
The Committee deliberated on the application presentation heard before them 
having heard all the speakers who addressed the Committee, and in turn 
addressed their view on the matter. 
 
Councillor Ben-Hassel proposed the condition that a management plan should 
be put in place for the maintenance of the hedges along the access road to 
reduce the potential negative impact on visibility for pedestrians walking near 
the development. 
 
The substantive motion to GRANT the application based on the officer’s 
recommendation inclusive of the proposed condition above was proposed by 
Councillor Fraser. This was seconded by Councillor Prince. 
 
The motion to approve was taken to a vote with four Members voting in favour 
and four Members voting against. The Chair used his casting vote and voted 
in favour of the application. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to GRANT the application for the development at 
6-8 The Gallop, South Croydon, CR2 7LP. 
 
Other planning matters  
 
Weekly Planning Decisions  
 
This report was received for information. 
 

9/22   
 

Items referred by Planning Sub-Committee 
 
 
There were none. 
 

10/22   
 

Other planning matters 
 
1 Weekly Planning Decisions  
 
There were none. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 8.20 pm 
 

 
Signed:   

Date:   

Page 10



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA  

PART 5: Development Presentations 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This part of the agenda is for the committee to receive presentations on proposed 
developments, including when they are at the pre-application stage.  

1.2 Although the reports are set out in a particular order on the agenda, the Chair may 
reorder the agenda on the night. Therefore, if you wish to be present for a particular 
application, you need to be at the meeting from the beginning. 

1.3 The following information and advice applies to all those reports. 

2 ADVICE TO MEMBERS 

2.1 These proposed developments are being reported to committee to enable members 
of the committee to view them at an early stage and to comment upon them. They do 
not constitute applications for planning permission at this stage and any comments 
made are provisional and subject to full consideration of any subsequent application 
and the comments received as a result of consultation, publicity and notification.  

2.2 Members will need to pay careful attention to the probity rules around predisposition, 
predetermination and bias (set out in the Planning Code of Good Practice Part 5.G of 
the Council’s Constitution). Failure to do so may mean that the Councillor will need to 
withdraw from the meeting for any subsequent application when it is considered. 

3 FURTHER INFORMATION 

3.1 Members are informed that any relevant material received since the publication of 
this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be reported to the Committee in 
an Addendum Update Report. 

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

4.1 The Council’s constitution only provides for public speaking rights for those 
applications being reported to Committee in the “Planning Applications for Decision” 
part of the agenda. Therefore reports on this part of the agenda do not attract public 
speaking rights. 

5 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

5.1 For further information about the background papers used in the drafting of the 
reports in part 8 contact Mr P Mills (020 8760 5419). 

6 RECOMMENDATION 

6.1 The Committee is not required to make any decisions with respect to the reports on 
this part of the agenda. The attached reports are presented as background 
information. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

PART 6: Planning Applications for Decision 
 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 In this part of the agenda are reports on planning applications for determination by 
the Planning Committee. 

 

1.2 Although the reports are set out in a particular order on the agenda, the Chair may 
reorder the agenda on the night. Therefore, if you wish to be present for a particular 
application, you need to be at the meeting from the beginning. 

 

1.3 Any item that is on the agenda because it has been referred by a Ward Member, 
GLA Member, MP or Resident Association and none of the 
person(s)/organisation(s) or their representative(s) have registered their attendance 
at the Town Hall in accordance with the Council’s Constitution (paragraph 3.8 of 
Part 4K – Planning and Planning Sub-Committee Procedure Rules) the item will be 
reverted to the Director of Planning and Strategic Transport to deal with under 
delegated powers and not be considered by the committee. 

 

1.4 The following information and advice applies to all reports in this part of the agenda. 
 

2 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 

2.1 The Committee is required to consider planning applications against the development 
plan and other material planning considerations. 

 

2.2 The development plan is: 
 

 the London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2011) 

 the Croydon Local Plan (February 2018) 

 the South London Waste Plan (March 2012) 

 
2.3 Decisions must be taken in accordance with section 70(2) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the 
Committee to have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as 
material to the application; any local finance considerations, so far as material to the 
application; and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Committee to make its determination in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material planning considerations 
support a different decision being taken. Whilst third party representations are 
regarded as material planning considerations (assuming that they raise town 
planning matters) the primary consideration, irrespective of the number of third party 
representations received, remains the extent to which planning proposals comply 
with the Development Plan. 

 

2.4 Under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects listed buildings or their settings, the local planning authority must have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
architectural or historic interest it possesses. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



2.5 Under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 
affects a conservation area, the local planning authority must pay special attention to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the 
conservation area. 

 

2.6 Under Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, in considering 
whether to grant planning permission for any development, the local planning 
authority must ensure, whenever it is appropriate, that adequate provision is made, 
by the imposition of conditions, for the preservation or planting of trees. 

 

2.7 In accordance with Article 31 of the Development Management Procedure Order 
2010, Members are invited to agree the recommendations set out in the reports, 
which have been made on the basis of the analysis of the scheme set out in each 
report. This analysis has been undertaken on the balance of the policies and any 
other material considerations set out in the individual reports. 

 

2.8 Members are reminded that other areas of legislation covers many aspects of the 
development process and therefore do not need to be considered as part of 
determining a planning application. The most common examples are: 

 Building Regulations deal with structural integrity of buildings, the physical 
performance of buildings in terms of their consumption of energy, means of 
escape in case of fire, access to buildings by the Fire Brigade to fight fires etc. 

 Works within the highway are controlled by Highways Legislation. 

 Environmental Health covers a range of issues including public nuisance, food 
safety, licensing, pollution control etc. 

 Works on or close to the boundary are covered by the Party Wall Act. 

 Covenants and private rights over land are enforced separately from planning 
and should not be taken into account. 

 

3 ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
 

3.1 The role of Members of the Planning Committee is to make planning decisions on 
applications presented to the Committee openly, impartially, with sound judgement 
and for sound planning reasons. In doing so Members should have familiarised 
themselves with Part 5D of the Council’s Constitution ‘The Planning Code of Good 
Practice’. Members should also seek to attend relevant training and briefing sessions 
organised from time to time for Members. 

 
3.2 Members are to exercise their responsibilities with regard to the interests of the 

London Borough of Croydon as a whole rather than with regard to their particular 
Ward’s interest and issues. 

 
4. THE ROLE OF THE CHAIR 

 
4.1 The Chair of the Planning Committee is responsible for the good and orderly running 

of Planning Committee meetings. The Chair aims to ensure, with the assistance of 
officers where necessary, that the meeting is run in accordance with the provisions set 
out in the Council’s Constitution and particularly Part 4K of the Constitution ‘Planning 
and Planning Sub-Committee Procedure Rules’. The Chair’s most visible 
responsibility is to ensure that the business of the meeting is conducted effectively 
and efficiently. 

 
4.2 The Chair has discretion in the interests of natural justice to vary the public speaking 

rules where there is good reason to do so and such reasons will be minuted. 

Page 14



4.3 The Chair is also charged with ensuring that the general rules of debate are adhered 
to (e.g. Members should not speak over each other) and that the debate remains 
centred on relevant planning considerations. 

 

4.4 Notwithstanding the fact that the Chair of the Committee has the above 
responsibilities, it should be noted that the Chair is a full member of the Committee 
who is able to take part in debates and vote on items in the same way as any other 
Member of the Committee. This includes the ability to propose or second motions. It 
also means that the Chair is entitled to express their views in relation to the 
applications before the Committee in the same way that other Members of the 
Committee are so entitled and subject to the same rules set out in the Council’s 
constitution and particularly Planning Code of Good Practice. 

 

5. PROVISION OF INFRASTRUCTURE 

5.1 In accordance with Policy 8.3 of the London Plan (2011) the Mayor of London has 
introduced a London wide Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to fund Crossrail. 
Similarly, Croydon CIL is now payable. These would be paid on the commencement 
of the development. Croydon CIL provides an income stream to the Council to fund 
the provision of the following types of infrastructure: 

i. Education facilities 

ii. Health care facilities 

iii. Projects listed in the Connected Croydon Delivery Programme 

iv. Public open space 

v. Public sports and leisure 

vi. Community facilities 
 

5.2 Other forms of necessary infrastructure (as defined in the CIL Regulations) and any 
mitigation of the development that is necessary will be secured through A S106 
agreement. Where these are necessary, it will be explained and specified in the 
agenda reports. 

 
6. FURTHER INFORMATION 

6.1 Members are informed that any relevant material received since the publication of 
this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be reported to the Committee in 
an Addendum Update Report. 

 

7. PUBLIC SPEAKING 

7.1 The Council’s constitution allows for public speaking on these items in accordance 
with the rules set out in the constitution and the Chair’s discretion. 

 

8. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

8.1 The background papers used in the drafting of the reports in part 6 are generally the 
planning application file containing the application documents and correspondence 
associated with the application. Contact Mr P Mills (020 8760 5419) for further 
information. The submitted planning application documents (but not representations 
and consultation responses) can be viewed online from the Public Access Planning 
Register on the Council website at http://publicaccess.croydon.gov.uk/online-  
applications. Click on the link or copy it into an internet browser and go to the page, 
then enter the planning application number in the search box to access the 
application. 

 

9. RECOMMENDATION 

9.1 The Committee to take any decisions recommended in the attached reports. 

Page 15

http://publicaccess.croydon.gov.uk/online-applications
http://publicaccess.croydon.gov.uk/online-applications


This page is intentionally left blank



CROYDON  
www.croydon.gov.uk

Scale 1:1250                Crown Copyright Ordnance Survey (License No: 100019257) 2011

Reference number: 21/01274/FUL   

Page 17

Agenda Item 6.1



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 27th January 2022 

PART 6: Planning Applications for Decision Item 6.1 

1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 

Ref: 21/01274/FUL 
Location: 100 Reddown Road Coulsdon CR5 1AL 
Ward: Coulsdon Town 
Description: Demolition of the existing dwelling and redevelopment of the site 

to provide 9 flats in a new 3/4 storey building including living 
accommodation in the roof space with associated car parking, 
landscaping and cycle storage. 

Drawing Nos: 4193/OS; EE Rev C; LGSP Rev C; 4193 GF Site Plan Rev C; 
LGGFP Rev C; SFFP Rev C; FE Rev C; NSE Rev C; Re Rev C; 
SSE Rev C; STS Rev C; SD 

Agent: Lee Richardson, LPR Design  
Applicant: Mark McElduff, MacGroup Ltd 
Case Officer: Yvette Ralston 
 

 1 bed 2 beds 3 bed TOTAL 
Existing 0 0 1 1 

Proposed  
(all market housing) 

2 
(2x1b2p) 

4 
(4x2b3p)  

3  
(1x3b4p, 
1x3b5p, 
1x3b6p) 

9 

 
Number of car parking spaces Number of cycle parking spaces 

4 19 
 

1.1 This application is being reported to Planning Committee in accordance with the 
following committee consideration criteria: 

 
 Objections above the threshold in the Committee Consideration Criteria 
 Referral to committee from Cllr Luke Clancy 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the Planning Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to 

the completion of a legal agreement to secure the following: 
 
 A financial contribution of £13,500 for sustainable transport improvements 

and enhancements.  
 Removal of parking permits in the CPZ for all new residents 
 3 of the parking spaces to be allocated to the 3 family sized units 

 
2.2 That the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration has delegated 

authority to negotiate the legal agreement indicated above. 
 

Page 19

https://publicaccess3.croydon.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QPTBCAJLFJN00


2.3 That the Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration has delegated 
authority to issue the planning permission and impose conditions and 
informatives to secure the following matters:  

 
 CONDITIONS  

 
1. Commencement time limit of 3 years 
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved drawings and 

reports 
 

 Pre-commencement conditions 
3. Submission of Construction Management Plan and Construction Logistics 

Plan  
4. Construction Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity  
5. Materials / design details to be submitted 
6. Submission of landscaping, child play and communal amenity space details 

including a 1-1.2m high hedge at the front, and 4 replacement trees.  
7. Submission of SUDS details 
8. Biodiversity enhancement strategy  

 
Pre-occupation / compliance conditions  

9. Obscure glazing on flank windows above ground floor level 
10. Compliance with Arboricultural Assessment and Tree Protection Plan 
11. Compliance with Ecological Appraisal recommendations 
12. Detail of cycle storage, plus 2 visitor spaces, and implementation of refuse 

storage as shown on plans prior to occupation 
13. Implementation of car parking as shown on plans with no boundary 

treatments above 0.6m in the sightlines 
14. Installation of EVCPs at 20% active and 80% passive 
15. Development in accordance with accessible homes requirements  
16. Compliance with energy and water efficiency requirements 
17. Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Director of 

Planning and Strategic Transport 
 

 INFORMATIVES  
1. Granted subject to a Section 106 Agreement 
2. Community Infrastructure Levy 
3. Code of practice for Construction Sites 
4. Highways informative in relation to s278 and s38 works required 
5. Compliance with Building/Fire Regulations  
6. Construction Logistics Informative (in relation to condition 3) 
7. Refuse and cycle storage Informative (in relation to condition 8) 
8. Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Director of Planning 

and Strategic Transport 
 
3.0 PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS  
 

Proposal  
 

3.1 The applicant seeks full planning permission for the following: 

Page 20



 
 Demolition of the existing part 1, part 2 storey detached dwelling 
 Erection of a replacement building of 3 storeys plus roof comprising 9 flats  
 4 parking spaces on the front forecourt and 19 cycle parking spaces within 

the ground floor of the building 
 Communal and private amenity space, play space and hard and soft 

landscaping  
 
 

 
 
 

3.2 During the assessment of the application, minor amendments to the design and 
site plan have been made, including: 
 A reduction in the height of the front and rear gables 
 Insetting of the front door to accentuate the entrance and removal of the 

canopy above  
 Retention of the hedge in the rear garden on the southern boundary (H2) 

 
3.3 These amendments were not material in nature and did not require public re-

consultation.  
 
Site and Surroundings 

3.4 The application site is located on the west side of Reddown Road, to the north 
of the junction with Westwood Road. Beyond the rear garden to the west is the 
railway line. The property on the site is a two storey detached dwelling with a 
pitched roof, clad in peddle dash. It has an attached single storey garage and 
space for parking of one car on the forecourt. The front boundary treatment is a 
low brick wall. The topography slopes gently downwards from the front to the 
back of the site; currently the entrance to the property is sited around 1m below 
the pavement, with steps leading down to the front door, and at the rear there 

Page 21



are steps down from the patio to the grass which is around 1m lower. There are 
trees and hedges on the site but none are protected by TPO.  

3.5 The wider area is suburban and residential in character comprising detached 
two storey properties with hipped roofs and front gables. The site has a Public 
Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 1b which is very poor, but it is within 
750m walking distance of Couldson South train station. The site is at low risk of 
surface water flooding. 

 

 

Aerial view of site 

Planning History 

3.6 Site history is set out below.  

Reference Description Decision Date 

15/05201/LP Alterations and use of part of garage 
as habitable room 

LDC 
granted 

04.01.2016 

83/00904/P Erection of single storey rear 
extension & covered walkway 

granted 19.07.1983 

 

3.7 A pre-app took place before submission of the current scheme: 

20/03621/PRE: Demolition of the existing dwelling and redevelopment of the 
site to provide 9 flats in a new 3/4 storey building including living 

Reddown Road 

W
es
tw

o
o
d
 R
o
ad

 

Page 22



accommodation in the roof space with associated parking, landscaping and 
cycle storage. 

4.0 SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 The principle of the intensified residential development is acceptable given the 
residential character of the surrounding area. 

 The proposal includes a mix of different sized units including 30% 3-bed units 
and provides a decent quality of accommodation for residents. 

 The design and appearance of the development would not harm the character 
of the surrounding area.   

 The living conditions of adjoining occupiers would be protected from undue 
harm.  

 The quantity of parking provision and impact upon highway safety and 
efficiency would be acceptable.   

 

5.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
5.1 Discussion with internal consultees within the Planning Service including 

Spatial Planning (Design), Highways, Trees and Ecology has taken place and 
is referred to within the report as appropriate.  

6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 
 
6.1 The application was publicised by 4 letters of notification to neighbouring 

properties. The number of representations received in response to the 
consultation are as follows.  

6.2 No of individual responses: 350; Objecting: 264; Supporting: 85  

6.3 Note that 1) there are many examples of duplicate representations / 
resubmissions from the same address and these have each been counted as 
individual reps; and 2) many of the supporting comments are from people living 
outside the borough. 

6.4 The following objections were raised in representations. Those that are material 
to the determination of the application, are addressed in substance in the Material 
Planning Considerations section of this report. 

Objection Officer comment 

Character and design 

Overbearing, too high, too large, bulk 
and mass harmful to the streetscene, 
depth too great. 9 flats is 
overdevelopment  

Addressed in paragraphs 8.5-8.13 of 
this report 

Not in keeping with the area. The 
Hooley House Estate is mainly 
Edwardian houses 

Page 23



Contemporary design inappropriate. 
Features are incongruous and 
unsophisticated such as oversized 
fascias, excessive reveals, gable apex 
glazing, large fenestration which does 
not respect the neighbouring buildings. 
1.2m to the boundaries is not 
acceptable 
Red brick out of place as most 
buildings are white render. 
Highways impacts 
4 parking spaces is an under-
provision. (The census says that 
coulsdon residents own 1.5 cars on 
average) 

Addressed in paragraphs 8.36-8.43 
of this report 

The access near Westwood Avenue 
will create hazards for road users 
Will result in increased traffic 
People will still own cars regardless. 
Nearest schools and nurseries are 
quite a long walk and walking distance 
to supermarket is 1.1km which is 
inconvenient with heavy bags   
With the rise of electric cars we do not 
need to discourage cars 

Noted  

Cars will park on the yellow lines and 
just move them every day between 11-
12pm so the parking issues cannot be 
avoided in the CPZ by removing 
permits.  

This is unlikely / impractical  

The yellow line parking restrictions on 
the road are to stop commuters for 
Coulsdon South parking on the road. 
The council has said that no further 
parking permits will be granted on the 
road. 

Noted / agreed 

No provision for electric vehicle 
charging 

EVCPs to be required by condition  

The road is used as backroad to avoid 
travelling through Coulsdon Town. 

Noted 

The highway code states there should 
be no parking within 10m of a junction 

The Highway Code still applies. Cars 
should not park within 10m of the 
junction but this cannot be controlled 
by planning.  

If adequate parking can’t be provided 
on site then the size of the 
development should be decreased. 

4 parking spaces is considered to be 
an acceptable balance in terms of 
limiting intensified use of a crossover 
opposite a junction v. encouraging 

Page 24



sustainable transport / reduced car 
ownership amongst occupiers.  

Quality of accommodation   
Insufficient space for working from 
home 

This is not a planning requirement. 
All units meet the space standards 
and WFH would be possible.  

How are disabled people and young 
families catered for in this 
development? 

The proposal is M4(2) and M4(3) 
compliant and play space is 
proposed. 

The flats are cramped and poor 
quality. Dark and unwelcoming LGF 
units 

Addressed in paragraphs 8.14 to 
8.20 of this report. 

Families need private gardens Private balconies and a communal 
garden are proposed. 

Neighbouring amenity impacts  

Overshadowing of neighbours, daylight 
and sunlight impacts on number 98. 

Addressed in paragraphs 8.21-8.27 
of this report  

Loss of privacy and overlooking from 
balconies 

Blank walls on north and south 
elevation will be imposing for 
neighbours, affecting their visual 
amenity. 
Side windows should have frosted 
glass for privacy  
Fencing should be 2m, not 1.8m high  

Impacts on trees, ecology and the environment  

Loss of trees, vegetation, green space 
and natural habitats 

Addressed in paragraphs 8.28-8.35 
of this report. 
 
 
 

Not appropriate near to nature reserve 

Hedgehogs, slow worms and badgers 
have been seen nearby 
Additional cars will increase air 
pollution 

Noted. Unfortunately this is not a 
major application so contributions 
cannot be sought towards air 
pollution mitigation.  

Climate change  

Objection to the removal of the hedge 
on the boundary with number 102 
which is largely within the garden of 
number 102. 

This hedge (H2) is now to be 
retained. 

The Wildlife & Countryside Act (as 
amended) 1981 Schedule 5 applies to 
the application. There is significant 
wildlife in number 98 including wildlife 
ponds, frogs, newts, slow worms in the 
compost, grass snakes, birds, etc. 

Impacts have been assessed in the 
Ecology Assessment. Addressed in 
paragraphs 8.32 to 8.35 of this 
report. 

Page 25



Flooding 

Hardstanding will cause flooding 
issues 

Addressed in paragraph 8.46 of this 
report.  
 Pressure on sewage system. There 

has been sewage flooding in the 
street. 
The application states that SuDs will 
not be used, even though the flood risk 
analysis assessment states it will be. 
Other 

Noise, traffic, rubbish generated by 
residents 

Any noise from residential units 
would not be out of the ordinary in a 
residential location. Rubbish will be 
contained in the refuse store.  

Intensification no longer justifiable 
following the reduction in London Plan 
housing targets 

Croydon’s housing targets are for 
2,079 homes PA. The proposed 
scheme is policy compliant. 

Density is in excess of London Plan Density calculations are no longer a 
key policy consideration in the new 
London Plan (2021) 

Construction noise A Construction management plan 
would be required by condition 

Area already saturated with flats e.g. 
Cane Hill and development at 116. 
Many are unsold. No demand for 1-
bed flats in the area. 

Flats are an appropriate form of 
housing 

Impacts on infrastructure and utilities - 
sewage, schools, GPs. There are only 
7 health facilities in the south of the 
borough and 49 in other parts of the 
borough. 

A CIL contribution will be sought 

How much of the CIL is spent in 
Coulsdon and where? 

Details of CIL spending is available 
in the Council’s Annual Monitoring 
Report (although may not be broken 
down by area) 

Too many flats/people in Coulsdon. 
Coulsdon has had 2700 developments 
in the last 5 years. 

 

The Council is strict on householder 
applications but allows blocks of flats 
which is an inconsistent approach  

Each scheme is assessed on its own 
merits 

Area isn't identified for intensification in 
Croydon Plan 

Housing intensification is 
appropriate in any location as long 
as it respects the character of the 
area and is of a high quality design. 
The proposed scheme for 9 units is 
policy compliant. 

 

Page 26



6.5 The east Coulsdon Residents Association objects to the proposal on the 
following grounds: 
 Does not accord with Local Plan policy for Coulsdon 
 Flats not appropriate in Hooley House Estate  
 Not in keeping with Edwardian character 
 Size is overbearing compared to surrounding 2 storey houses 
 Illustrations may be misleading 
 Side walls will be detrimental to neighbours 
 Mass in incongruous and bulky and visually intrusive 
 Balconies will cause overlooking 
 Amenity impacts on neighbours  
 Size of rear garden insufficient  
 Inadequate sewage system in the area. Local gardens flooded with sewage 

on 20/08/20 
 4 parking spaces is insufficient 
 Lack of step free access to communal garden (Officer note: step-free 

access is provided internally via the lift) 
 Loss of trees and wildlife  
 No need for 1 and 2 bed flats in Coulsdon  

 
6.6 Cllr Luke Clancy, Coulsdon Town Ward, has referred the application to 

Committee on the grounds of overdevelopment.  
 
6.7 Representations of support stated the following. It is noted that many of the 

supporting comments are from people who do not live nearby: 
 Gentle density, appropriate to surroundings 
 Optimum use of space 
 Aesthetically pleasing 
 Suggest some trees at the front 
 Convenient travel route into the city for new occupiers 
 New development would be more eco-friendly than the current property 

 
 
7.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

7.1 In determining any planning application, the Council is required to have regard 
to the provisions of its Development Plan so far as is material to the application 
and to any other material considerations and the determination shall be made in 
accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
Council's adopted Development Plan consists of the London Plan (2021), the 
Croydon Local Plan (2018) and the South London Waste Plan (2012). 

7.2 Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) (2021). The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, requiring that development which accords with an up-to-date local 
plan should be approved without delay.  

7.3 The main planning Policies relevant in the assessment of this application are: 

Page 27



London Plan (2021): 

 D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 
 D4 Delivering good design 
 D5 Inclusive design 
 D6 Housing quality and standards 
 D7 Accessible housing 
 D12 Fire Safety 
 H1 Increasing housing supply 
 H2 Small sites 
 H10 Housing size mix 
 S4 Play and informal recreation 
 G5 Urban Greening 
 G6 Biodiversity and access to nature 
 G7 Trees and woodlands 
 SI1 Improving air quality 
 SI2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions 
 SI3 Energy infrastructure 
 SI12 Flood risk management 
 SI13 Sustainable drainage 
 T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
 T5 cycling 
 T6 car parking 
 T6.1 Residential parking 
 T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction 

 
Croydon Local Plan (2018): 
 SP2 Homes 
 DM1 Housing choice for sustainable communities 
 SP4 Urban Design and Local Character  
 DM10 Design and character 
 DM13 Refuse and recycling 
 SP6 Environment and Climate Change  
 DM23 Development and construction 
 DM25 Sustainable drainage systems and reducing floor risk 
 DM27 Protecting and Enhancing our Biodiversity  
 DM28 Trees 
 SP8 Transport and communications 
 DM29 Promoting sustainable travel and reducing congestion 
 DM30 Car and cycle parking in new development 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance 
 Croydon Suburban Design Guide SPD (2019) 
 Section 106 Planning Obligations in Croydon and their relationship to the 

Community Infrastructure Levy (2019) 
 London Housing SPG (Mayor of London, 2016) 
 Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment SPG (Mayor of 

London, 2014) 

Page 28



 Play and Informal Recreation SPG (Mayor of London, 2012) 
 Character and Context SPG (Mayor of London, 2014) 
 Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (Mayor of London, 2014) 

 
8.0 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS   

8.1 The main planning issues relevant in the assessment of this application are as 
follows: 
 
 Principle of development  
 Design and impact on the character of the area 
 Quality of accommodation  
 Impact on neighbouring residential amenity  
 Trees and landscaping 
 Biodiversity  
 Access, parking and highways impacts 
 Flood risk and energy efficiency 
 

Principle of Development  

8.2 The existing use of the site is residential and as such the principle of redeveloping 
the site for residential purposes is acceptable. Policy SP2.1 of the Croydon Local 
Plan (2018) applies a presumption in favour of development of new homes and 
Policy SP2.2 states that the Council will seek to deliver 32,890 homes between 
2016 and 2036, with 10,060 of said homes being delivered across the borough 
on windfall sites. London Plan policy D3 encourages incremental densification to 
achieve a change in densities in the most appropriate way and policy H3 seeks 
to significantly increase the contribution of small sites to meeting London’s 
housing needs. Given the above, the principle of intensifying the residential use 
of the site to provide 9 flats - a net increase of 8 homes - is acceptable. 

8.3 Policies SP2.7 and DM1.1 set a strategic target for 30% of all new homes over 
the plan period to have 3 or more bedrooms in order to ensure that the borough’s 
need for family sized units is met, and DM1.2 seeks to avoid a net loss of 3-bed 
family-sized homes. The proposal is for 1 x 3b6p, 1 x 3b5p, 1 x 3b4p, 4 x 2b3p 
and 2 x 1b2p units for a total of 9 units. This mix comprises 33% 3-beds and 
offers a good mix of different sized accommodation. 

8.4 The proposed scheme on the site for 9 units would not trigger affordable housing 
contributions in line with policy SP2 or London Plan policy H4 or H5.  

Design and impact on the character of the area 

8.5 The existing building on the site is a suburban 2 storey detached property in 
pebbledash with a pitched roof. The building itself does not hold any architectural 
merit and there is no in principle objection to its demolition. 

8.6 Policies SP4.1 and DM10.1 of the Local Plan state that the Council will require 
development of a high quality, which respects and enhances Croydon’s varied 

Page 29



local character and contributes positively to public realm, landscape and 
townscape. Proposals should seek to achieve a minimum height of 3 storeys, 
should respect the development pattern, layout and siting; the scale, height, 
massing, and density; and the appearance, existing materials and built and 
natural features of the surrounding area. London Plan policy D3 states that a 
design-led approach should be pursued and that proposals should enhance local 
context by delivering buildings and spaces that positively respond to local 
distinctiveness. 

8.7 The neighbouring properties and the majority of those along Reddown Road and 
Westwood Avenue are 2 storey detached properties. The Suburban Design 
Guide SPD indicates that in this context it is appropriate for new developments 
to be 3 storeys plus an additional storey contained within the roof or set back. 
The proposal is 3 storeys from the front (including roof space), with a ridge height 
that is 1.5m higher than number 98 and 1.6m higher than number 102 at its 
highest point, which is acceptable. The building appears as 4 storeys from the 
rear due to the slope of the land, which is also acceptable and compliant with 
policy guidance. The building is considered to sit comfortably within the 
streetscene and to respect the height of neighbouring properties. 

 

Extract from Suburban Design Guide SPD (surrounding buildings 2 storey detached) 

 

Proposed streetscene elevation – Reddown Road 

8.8 The proposed building is wider than the existing building on the site but it retains 
the spacious feel of the plot and the area by maintaining appropriate separation 
distances between neighbouring properties. The separation distance to the site 
boundary on both sides is around 1.4m, with a building to building separation of 
around 8m between neighbouring buildings on either side. The single storey 
garages attached to neighbouring properties on either side plus the step down in 
height of the building to single storey with pitched roof on its south (left) elevation 
ensures that characteristic gaps between properties at upper levels are retained. 
45 degree lines are shown in elevation from the front and rear and neither are 
breached by the proposed height and mass of the building. 

Page 30



8.9 The front building line is set between 2.2m to 3.5m further back than the existing 
building on the site, so the building would sit slightly further back in the site than 
neighbouring properties, in order to leave space for car parking on the front 
forecourt. This set back is appropriate when considered alongside the increase 
in mass compared to the existing building. The proposed building is not 
considered to be overbearing or cause any detrimental impacts on the 
streetscene.  

8.10 The footprint of the building is larger than its neighbours and others on Reddown 
Road however the site is wider than neighbouring sites and the rear projection 
does not breach 45 degree lines from the closest rear windows of neighbouring 
properties in plan, indicating that the mass would not appear overbearing to 
neighbours nor impact on their outlook. The rear of the site is bounded by the 
railway and a grass verge, and the proposed building footprint leaves enough 
space for an appropriately sized communal garden at the rear, so the size of the 
footprint is considered to be appropriate for the site.  

8.11 The design approach is a contemporary reinterpretation. The asymmetrical gable 
roof form including a catslide is contextually appropriate. The rear roof form 
features a hipped roof and a protruding gable. The proposed materials include 
multi red brickwork with black tiled roof. Brick detailing is incorporated on the 
front elevation to add interest to the façade. Use of aluminium window frames is 
supported, as are window reveals of at least 225mm in order to give depth and 
relief to the façade. Roof lights are flush. The front boundary treatment is a 
proposed to be a low brick wall, similar to the existing and other properties in the 
street. The proposed materials are high quality and robust and the design of the 
building is considered to be a positive contribution to the streetscene. Detailed 
materials information will be secured by condition. 

8.12 In terms of site layout, 4 car parking spaces are proposed on the front forecourt, 
with permeable block paving as the paving material. This requires a fairly 
significant mass of hardstanding at the front but boundary planting is proposed 
at the front (behind the brick wall) to screen the parking from the street. The 
vehicle crossover is proposed to be moved to the centre of the site and a 
pedestrian entrance is proposed on the north side of the site providing step free 
access to the main front entrance. There is an additional stepped pedestrian 
access via the side of the building to the rear amenity space, and access to this 
space can also be gained internally via the lift and the lower ground floor of the 
building. Refuse and cycle stores are incorporated within the front of the ground 
floor of the building. There is one front facing balcony which is inset and is 
suitable in a contemporary reinterpretation approach to design. There is a 
lightwell on the left hand side of the building providing light to LGF unit 1. Whilst 
lightwells are not characteristic of the area it would not be visible from the street.  

8.13 The proposal is considered to comply with policies SP4.1 and DM10 and London 
Plan policy D3 as it is of an appropriate height and mass and a suitably high 
design quality which responds appropriately to its context and contributes 
positively to the streetscene.  

Page 31



Quality of Accommodation  

8.14 The National Design Guide states that well designed homes should be functional, 
accessible and sustainable. They should provide internal environments and 
associated external spaces that support the health and well-being of their users 
and all who experience them. Homes should meet the needs of a diverse range 
of users, taking into factors such as ageing population and cultural differences. 
They should be adequate in size, fit for purpose and adaptable to the changing 
needs of their occupants over time. The London Plan policy D6 states that 
housing developments should be of a high quality and provide adequately sized 
rooms with comfortable and functional layouts. It sets out minimum Gross 
Internal Area (GIA) standards for new residential developments. All proposed 
units exceed the minimum space standards and internal layouts are sensible with 
hallways and adequate storage space.  

8.15 All units, including those at lower ground floor level and roof level are dual aspect. 
Unit 1 on the LGF has rear and side facing windows plus a front lightwell which 
complies with the 25 degree line taken from 2m up and the front retaining wall is 
terraced so outlook would be acceptable. The single bedrooms on the second 
floor (units 8 and 9) are served only by rooflights however these are velux style 
so are openable to allow ventilation and limited outlook.   

8.16 At ground and first floor, side facing windows are high level and all are secondary 
windows to living rooms/kitchens or are bathroom windows so they could be 
obscured without harming the quality of accommodation. This will be required by 
condition. It will not be necessary for the rooflights to be obscured, nor those at 
lower ground floor level.  

8.17 Good design promotes quality of life for the occupants and users of buildings. 
This includes function (buildings should be easy to use) and also includes 
comfort, safety and security, amenity, privacy, accessibility and adaptability. 
Accessibility requirements have been considered in accordance with London 
Plan Policy D7. Unit 2 on the lower ground floor (1b2p) is a M4(3) wheelchair 
accessible unit. A lift is provided internally, providing step free access from 
ground floor to all units. All facilities of the site are accessible in a step free 
manner including the bins and bikes, communal amenity and play space. One 
wheelchair accessible parking space is also provided on site. 

8.18 Policy DM10.4 of the Local Plan requires provision of high quality private amenity 
space at a minimum of 5sqm per 1-2 person unit and an extra 1sqm per extra 
occupant thereafter. The lower ground floor units have private patio/garden 
spaces; unit 2 (1b2p) has provision at the rear only and unit 1 (3b5p) has private 
space extending from the rear around the side of the building and into the front 
lightwell space. Appropriate boundary treatments (hedging) are proposed to 
provide separation and privacy from the communal space. Upper floors have 
inset balconies either at the front (unit 6) or the rear (all other units). All private 
amenity spaces comply with the space requirements.  

8.19 The communal garden provides over 100sqm of shared amenity space for future 
occupiers, plus around 20sqm of children’s play space and all areas are relatively 
flat so are usable. The garden area includes seating, grass, paths and a pergola. 

Page 32



Play equipment is also detailed and includes timber stepping stones, balancing 
beams and wobble board. The use of bespoke, natural play features is 
supported. Details are acceptable in accordance with Local Plan policies DM10.5 
and DM10.4. 

8.20 A Fire Statement has been provided in line with London Plan policy D12. This 
outlines the location of the fire service access point, and means of escape for all 
users, evacuation assembly point, internal fire safety systems and building 
construction techniques that would be used. This is acceptable.  

8.21 The proposal would provide a good quality of accommodation for future 
occupiers in accordance with Local Plan Policies SP2 and DM10 and London 
Plan policies D6, D7 and D12. 

Impacts on neighbouring residential amenity  

8.22 Policy DM10.6 of the Local Plan states that the Council will ensure proposals 
protect the amenity of occupiers of adjoining buildings and will not result in direct 
overlooking into their habitable rooms or private outdoor space and not result in 
significant loss of existing sunlight or daylight levels. The nearest residential 
properties are 102 Reddown Road to the south and 98 Reddown Road to the 
north. The railway line is at the rear of the garden so there are no amenity 
concerns in this direction.  

8.23 It has already been mentioned that there is no breach of 45 degree lines in plan 
or elevation, and there is 8m separation between the buildings, so the building is 
not considered to have an overbearing impact on either neighbour or impact 
negatively on their outlook. As there is no breach of the 45 degree lines, a 
daylight and sunlight assessment has not been carried out.  

8.24 Number 102 has 3 first floor windows facing the site, 2 of which are secondary 
bedroom windows which have their main windows facing front and back, and 1 
is a bathroom window. It is notable that the building would be positioned closer 
to number 102 than the current property on the site, however the step down to 
single storey with pitched roof on the south (left) side at the front (2 storeys at 
the rear) and the aforementioned 8m separation between the 2 buildings ensures 
that the increased proximity would not be overbearing in any way. The impacts 
on the side facing windows are considered to be acceptable given that they are 
either secondary bedroom windows or non-habitable windows (bathroom) and 
that the separation distance is sufficient. The roof level velux window to bedroom 
2 of unit 8 is openable but orientated upwards (as it is in the roof) and therefore 
does not allow direct overlooking to number 102. 

8.25 Number 98 similarly has 2 first floor windows facing the site. These look to be 
secondary bedroom windows with the main windows facing the rear. Given the 
separation distance and the fact that they are secondary, impacts are considered 
to be acceptable. The roof level velux window to bedroom 2 of unit 9 is openable 
but orientated upwards (as it is in the roof) and therefore does not allow direct 
overlooking to number 98. 

Page 33



8.26 All flank windows on the proposed building at ground and first floor would be high 
level and obscured (by condition). The lower ground floor level windows and the 
rooflights do not need to be obscured. This will ensure there are no direct 
overlooking impacts to neighbours. The rear facing balconies at ground, first and 
roof level are inset to avoid any direct overlooking towards the gardens of 
numbers 98 and 102. 

8.27 Noise from residential occupiers would not be out of the ordinary in this 
residential location so is not a cause for concern.  

8.28 Any potential amenity impacts on neighbouring properties have been adequately 
mitigated so the proposal complies with Local Plan policy DM10.6. 

Trees and landscaping  

8.29 Policy DM10.8 seeks to retain existing trees and vegetation and policy DM28 
requires proposals to incorporate hard and soft landscaping. An Arboricultural 
report has been submitted assessing impacts on trees on and adjacent to the 
site. There are no prominent trees of arboricultural merit within the site 
boundaries.  

8.30 There are a total of 4.5 trees/hedges proposed for removal. These include 4 x 
small ornamental specimens (T5, T6, T7 & T8 - all category C), plus the hedge 
on the northern boundary (H4 – category C) is proposed to be partially removed. 
There is no arboriculture objection to the proposed removals. 

8.31 Following representations from a neighbour, the hedge in the rear garden on the 
southern boundary (H2) is to be retained. On the southern boundary the front 
hedge (H1) is proposed for retention. On the rear boundary of the site, in front of 
the railway line, H3 and T11 are proposed for retention, and the ecology report 
suggests infilling the gap at the end of H3 (in front of the railway, on the south 
western corner of the side) with native species, and adherence with the 
enhancement measures outlined in the ecology report will be required by 
condition.  

8.32 On the northern boundary (with number 98), half of H4 is proposed to be retained 
and T9 in the garden of number 98 will be retained but experience a minor root 
incursion by the proposed building. All retained trees will be protected by 
protective fencing. A condition will be attached to ensure compliance with the 
arboricultural method statement and tree protection plan. 

8.33 The proposed landscaping is limited in detail currently. 1.8m close board fences 
are proposed on the side and rear boundaries. New planting is proposed on the 
southern boundary, and hedging is proposed to provide defensible planting 
between the private and shared amenity spaces at the rear, and between the car 
parking area and the habitable windows at the front. Hedging is proposed at the 
front of the site however we will ensure, via condition, that this is a double 
staggered, post and wire hedge, minimum height 1-1.2m (which may step down 
to visibility splays), to ensure the parking is adequately screened. A condition will 
be attached to ensure sufficient replacement tree planting is proposed (4 trees 
minimum to replace those removed) along with further details of the landscaping 

Page 34



proposal. The proposal is considered, subject to conditions, to comply with Local 
Plan policy DM10.8 and DM28. 

Ecology  

8.34 Local Plan policy DM27 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity in the borough. 
An ecological impact assessment has been undertaken. The assessment 
identifies that the proposal is unlikely to have any direct or indirect impact on the 
nearby Farthing Downs and Happy Valley SSSI or any nearby SINCs. The site 
itself was found to have negligible potential for notable invertebrates such as the 
stag beetle. Neighbouring ponds in number 98 and 102 were tested for great 
crested newts but none were found so the site is concluded to be of negligible 
importance for great crested newts. The site provides low suitability for common 
toads and mitigation is suggested. A slow worm was identified in the garden of 
number 98 and the railway is likely to provide a commuting corridor for reptiles 
so the site is identified as having low potential for reptiles and mitigation is 
proposed.  

8.35 The site holds high potential for nesting birds in the hedgerows and trees, but 
negligible potential for significant bird species and assemblages; mitigation 
measures for nesting birds are proposed. No badgers were identified in the 
survey but precautionary measures are proposed. The trees on the site were 
found to provide negligible suitability for roosting bats. 2 nocturnal bat surveys of 
the building were undertaken and no evidence of roosting bats was recorded 
during the surveys so the building is concluded to be of negligible importance for 
roosting bats. The railway corridor provides potential suitable habitat for dormice, 
but the site itself does not. The rear hedgerow would be retained. 
Recommendations to maintain connectivity for hedgehogs are proposed.  

8.36 Mitigation measures to protect biodiversity include retention of boundary 
hedgerows where possible, a precautionary approach to site clearance to protect 
reptiles and toads, a check of potential bird nesting habitats by an ecologist prior 
to site clearance, installation of a bat box on the northern elevation of the new 
building, sensitive lighting to protect commuting bats, and hedgehog links below 
the new garden fence. A series of biodiversity enhancements for the site are also 
proposed including provision of new/replacement hedgerows, bird and bat 
boxes, creation of dead wood habitats, avoidance of slug pellets/pesticides, 
creation of green/brown roofs and walls (i.e. on bike/bin stores).  

8.37 The Ecology Assessment and the mitigation and enhancement measures 
reposed have been reviewed by the Council’s Ecology advisor and no objection 
has been raised subject to conditions for a Construction Environment 
Management Plan (Biodiversity) to detail the proposed mitigation measures and 
a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan.  

  
Access, Parking and Highway Safety  

Accessibility and access arrangements 

Page 35



8.38 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 1b which indicates 
very poor access to public transport. It is however within 750m walking distance 
from Coulsdon South train station and is located within a CPZ which restricts 
parking between the hours of 11am and 12pm on weekdays.  

8.39 The site has an existing vehicle crossover on the north side of the site, close to 
number 98. The proposal involves relocating the crossover to the centre of the 
site to enable provision of 4 car parking spaces on the front forecourt. The 
crossover would be moved 4.5m closer to the junction with Westwood Road. 
Croydon’s vehicle crossover guidance states that new crossovers must not be 
constructed within 10m of a road junction in order to avoid conflicting traffic 
movements, and the proposed (and existing crossover) would be within 10m of 
the junction with Westwood Road. However as only 4 car parking spaces are 
proposed (a net increase of 2) there would not be a significant increase of vehicle 
movements into and out of the site or a significant intensification of use of the 
crossover. In addition, the positioning of the crossover opposite (rather than next 
to) the junction would reduce the possibility of conflicting signalling and traffic 
movements and therefore the shift in the position of the crossover is not 
considered to pose a serious threat to highway safety. The appropriate 
pedestrian and vehicle sightlines are shown on the plans. The proposed width of 
crossover complies with highways guidance. The new crossover and 
reinstatement of the old crossover would be agreed as part of a S278 Agreement. 

8.40 A separate 1.2m wide pedestrian path is proposed on the north side of the site 
providing step-free access to the main front entrance. The position of this path 
on the north side is convenient for pedestrians walking down from the station at 
the end of the road.  

Car parking 

8.41 London Plan policy T6.1 would permit up to 1.5 spaces per 3+ bed unit and 1 
space per 1-2 bed unit which equates to a maximum of 10.5 (11) spaces. 
Maximum car parking provision is not supported because a balance needs to be 
struck between encouraging sustainable modes of transport on the one hand and 
ensuring highway safety and managing on-street parking on the other. In the 
interests of sustainable development and climate concerns, new developments 
should not over-provide car parking. Furthermore, given the location of the site 
opposite the junction, intensified use of the crossover should be kept to a 
minimum.  

8.42 4 car parking spaces are proposed on the front forecourt for the 9 flats. The site 
is located within a CPZ which restricts parking between 11am-12pm on 
weekdays. The Council would remove the ability of new residents to apply for 
parking permits to park in the street, which would severely limit their ability to 
own cars (as they would not be able to park in the area). Therefore, the proposal 
to provide just 4 parking spaces is considered appropriate. 3 of the 4 parking 
spaces would be secured for the 3 family sized units as part of the S106 
agreement.  

8.43 The tracking diagrams confirm that manoeuvring into and out of the parking 
spaces can be achieved safely. One of the parking spaces is shown as a disabled 

Page 36



bay on the plan, located closest to the front entrance. Conditions would be 
attached to ensure that 20% active and 80% passive electric vehicle charging 
points are provided in line with policy DM30 and London Plan policy T6.1. 

8.44 In addition to the removal of parking permits, a contribution of £13,500 will be 
secured via S106 agreement to contribute towards sustainable transport 
initiatives in the local area in line with Local Plan policies SP8.12 and SP8.13. In 
addition, every residential unit will be provided with a minimum 3-year 
membership to a local car club scheme upon first occupation of the unit.  

8.45 A condition will be attached to require submission of a Construction Logistics 
Plan (CLP) and a condition survey of the surrounding footways and carriageway 
prior to commencement of works on site. 

Cycle parking 

8.46 Policy DM30 and London Plan policy T5 would require provision of a total of 17 
cycle parking spaces for residents plus 2 visitor parking spaces. Cycle parking is 
proposed in various locations; the main cycle store is on the ground floor of the 
building, accessed from the front forecourt with space for 11 bikes. An additional 
store is provided in the rear garden with 2 Sheffield stands (space for 4 bikes) 
and the lower ground floor units have private bike stores with space for 2 bikes 
each in their rear gardens. The rear cycle store can be accessed via the path on 
the side of the building via bike ramps to negotiate the steps. This equates to a 
total of 19 spaces which is acceptable.  

8.47 Visitor parking spaces are not shown on plan but these could be positioned 
somewhere on the front forecourt and they will be required by condition.  

Waste / Recycling Facilities  

8.48 Policy DM13 requires the design of refuse and recycling facilities to be treated 
as an integral element of the overall design. The bin store is located internally 
within the ground floor of the building and is of an appropriate size to 
accommodate the required bins (1x1280 litre recycling bin, 1x1100 litre waste 
bin and 1x240 litre food bin) and in an appropriate location for collection by 
operatives. Details are acceptable and a condition will be attached to ensure 
compliance with the approved details. 

Flood Risk and Energy Efficiency  

Flood risk 

8.49 The site is within flood zone 1, at low risk of surface water flooding and at low to 
medium risk of groundwater emergence. Representations have raised concern 
about sewage flooding in the area. A basic flood risk assessment has been 
submitted stating that appropriate SUDS would be used on site to ensure flood 
risk is not increased elsewhere. The applicant has confirmed that the ground 
conditions are Lewes Nodular Chalk and that infiltration is viable, so the primary 
SUDS for the site would be soakaways designed to BRE 365 standards following 
site specific testing. The soakaways would be supplemented by water butts to 

Page 37



reduce potable water demand and permeable paving to all areas of 
hardstanding. Full surface water drainage details will be required by condition in 
accordance with Local Plan policy DM25 and London Plan policy SI13. Liaison 
with Thames Water will also be required to ensure confirmation of adequate 
sewage capacity. 

Energy efficiency 

8.50 In order to ensure that the proposed development will be constructed to high 
standards of sustainable design in accordance with Local Plan policy SP6, a 
condition will be attached requiring the proposed development to both achieve 
the national technical standard for energy efficiency in new homes (2015) which 
requires a minimum of 19% CO2 reduction beyond the Building Regulations Part 
L (2013), and meet a minimum water efficiency standard of 110 litres/person/day 
as set out in Building Regulations Part G. 

Conclusion  

8.51 The provision of 9 flats in this location is acceptable in principle. The proposed 
design is considered to be an enhancement to the streetscene, and the massing 
and site layout is considered to be appropriate. The quality of accommodation is 
acceptable, with good levels of accessibility around the site and the building. 4 
car parking spaces is acceptable given the location of the site within the CPZ and 
opposite the junction. Impacts on trees and ecology are acceptable. Landscaping 
and SUDS details will be required by condition.   

8.52 All material considerations have been taken into account, including responses to 
the public consultation. Taking into account the consistency of the scheme with 
the Development Plan and weighing this against all other material planning 
considerations, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in planning policy 
terms. 

Other matters  

8.53 The development would be liable for a charge under the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

8.54 All other planning considerations including equalities have been taken into 
account. 

 

 

Page 38



CROYDON  
www.croydon.gov.uk

Scale 1:1250                Crown Copyright Ordnance Survey (License No: 100019257) 2011

Reference number: 21/02912/FUL   

Page 39

Agenda Item 6.2



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 27th January 2022 

PART 6: Planning Applications for Decision Item 6.2 

1.0 SUMMARY OF APPLICATION DETAILS 

Ref:   21/02912/FUL 
Location:  Citylink House, 4 Addiscombe Road, Croydon, CR0 5TT 
Ward:   Addiscombe West     
Description:  Demolition of existing building and redevelopment of the site to 

provide a part 14 storey and part 28 storey building with 
basement, comprising 498 co-living units and associated 
communal amenity spaces (Use Class Sui Generis), 84 
residential units (Use Class C3), commercial space (Use Class 
E) and flexible commercial and community space (limited uses 
within Use Class E/F1/F2) at ground/mezzanine level, together 
with roof terraces and balconies, wheelchair accessible parking 
spaces, refuse and cycle storage and associated landscaping 
and public realm works including removal of subways. Works 
include stopping up of section of highway on Altyre Road and 
subway to No.1 Croydon, 12-16 Addiscombe Road under 
Section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 

Drawing No’s:  See Appendix 1 
Applicant:   Wittington Investments (Properties) Limited 
Agent:   DP9 
Case Officer:   Louise Tucker   
 
Accommodation Shared 

living 
units 

1 bed 2 
person 

2 bed 3 
person 

2 bed 4 
person 

3 bed 5 
person 

Shared living 
market rent 

(Tower Building 
A) 

498 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Intermediate 
housing 

(Shoulder 
Building B) 

N/A 40 10 24 10 

Total       498 84 
 
 Type of floor space Amount 

existing 
Amount 
proposed 

Existing building Education – Use 
Class D1 

2,632sqm 0 

Existing building Offices – Use Class 
B1(a) 

2,669sqm 0 

28 storey tower 
(referred to as Tower 
Building A in this 
report) 

Shared living – Use 
Class Sui Generis 

 22,040sqm 

Page 41

https://publicaccess3.croydon.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QU138PJLFJG00


 Public Cafe - Use 
Class E(b) 

 319sqm 

14 storey shoulder 
building (referred to 
as Shoulder Building 
B in this report) 

Residential – Use 
Class C3 

 7,733sqm 

 Community Use – 
Potential Use 
Classes F1 (a-g), 
F2(b), E(e) 

 275sqm 

 Total 5,301sqm 30,367sqm 
 

 
 Number of car parking spaces Number of cycle parking 

spaces 
Tower 
Building A 

0 spaces 334 long stay spaces for Tower A 
(with 55 spaces for hire cycles) 

Shoulder 
Building B 

3 blue badge disabled spaces 149 long stay spaces 

Total 3 blue badge disabled spaces 483 long stay spaces (with 
26short stay spaces within the 
public realm) 

 
1.1 This application is being reported to Planning Committee because the ward councillors 

(Cllr Fitzsimons, Cllr Hay-Justice and Cllr Fitzpatrick) made representations in 
accordance with the Committee Consideration Criteria and requested committee 
consideration, objections above the threshold in the Committee Consideration Criteria 
have been received and the scheme proposes more than 200 new residential 
dwellings.  

2.0 BACKGROUND 

2.1 The scheme was presented on two occasions (April 16th 2020 and 6th August 2020) to 
the Place Review Panel (PRP) at pre-application stage. The main issues raised by the 
Panel were as follows: 

 With regard to the concept of co-living, the Panel were broadly supportive of the 
concept of co-living but expressed concerns at the number of nearby similar 
developments and whether there was sufficient demand. They felt that the 
communal spaces should be scrutinized with evidence that they can perform for 
the number of occupants proposed. (OFFICER COMMENT: The applicant’s 
research into co-living and analysis of their scheme against existing benchmarks 
has continued, as well as further justification of need against schemes already 
consented.) 

 The Panel overall welcomed that kitchens were provided on each floor. Further 
feedback highlighted that it was vital that the building includes a range of high 
quality shared facilities at the right quantity (including external amenity spaces), 
and enables social interaction between residents for their physical and mental 
wellbeing, and to mitigate for the small unit sizes. The Panel also requested the 
applicant to consider the co-living accommodation in terms of storage for individual 
units, back of house space requirements and deliveries and servicing. (OFFICER 

Page 42



COMMENT: Use and variety of communal spaces as well as storage and back of 
house requirements have been further refined.) 

 In terms of design and townscape impact, the Panel were broadly comfortable with 
the mass of the tower but felt that a 9 storey massing option for the shoulder was 
more appropriate in townscape terms, responding to its setting and integrating with 
the lower scale residential to the south as well as reducing wind impact on the roof 
terrace. The Panel were broadly supportive of the emerging architectural 
expression but stressed the importance of the success of the detailing of the façade 
and its longevity particularly given the light tones of the concrete proposed. 
(OFFICER COMMENT: The evolution of the scheme has resulted in an increased 
height of Shoulder Building B, primarily as a result of the reduction in width to 
accommodate the trees and to maximise the amount of affordable housing in the 
scheme. The height and architectural expression have been carefully considered 
by officers.) 

 The Panel were supportive of the public access café at ground floor level and 
encouraged the applicant to explore how to attract people into this space. They 
however felt that the ground floor design was disappointing in terms of its 
relationship to the street and public realm. They challenged the applicant to improve 
the spaces around the building as well as the ground floor expression, and stressed 
the importance of understanding how the scheme ties into the wider context of 
Croydon. (OFFICER COMMENT: The base of the building has undergone further 
testing to ensure it works successfully and have proposed this area for delivery of 
public art to introduce further activation and identity.) 

 The Panel felt sustainability, microclimate and fire safety need careful 
consideration. They requested the applicant to look into reducing the amount of 
north facing units to maximise daylight. (OFFICER COMMENT: The number of 
north facing units has been reduced through changes to the layouts. Sustainability, 
microclimate and fire safety have been considered and can be managed through 
condition.) 

2.2 Since presenting to the PRP, the proposal has been further developed in consultation 
with officers and the above comments (where possible) have been addressed in 
amendments and additional justification provided for the scheme. See 2.6 below. 

2.3 An earlier iteration of this proposal was presented to the Planning Committee at pre-
application stage on 15th October 2020. This proposed the erection of a part 27/part 
13 storey building to provide approximately 494 shared-living units (sui-generis), 77 
residential dwellings (C3), flexible (D1/B1) floor space and retail/cafe (A1/A3) space.  

2.4 The main issues raised were as follows: 

 Members had differing views with regards to the design and massing of the towers. 
Some Members liked the design and commented that it fits in with local character, 
whilst some Members did not like the design and raised concerns about the colour 
and materiality as well as concerns about respecting the NLA tower. Some 
Members queried whether the design was eye-catching or iconic enough for such 
a prominent location, and some felt the building was too big in its current form where 
it occupied the full extent of the site. Some Members commented that the use of 
colour for elements of the tower should be explored, and whether this could be used 
to provide differentiation between the co-living and the C3 tower. (OFFICER 

Page 43



COMMENT: Further pre-application design development and testing of alternative 
options for both the weave design, colour and materiality were carried out which 
helped refine these 3 elements. The current scheme is considered to be the most 
successful tested.)  

 Members were unhappy about the loss of the high quality trees to the east of the 
site in the scheme which was presented. (OFFICER COMMENT: the building has 
been stepped back in width from Addiscombe Grove to ensure these trees can be 
retained.) 

 Members questioned the shared living concept and its need in Croydon discussing 
the tenancy periods, affordability and number of residents in the building and who 
this would serve in the community. The amount of outside amenity space and 
disabled home provision was challenged. Some Members raised concerns about 
co-living generally in the current Covid-19 climate, and challenged the applicant to 
demonstrate how the co-living units could convert to traditional C3 residential units 
if co-living is not a success. Members further challenged the applicant to 
demonstrate safe fire evacuation. (OFFICER COMMENT: The applicant has 
included wheelchair accessible units within the co-living accommodation, and 
provided research and analysis to back up their co-living offer including justification 
of need. The applicant has tested their co-living layouts both in a COVID-19 
scenario and in a C3 Use Class conversion scenario. A fire strategy has been 
provided with the application.) 

 Whilst Members welcomed the principle of C3 affordable housing delivery in 
addition to the co-living accommodation, there was discussion about the 
affordability of the accommodation it being of all of intermediate tenure and 
concerns that this would meet a certain demographic only. (OFFICER COMMENT: 
Officers continued to robustly test scheme viability supported by independent 
review through the course of the pre-application and application process to 
consider the possibility of social rented accommodation or additional affordable 
housing. Through this process it is considered the offer is the maximum reasonable 
that can be achieved.) 

 Members were generally supportive of the removal of the underpass. Members 
reiterated the importance of the pedestrian routes in and around the development 
given the amount of people who will live in the building, and emphasised that 
transportation issues will need to be carefully considered. Members also 
highlighted that wind must be addressed as part of the scheme submission to 
ensure public realm is safe and fit for purpose. (OFFICER COMMENT: Officers 
sought microclimate assessment at pre-application stage to ensure any required 
mitigation could be incorporated into the design. Transport issues relating to co-
living and development as a whole have been considered and addressed by 
conditions and s.106 obligations.) 

2.5 Since the Committee presentation, the proposal has been further developed, in 
consultation with officers and the above comments have been taken into account 
(where possible) in amendments made to the scheme.  

2.6 The key changes as a result of PRP and Committee feedback are as follows: 

 The evolution of the scheme has resulted in an increased height of Tower Building 
A and Shoulder Building B. This has primarily been to maximise provision of 

Page 44



affordable housing in Shoulder Building B and to improve the height relationship 
between both buildings (greater differentiation in heights between the two) and 
reduce overall bulk, particularly in views from south to north. The reduction in width 
to accommodate the trees has also resulted in a height increase of 1 storey since 
the Committee presentation to ensure provision of affordable housing was not 
reduced. The height and massing have been carefully considered by officers and it 
is considered the current scheme is acceptable. 

 The building has been set back from Addiscombe Grove to allow the 3 prominent 
and high quality London Plan trees fronting the street to be retained. A detailed 
arboriculture assessment and method statement has been provided to demonstrate 
how the trees will be retained and protected during construction given the close 
proximity of the building. 

 The base of the building and ground/floor mezzanine spaces have been developed 
throughout the pre-application and application. Testing has informed the shape and 
width of the columns and the 3 entrances have been amended to introduce a 
degree of symmetry in their appearance, as well as to manage microclimate impact. 
The canopy over the café has been re-designed to better integrate with the façade 
approach in response to PRP comments. More landscaping has been introduced 
surrounding the east and west ends of the building to manage microclimate impacts 
and provide greening. A residential unit proposed within the mezzanine level has 
been removed to improve the relationship with the street and remove a poor quality 
unit. The base of the building is proposed for delivery of public art to introduce 
further activation and identity. 

 Since the PRP presentations, officers challenged the applicants to provide 
affordable housing on site with the expectation that this should meet C3 Use Class 
policy requirements. 30% is now proposed as London Living Rent in addition to 
70% Shared Ownership which whilst all of intermediate tenure, is considered to be 
the maximum amount that can be achieved. Scheme viability has been 
independently reviewed which supports this conclusion. This is considered to be 
acceptable given that on-site affordable housing would not normally be delivered 
as part of a co-living scheme.  

 The applicants carried out further testing of the weave design, materiality and 
colour as well as the differentiation between the two towers following PRP and 
Member comments (particularly in response to comments from Members relating 
to the building not appearing iconic enough). This included an option with a 
horizontal weave (as opposed to vertical) to add visual interest, however this lacked 
the benefits of the verticality of the current weave design in increasing slenderness 
of both buildings as well as over-complicating the simplicity of the design. Using 
small ceramic tiles was also tested as an alternative material option but again 
added busyness to the façade which was considered to compete with the crispness 
of the weave design. Options for introducing a bolder colour (such as a dark green 
to reflect the existing building) were also discussed with officers, but were 
considered to provide too much of a contrast with the NLA Tower and were 
discounted to ensure the landmark prominent status of the NLA Tower was 
retained. Some elements from this testing have been carried through, including the 
slightly differentiation in concrete colour between the buildings, refinements to the 
crown and corner columns and treatment of the opaque concrete panels with a 
pattern reflecting the NLA Tower.  

Page 45



 With support from PRP and Member comments, officers continued to seek a 
microclimate assessment to be provided at pre-application stage so any wind 
impacts and required mitigation could be managed and incorporated at an early 
stage. The number and location of points tested, the surrounding development 
included and the type, siting and scale of mitigation proposed has been improved 
during pre-application and application stage as a result of officer feedback.  

 Analysis of the co-living accommodation and assessment against policy H16 of the 
London Plan (2021) has been carried out by the applicants and assessed by 
officers. The amount of dedicated kitchen/dining space, amount of cooking stations 
as well as defining the variety and types of amenity spaces has been amended. 
Consideration of co-living in a COVID-19 environment has been made to 
demonstrate how this could operate.  

3 RECOMMENDATION 

3.1 That the Planning Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to: 

 A. Any direction by the London Mayor pursuant to the Mayor of London Order 

 B. The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning 
obligations: 

 Affordable housing 
1. Affordable housing – 84 C3 Use Class residential units (70% London Shared 

Ownership and 30% London Living Rent) (the entirety of Shoulder Building B) 
2. Affordable housing review mechanism (early and late stage review) 

 Reviews on Shoulder Building B - any uplift, flipping to LAR/AR 
 Reviews on Tower Building A  - any uplift, flipping C3 to LAR/AR and/or top 

up payment 
 

   Shared living  
3. Co-living management plan  
4. Units all for rent with minimum tenancy lengths of no less than three months 

(and other co-living policy requirements including concierge, bedding and linen 
changing and/or room cleaning services) 

5. Operator to be agreed and detailed management plan submitted prior to 
occupation including security, kitchen stations, booking systems 

 
 Public Realm  

6. On-site public realm – paving, trees, planting (provided prior to occupation, 
maintenance and delivery, materials/public realm design to correspondence 
to the Public Realm Design Guide, remain open and usable to the public 24/7) 

7. Off-site public realm improvements to be covered under Section 278 – design 
and delivery of cycle land adjacent to site and raised table crossing to west of 
site, installation of trees within the public highway (subject to installation 
feasibility to be assessed during design stage), reconstruction of footways 
adjacent to the site, installation of loading bay, installation of road markings 
and associated traffic orders if applicable (all costs borne by developer 
including public realm maintenance commuted sums and maintenance of 
trees and planting to be secured through contribution) 

8. Infilling of subway (requirement to undertake stopping up process under 
Section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and submission of 

Page 46



detailed schedule of works, carry out and complete works to satisfaction of 
highway authority prior to occupation) 

 
 Transport  

9. TfL financial contribution of £155,553 towards improvements and upgrades to 
the local public transport network 

10. Remove access for future residents to CPZ permits and season tickets for 
Council car parks  

11. Financial contribution to car club space improvements of £25,000   
12. Membership to car club for residents for 3 years for each unit 
13. Travel Plan monitoring for 3 years and monitoring fee of £1,969 
14. Active Travel Zone improvements (to a minimum value of £50,000)   
15. Delivery and Servicing Plan bond of £20,000, retained by Council and used 

towards highway infrastructure if compliance with DSP not achieved. Delivery 
and servicing to be monitored for 18 months following 80% occupation of both 
blocks.  

16. Refuse collection – to be carried out by a private management company for 
both co-living and C3 accommodation. Company, no. of collections to be 
agreed but cost of private collection for the C3 to be covered entirely by co-
living operator.  

 
 Design  

17. Retention of scheme architects  
18. Public art on site (to a minimum value of £100,000) 
19. Public access to upper floor on at least one occasion per year 
20. Play space contribution of £11,551 
21. Marketing and fitting out of the public café and community space on 

ground/mezzanine floors for the eventual end occupier. Marketing strategy for 
both units to be submitted, to include 6 months marketing and further 
marketing period if no success within this time. Fit out specification to be 
provided once end users identified, and once approved carried out prior to 
occupation of each unit. 

 
 Environmental  

22. Air quality financial contribution of £12,928 
23. Carbon offsetting contribution of £592,800 
24. Future district heat network connection  
25. TV satellite dish mitigation 
26. Wind mitigation works 

  
Employment and training  
27. Local Employment and Training strategy (LETS) 
28. LETS contributions of £70,000 for construction phase and £15,514 for 

operational phase 
29. Monitoring fees 
30. And any other planning obligations considered necessary 

   
3.2 That the Director of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration has delegated authority 

to negotiate the detailed terms of the legal agreement, securing additional/amended 
obligations if necessary.  

  

Page 47



 Conditions 

1. Commencement of the development within 3 years  
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved drawings  

 
Both Tower Building A and Shoulder Building B 
 
Pre-commencement 

3. Archaeology - Stage 1 and Stage 2 Written Scheme of Investigation 
4. Archaeology – Submission of public engagement framework for sites 

archaeological program of work 
5. CEMP for biodiversity 
6. Thames Water – piling method statement 
7. Typical façade materials and detailing – 1:20 details used then to produce 1:1 

mock-ups, with 1:5 details to confirm following approval 
8. 1:1 mock ups of the Crown, Tower A and B portion showing interface, and of the 

amenity levels and window/sill details 
9. External facing materials, including physical samples and detailed drawings of 

design elements 
10. Public Art strategy, designs and implementation (brief and commissioned pieces 

for both the colonnade and the elevations including physical samples) 
11. Details of public realm and landscape design 
12. Tree planting and management strategy 
13. Vehicle Dynamics Assessment with hostile vehicle mitigation and anti-terrorist 

measures  
14. Construction logistics plan and method statement 
15. Construction Environment Management Plan 
16. Aviation warning lights (including construction) 
17. Sustainable urban drainage strategy (detailing any on and/or off site drainage 

works) 
18. Secured by Design/engagement with the Police  
19. Accord with Air Quality Assessment and submission of air quality Low emission 

strategy 
20. Biodiversity enhancement strategy 
21. Confirmation of vehicular and pedestrian access rights into rear of site from 

Addiscombe Grove across access road shared with Harrington Court 
 
Pre-occupation  

22. Thames Water – water infrastructure study 
23. Hard and soft landscaping, including rooftop amenity spaces, children’s play space 

and equipment, boundary treatments and planters (including detailed sections with 
proposed planting 

24. Public realm and building lighting scheme and to include night time illumination 
and wildlife sensitive lighting design 

25. Landscaping and public realm management and maintenance strategy 
26. Details of fenestration of the ground floor, including shop fronts, glazing, signage 

zones and co-ordination and enhancement of the public realm 
27. Lighting and CCTV of bin and bike stores, parking areas  
28. Details of cycle parking and storage (including staff provision, changing facilities 

and short stay spaces)  
29. Access routes and signage for pedestrians, cyclists and cars 

Page 48



30. Refuse store and collection management plan including details of refuse 
management company appointed 

31. Detailed delivery and Servicing Plan to be submitted  
32. Car park management plan (including EVCP)  
33. Rooftop amenity for both towers to be agreed including mitigation 
34. Window ventilation systems and sound insulation 
35. Biodiversity enhancements  
36. Café and co-living kitchens extraction details 
37. Details of air handling units/plant/machinery and screening 
38. Building maintenance strategy including window cleaning 

 
Compliance 

39. Co-living elements to be under single management 
40. Use of ground and mezzanine floor as café/community space/co-living reception 

as per this report 
41. Restriction on hours of use of non-residential uses 
42. 35% CO2 reduction on site 
43. BREEAM excellent for non-residential  
44. All features and materials must comply with Part B of the Building Regulations in 

relation to fire safety  
45. Parking spaces, disabled parking, cycle parking installed in accordance with the 

approved details prior to occupation 
46. Public accessibility of areas within the building to be provided as specified  
47. Compliance with fire statement, detailed design of fire strategy 
48. Restriction of use of private access road from construction traffic 
49. Accord with contaminated land assessment  
50. Applicant to keep watching brief and development shall stop if unexpected 

contamination found, LPA notified and appropriate remediation agreed, carried out 
and verified 

51. Accord with mitigation outlined in Noise Assessment 
52. Noise from air and plant units should not increase background noise 
53. Accord with submitted Residential Green Travel Plan  
54. Meanwhile strategy, plan and implementation if required  
55. In accordance with submitted energy strategy 
56. In accordance with air quality assessment 
57. In accordance with ecological appraisal 

 
Tower Building A specific 
 
Pre-commencement 

58. Final details of number and details of kitchen stations, booking systems for amenity 
areas within building and smart lift system, typical unit entrances  
 
Pre-occupation  

59. Details of cycle hire scheme for residents only, details of adaption to public use if 
required 
 
Compliance 

60. Minimum co-living floor space - total amenity, kitchen and dining areas, laundry, 
gym spaces, terraces including rooftop 

61. Maximum co-living floor space - co-working space, plant areas as specified in the 
application 

Page 49



62. Co-living facilities to be for use by residents only 
63. Units on each floor to be DDA compliant as specified 

 
Shoulder Building B specific  
 
Pre-occupation  

64. Any extract systems for community use 
 
Compliance 

65. 10% of units M4(3) and 90% M4(2)  
66. Community use retained as per this report for lifetime of development 
67. Use classes applied for and no others within those uses classes 
68. 110 litre/person/day water consumption target  
69. Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Director of Planning 

and Sustainable Regeneration 
 

Informatives 

1) Granted subject to a Section 106 Agreement  
2) Community Infrastructure Levy 
3) Material/detailing conditions information   
4) Code of practise for Construction Sites 
5) Light pollution  
6) Requirement for ultra-low NOx boilers  
7) Thames Water informatives 
8) Site notice removal 
9) Environmental health  
10) Network Rail informatives for lighting, noise and vibration   
11) Archaeology informatives 
12) Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Director of Planning and 
Sustainable Regeneration 

 
3.3 That the Committee confirms that it has had special regard to the desirability of 

preserving the settings of listed buildings and features of special architectural or 
historic interest as required by Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

3.4 That the Committee confirms that it has paid special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of the East India Estate and 
Central Croydon Conservation Areas as required by Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

3.5 That the Committee confirms that adequate provision has been made, by the 
imposition of conditions, for the preservation or planting of trees as required by Section 
197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

3.6 That if by 27th May 2022 the legal agreement has not been completed, the Director of 
Planning and Sustainable Regeneration is delegated authority to refuse planning 
permission. 

 

Page 50



4.0 PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS 

 Proposal 

4.1 The application seeks permission for the following:  

Page 51



 Demolition of the existing building on site with the erection of a part 28 (for 
clarity, to be referred to as Tower Building A within this report), part 14 storey 
building (for clarity, to be referred to as Shoulder Building B within this report).  

 Tower Building A comprising 498 co-living (also known as shared living as per 
policy H16 and referred to as such within this report) units for rent (Class Sui 
Generis)  

 The co-living tower would contain 3,095sqm of co-living communal amenity 
space including 1,448sqm of communal catering facilities, 293sqm of dedicated 
co-working space at mezzanine floor level and 329sqm of communal outdoor 
space on Floors 13, 14 and 28 (plus a communal balcony on each floor equating 
to 144sqm total). A lounge/reception for residents is proposed at ground floor, 
with offices and parcel room. A public café (Use Class E(b)) at 
ground/mezzanine floor level of 319sqm is also proposed. 

 Shoulder Building B comprising 84 residential units (Use Class C3) made up of 
40 x 1 bedroom 2 person, 34 x 2 bedroom and 10 x 3 bedroom units. 

 The C3 shoulder building would provide 100% affordable housing (84 flats - 
equating to 30.8% of the whole scheme by habitable room) with roof top garden 
amenity space for residents on Floor 13. Ground and mezzanine floor to include 
275sqm of non-residential floor space (Use Classes F1 (a-g), F2(b), E(e-f)). 

 The provision of 3 blue badge disabled parking spaces at the rear, accessed 
through the existing shared vehicular access road off Addiscombe Grove.  

 The provision of 334 cycle parking spaces for Tower Building A and 149 spaces 
for Shoulder Building B at basement level accessed via lift from ground floor 
level with visitor spaces for both buildings located at grade in the adjacent public 
realm. 

 Public realm improvements, including the removal and infilling of the existing 
subway and provision of street trees, planting and pedestrian footpaths.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Image 1: CGI from outside East Croydon Station 

 
4.2 During the course of the application, amendments and additional information were 

provided by the applicant as follows: 
 Removal of mezzanine level C3 residential unit 

Page 52



 Additional kitchens added to communal areas of co-living and additional analysis 
of co-living accommodation carried out to justify proposals, including comparison 
with College Road scheme. Clearer separation between public/private areas and 
definition of primary uses of each amenity space.  

 Amended ground floor entrances  
 Submission of relocation strategy for educational use including correspondence 

with existing Business School, submission of planning application for change of use  
 Indicative layouts for community floor space to demonstrate different types of end 

users who could occupy  
 Incorporation of additional Secured by Design measures internally and externally 

including CCTV, building management measures, rear gates  
 Amended drainage strategy and additional clarification to satisfy LLFA comments 
 Amended energy strategy and additional clarification, circular economy statement 

to satisfy energy comments 
 Further transport information - detail on cycle store capacity and types of storage, 

comparison with servicing in similar developments, aligning proposed plans with 
Council’s plans for highway improvements in the area 

 Refuse strategy amended to incorporate private collections and avoid bins being 
stacked up on rear access path 
 

4.3 Re-consultation on the above amendments took place for 3 weeks in the same terms 
as the original consultation carried out.  
 

4.4 Additional daylight and sunlight information was provided and uploaded to the 
Council’s website on 10th January 2022. This confirmed the findings of the original 
assessment, so no further consultation was necessary.      
 

 Site and Surroundings 
 
4.5 The site is located on the southern side of Addiscombe Road and is currently occupied 

by offices and Fairfield School of Business. Directly opposite the site is No.1 Croydon, 
a locally listed building which is also a locally designated landmark and falls within two 
local designated views. To the rear of site are residential flats/houses facing 
Addiscombe Road and Altyre Road. The site lies within high/medium risk of surface 
water flooding. On the corner of Altyre Road, opposite to the site, is an office building. 

 

Image 2 and 3: aerial photos of site, outlined in red 

 
4.6 The surrounding area is mainly a mixed commercial and residential character and 

there are several developments in the near vicinity such as 28-30 Addiscombe Grove 

Page 53



(Pocket), Land Adjacent to Croydon College (College Tower) and the Ten Degrees 
(Former Essex House) which is now completed. Works are due to commence soon on 
the demolition of the former Royal Mail Sorting office building to the north, whilst works 
to Menta Morello continue on site beyond.    

 

 
Image 4: CGI showing surrounding schemes in context 

 
Constraints 

 
4.7 The site is within the Croydon Opportunity Area (Edge Area – covered by policy 

DM38.4) and Croydon Metropolitan Centre. The site has excellent Public Transport 
Accessibility (PTAL 6B), being in close proximity to East and West Croydon Stations 
and numerous bus and tram links.  
 
Planning History 

 
4.8 There is a substantial amount of planning history on the site (and indeed surrounding 

sites), but the following applications are considered to be of most relevance:  
 

4.9 Citylink and Tolley House – 2-4 Addiscombe Road: 
14/03407/P - Alterations; Use ground to fourth floors for flexible B1 (office)/D1 
(educational) use – Permission granted 
 

4.10 28-30 Addiscombe Grove (Pocket): 
17/02680/FUL - Demolition of existing buildings including parking garage and 
redevelopment of the sites for a part 9, 20 and 21 storey building comprising 153 
residential dwellings (Class C3) and a single storey sub-station; hard and soft 
landscaping, cycle and car parking facilities; plant areas and other ancillary works – 
Permission granted. Works are nearing completion on site.  
 

4.11 30-38 Addiscombe Road (L&Q):  
18/06102/FUL - Redevelopment of the site to provide 137 residential units across an 
8 and 18 storey building with associated landscaping and access arrangements – 
Permission granted. Works have commenced on site.  
 

Page 54



4.12 Land adjacent to Croydon College, College Road 
19/04987/FUL - Redevelopment of the site to provide a part 49 storey and part 34 
storey building with basements, comprising 817 co-living units (Use Class Sui Generis) 
within Tower A and 120 residential units (Use Class C3) within Tower B, a cafe (Use 
Class A3), community use (Use Class D1), associated communal facilities for co-living 
residents, amenity spaces, cycle parking, disabled parking spaces, refuse and cycle 
storage and associated landscaping and public realm works – Planning permission 
granted. Works have commenced on site in pursuance of this permission. 
 

4.13 Royal Mail Delivery Office, 1-5 Addiscombe Road:  
13/03126/P - Demolition of existing buildings; erection of three buildings ranging from 
8 to 21 storeys to provide a total of 201 flats up to 1760 M2 of retail floor area (use 
classes A1-A5) at ground floor level; formation of vehicular access, landscaping, works 
to public realm and associated works – Permission granted. This permission has been 
technically implemented on site.  

  
5.0 SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 The principle of a part 28/14 storey building comprising residential and co-living 
accommodation with commercial uses at ground floor is supported in principle and 
aligned with the desire for growth on the Croydon Opportunity Area. 

 The existing educational floor space on the site is to be partially re-provided as part 
of the scheme, and the applicants have worked with the existing tenants to find a 
new premises. In the context of a flexible permission, this is considered to be 
acceptable. 

 Co-living is an emerging residential product, the principle of which is supported by 
London Plan Policy H16.   

 The provision of C3 residential is fully supported, all of which would be of 
intermediate tenure in the form of London Shared Ownership and London Living 
Rent (equating to 30.8% by habitable room) which has been independently 
assessed as the maximum reasonable provision.  

 The mix of units is supported by the Registered Provider delivering the 
accommodation and includes a portion of family accommodation in Shoulder 
Building B.  

 The application site is situated within an appropriate location for a tall building; the 
height and mass of the two buildings has been assessed in relation to its impact 
from a wide range of viewpoints and found acceptable, including in relation to its 
impact on heritage assets in particular the NLA Tower. 

 The design, appearance and detailed façade treatment of the development is of high 
quality as required for tall buildings. 

 The provision of public realm improvements including the removal of the pedestrian 
underpass to provide a new loading bay is supported.  

 Whilst there would be some harm to the amenities of surrounding occupiers, these 
would not be so unduly harmful as to refuse planning permission on this ground. 

 The living standards of future occupiers are satisfactory (in terms of overall 
residential quality) and the C3 Use Class homes would comply with the Nationally 
Described Space Standard (NDSS). 

 The level of parking and impact upon highway safety and efficiency would be 
acceptable, subject to conditions and s.106 agreement. 

 The environmental impacts, including wind, noise, air quality, biodiversity, trees, 
land contamination and flooding, are acceptable subject to mitigation proposed 
through a combination of conditions and s.106 agreement.  

Page 55



 Sustainability aspects have been properly assessed and their delivery can be 
controlled through planning obligations and planning conditions. 

6.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

6.1 The views of the Planning Service are expressed in the MATERIAL PLANNING 
CONSIDERATIONS section below. 

6.2 The following organisations were consulted regarding the application: 

 The Greater London Authority (Statutory Consultee) 

6.3 The GLA have made the following comments: 

 The development is supported in principle, subject to further information on the loss 
of office floor space and the existing further education institution.   

 While the quantum of communal amenity space is broadly supported, the applicant 
should consider providing more cooking stations within the communal areas on 
each floor. Furthermore the applicant must confirm that the co-working floor space 
included as part of the communal amenity provision would be secured for exclusive 
use by the residents.  

 The provision of on-site conventional affordable housing is supported in principle, 
however the 31% affordable offer only comprises intermediate tenure and does not 
comply with policy. The viability continues to be scrutinised by the GLA to ensure 
the maximum amount and optimum tenure balance.  

 The application site is situated within an appropriate location for a tall building. 
Further information is required to address the functional and environmental impacts 
of the tall building. The applicant should also address the concerns raised in relation 
to residential quality, children’s play space, fire strategy and inclusive design. 

 Safety concerns in the vicinity of the site must be addressed, details relating to the 
position of the loading bay confirmed and the amount of cycle parking increased for 
compliance with the strategic transport policies. The trip generation and mode 
share should be revised in order to determine an appropriate contribution towards 
public transport to mitigate the cumulative impact.  

 Further information on energy, whole life-cycle carbon and circular economy is also 
required.  

 OFFICER COMMENT: Continual engagement with the GLA has taken place 
throughout the pre-application and application process. As a result of discussions with 
the GLA during the application, the applicant proposed amendments and additional 
information to overcome their concerns. Follow up comments from the GLA have been 
received which are as follows: 

 Further information on the relocation strategy has been provided by the applicant. 
It is understood that there is now a very realistic prospect that the existing 
educational provider will soon secure another premises to operate from within 
Croydon. GLA officers accept that the existing educational use benefits from a 
flexible office/educational consent which is due to expire in 2024 and that the 
proposal includes a smaller communal/educational use on the site. The loss of the 
existing further education college may therefore be accepted on balance when GLA 
officers come to consider the public benefits of the proposal at the Mayor’s decision 
making stage.  

Page 56



 The applicant has confirmed that the co-working amenity floor space would be for 
the exclusive use and access of the residents. The Stage 1 response encouraged 
the applicant to explore the potential to provide more cooking stations on each floor. 
The applicant has responded positively to these comments by providing an 
additional cooking station on each level, resulting in 24 more cooking stations being 
provided within the development. Consequently, GLA officers are satisfied with the 
quantum of communal facilities offered for the future occupiers.  

 Additional information has been provided by the applicant to support its case that 
the scheme is providing the maximum amount of affordable housing subject to 
review mechanisms. The applicant should nevertheless detail why the affordable 
component would only consist of intermediate tenure units. 

 The Council should undertake a full review of the fire strategy and ensure it is 
appropriately secured by condition.  

 Further information regarding energy required.   
 Conditions and s.106 obligations are recommended. 

 
OFFICER COMMENT: The applicant has provided a response to the GLA; this 
includes further justification on why social rented accommodation cannot viably be 
provided, and dealing with technical energy matters raised, including additional 
provision of PV panels and updated site heat network drawings. Officers are 
content that sufficient information has now been provide to address GLA concerns, 
in combination with conditions and s.106 obligations.  

 Transport for London (TfL) (Statutory Consultee) 

6.4 TfL made the following comments: 

 Proposed improvements to the public realm will make a positive contribution.  
 Wind and crime should be taken into consideration.  
 The quantity of long stay cycle parking for the co-living units should be increased 

by 150 spaces to meet London Plan standards.  
 A public transport contribution of £155,553 towards service capacity enhancements 

is requested.  
 Details to be provided including for cycle parking, parking management plan, 

EVCPs, DSP and CLP.  
 Restriction on future residents from applying for permits in the local CPZ should be 

imposed.  

 OFFICER COMMENT: additional transport information has been provided in response 
to the comments made by TfL which they are currently reviewing, including further 
justification on why additional cycle parking cannot be provided. Specific concern was 
raised by TfL as to wind environments around East Croydon Station; the microclimate 
assessment provided has been reviewed in detail by officers and is considered to result 
in acceptable wind environments, subject to the mitigation being secured. The Secured 
by Design officer has been consulted on the application and a meeting held with the 
applicants and the Council, resulting in a number of measures being proposed to 
improve site safety and perception of crime. The transport impacts are discussed in 
detail below, and conditions and s.106 obligations imposed as recommended by TfL. 

 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) (Statutory Consultee) 

Page 57



6.5 The LLFA have no objection (further information was received to address these initial 
concerns) and is satisfied that a detailed sustainable drainage scheme can be suitably 
secured through a condition [OFFICER COMMENT: condition imposed] 

 Environment Agency (Statutory Consultee) 

6.6 No response from the Environment Agency was received. 

 Historic England – Archaeology 

6.7 The archaeology team at Historic England considered that the site holds a discernible 
geo/archaeological potential. The development could cause harm to archaeological 
remains and field evaluation is needed to determine appropriate mitigation. A two stage 
condition is recommended requiring firstly evaluation to clarify the nature and extent of 
surviving remains, followed, if necessary, by a full investigation [OFFICER COMMENT: 
conditions imposed] 

 Natural England 

6.8 Natural England had no comments to make on the application.  

 Thames Water  
 
6.9 With regards to foul water and surface water network infrastructure capacity, Thames 

Water raised no objection. An informative is recommended to advise the developer 
that Thames Water underground water assets are located within 15m of the 
development, and water mains crossing or close to the development. Thames Water 
have requested a condition be imposed, requiring the developer to liaise with them to 
discuss the impact on the existing water network infrastructure, and whether upgrades 
are required to accommodate the development. [OFFICER COMMENT: informatives 
and conditions imposed] 
 

 Network Rail   
 
6.10 Network Rail recommend the developer complies with informatives to maintain the safe 

operation of the railway and protect Network Rail’s infrastructure, due to the close 
proximity of the proposed works to Network Rail land. Informatives recommended 
relating to lighting and noise and vibration [OFFICER COMMENT: informatives 
imposed] 

 
 Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) – Designing Out Crime Officer 
 
6.11 The Designing Out Crime Officer initially raised an objection to the scheme. As a result 

a meeting has been held with the Designing Out Crime Officer and the applicants, and 
further information and amendments to the scheme have been provided. Final detailed 
matters can be resolved through the imposition of a condition, requiring liaison with the 
MPS once an operator has been secured and prior to occupation. This particularly 
relates to the security arrangements for the building (including size of the security 
team) [OFFICER COMMENT: condition recommended. As discussed below in more 
detail, resolution of certain items such as the fencing and gates proposed will need to 
be discussed post-determination to ensure any resulting impact is considered, whilst 
balancing the need to provide a safe environment in and around the site.] 

 

Page 58



 National Air Traffic Services (NATS) Safeguarding 
 
6.12 No objection was raised.  
 
 Heathrow Airport Safeguarding  
 
6.13 No safeguarding objections. Condition recommended for aviation warning lights for 

cranes. [OFFICER COMMENT: Condition imposed]  
 

Gatwick Airport Safeguarding  
 
6.14 No objection was raised.  
 
 London Fire Brigade 
 
6.15 No response received.  
 
7.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 
 
7.1 The application has been publicised by way of letters of notification to neighbouring 

properties in the vicinity of the application site. Site notices were also erected in the 
vicinity of the site and a press notice published. A re-consultation in the same terms 
took place following submission of revisions to the scheme including the removal of a 
C3 residential unit, the addition of extra kitchens and the submission of a number of 
amended and additional documentation in support of the application (see above for full 
list). The number of representations received from neighbours in response to 
notification and publicity of the application are as follows:  

 No of individual responses: 170  Objecting: 162     Supporting: 5 Comment:  4 

7.2 The following issues were raised in representations.  Those that are material to the 
determination of the application, are addressed in substance in the MATERIAL 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS section of this report: 

Comment Officer comment 

Objections (material) 

Overdevelopment of the site Addressed in this report. The site is currently 
occupied by a building of a similar footprint and it 
is considered the site is appropriate for a denser 
development than is currently on site. The site 
falls within the Edge Area for tall buildings within 
the Croydon Opportunity Area, where tall 
buildings are generally supported provided these 
are of high quality design. It is not considered the 
scheme would constitute overdevelopment of the 
site. 

Character and design – too high, street 
scene impact, existing building should 
be retained 

Addressed in this report. The existing building is 
not physically protected and there is no in 
principle objection to its loss. Policy supports tall 
buildings in this location provided high quality 
design is achieved and the impact with respect to 

Page 59



all other material considerations is acceptable as 
is considered to be so in this case. The scale and 
massing has been assessed in relation to the 
street scene and surrounding mid and long range 
views. The design of the building has been 
through a robust assessment process to ensure 
good quality, supported by further work post 
determination with conditions relating to detailing 
and materiality. 

Co-living – co-living not appropriate, 
units too small, COVID concerns, 
limited laundry space, may end up as a 
hostel, no private amenity, limited 
disabled units 

Addressed in this report. Large scale shared 
living (or co-living) is supported in the London 
Plan under policy H16. The units are considered 
to strike the right balance between being 
demonstrably not a self-contained unit, and also 
providing a functional layout for residents as the 
policy requires. There is no requirement for 
private amenity space for shared living units 
which would make them self-contained – amenity 
is shared amongst residents. The applicants 
have carried out an exercise to show how the 
building would work in a COVID-19 scenario if 
required. Shared laundry space is provided on 
level 13. There is no requirement for disabled 
units to be provided within large scale shared 
living schemes, despite this 10% of the units 
would be wheelchair accessible as would all 
amenity spaces. Conditions and s.106 
obligations, including compliance with a 
management plan and minimum tenancy lengths, 
will ensure the use operates as a shared living 
scheme and not a hostel. 

Impact on NLA Tower Addressed in this report. The impact on the NLA 
Tower has been carefully considered by officers 
with robust assessment of views and the 
proposed design and materiality. Whilst it is 
acknowledged the building is taller than the NLA 
Tower and would have some adverse impact to 
its setting, as set out in the report given the views 
affected this is considered to be on the lower end 
of the scale coupled with the fact that the NLA 
Tower is a non-designated heritage asset. The 
impact is considered acceptable. 

Loss of employment site, more 
commercial space needed, loss of 
business school, no shops on ground 
floor 

Addressed in this report. There would be a loss 
of office space. However the office space has 
been vacant for some time and the site falls 
outside of the Office Retention Area where office 
space is protected by policy. There would also be 
a loss of community floor space. Given that 
educational floor space is being partially re-
provided in the scheme (albeit smaller), the 
building benefits from a flexible permission 
allowing conversion to office space, and that 
there is a live planning application for the 
relocation of the Business School to an 

Page 60



alternative premises in Croydon, this is 
considered acceptable. The site is not 
designated retail frontage or a primary shopping 
area where retail shopping should be focussed. 

Impact on neighbours – 
daylight/sunlight, privacy, noise and 
disturbance, lighting 

Addressed in this report. There will be some 
impacts on adjoining occupiers as a result of the 
development. The proposed development would 
clearly result in some daylight impacts for 
surrounding properties, however in the vast 
majority of instances where impacts beyond BRE 
guidelines occur, the impact would be considered 
to be minor adverse in nature and all windows 
would pass either VSC, NSL or ADF tests. 
Lighting is a detailed matter which would be dealt 
with at condition stage to ensure acceptable light 
spill levels. It is not considered noise and 
disturbance would be significantly more harmful 
than the existing office and educational uses on 
the site and in this central location. The impact on 
surrounding privacy is considered acceptable. 

Inadequate affordable housing Addressed in this report. There is no requirement 
for on-site affordable housing in policy H16 of the 
London Plan. Despite this, the scheme proposes 
84 affordable traditional residential flats. It is 
considered this is the maximum reasonable 
amount that could be provided on site following a 
review of scheme viability. 

Increased traffic, inadequate access, 
no refuse collection details, not enough 
parking 

Addressed in this report. Safety and efficiency of 
the highway along with likely traffic generation 
has been assessed and found to be acceptable. 
Policy H16 directs large scale shared living 
developments to be car free, blue badge parking 
for the C3 residential flats has been provided in 
accordance with policy and the site sits in a highly 
accessible location. Refuse collection and 
management details have been specified, with 
further and finalised matters to be dealt with at 
condition stage. 

Wind concerns Addressed in this report. Wind tunnel testing has 
been carried out to assess the impact on 
surrounding pedestrian areas and terraces on the 
building. With mitigation, these areas are shown 
to be safe and comfortable to use for their 
intended purpose. 

Impact on trees Addressed in this report. All trees on and in the 
vicinity of the site are to be retained. An 
arboriculture method statement detailing how this 
will be achieved during construction and beyond 
has been provided, which is considered to be 
sound and will be conditioned for compliance. 

Page 61



Construction noise and disturbance Addressed in this report. It is acknowledged there 
will likely be some construction noise and 
disturbance caused to surrounding properties. To 
ensure this is minimised as much as possible, a 
Construction Logistics Plan will be required by 
condition (covering matters such as working 
hours, vehicle movements, deliveries) which the 
applicant will need to comply with. 

Failure to provide cycle path round 
building 

Addressed in this report. A cycle path adjacent to 
the site forms part of the Council’s aspirations for 
the area. The delivery of the cycle path directly 
adjacent to the site by the applicant is to be 
secured in the s.106 agreement. The design of 
the cycle path in the applicant’s plans aligns with 
the Council’s current plans for the area. 

A two way cycle path should be 
incorporated around the building 

This is not proposed as part of this development.

Insufficient infrastructure to support 
development 

Addressed in this report. The development will be 
subject to a significant CIL payment which 
contributes to infrastructure. The site is in a highly 
sustainable location in walking distance of 
multiple transport links and the Town Centre. 

Increased criminal activity Secured by Design is considered in this report. 
Engagement with the Metropolitan Police Service 
has taken place as part of the application with 
suggested safety measures to be discussed 
further at condition stage. It is not considered the 
redevelopment of the site nor the provision of 
additional homes in the area would in itself 
contribute to increased criminal activity. 

Objections (non-material) 

Loss of view Not a material planning consideration 

Devaluation of property prices Not a material planning consideration 

Lack of public consultation on 
application   

The application has been through two rounds of 
public consultation, being advertised on both 
occasions by way of press and site notice, as well 
as letters to adjoining properties. The Council has 
fulfilled statutory notification requirements, 
further borne out by the level of representation.  

Comments relating to use of access 
road to Harrington Court 

This is a private matter between the applicants 
and owners of the access road. Conditions have 
been recommended to prevent use of the access 
road for construction traffic and to secure final 
details of the access arrangements. 

Page 62



Proposal to install barriers on access 
road to limit weight of vehicles  

These works may require planning permission in 
their own right.  

CCTV should not face Harrington 
Court 

The location of CCTV within the scheme is a 
detailed matter to be dealt with at condition stage 
and is concerned with safety within the 
development itself and the public realm 
immediately surrounding the development. 
CCTV facing onto residential properties to the 
south is a private matter between the applicants 
and the neighbouring site. 

Support (material) 

Well designed and thought through 
scheme 

Addressed in this report 

Delivery of much needed housing Addressed in this report 

 
7.3  Cllr Fitzsimons has objected and referred the application to Planning Committee for a 

decision, raising the following issues: 

 Loss of key employment site and proposed application delivers inadequate 
levels of employment 

 Height of the building and impact on NLA Tower 
 Inadequate amount of affordable housing and the high rate of return for micro-

flat 
 Inadequate size of each flat: student style accommodation 
 Street scene and failure to provide a cycling path around the building 
 Privacy issues: Flat will be opposite office blocks and more privacy is needed 

for occupiers. Flats with private amenity spaces have balconies with metal 
railings, which again fail to provide flat occupiers with an adequate level of 
privacy.  

 Daylight and sunlight issues on neighbouring properties 

7.4 Cllr Hay-Justice has objected to the application and referred the application to Planning 
Committee, raising the following issues: 

 Concur with the request to refer this application to the Planning Committee and 
object to the application on the grounds raised by Cllr Fitzsimons 

7.5  Cllr Fitzpatrick has objected to the application and referred the application to Planning 
Committee, raising the following issues: 

 Adopt the objections which Cllr Fitzsimons has set out 
 

8.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 

8.1 In determining any planning application, the Council is required to have regard to the 
provisions of its Development Plan so far as is material to the application and to any 
other material considerations and the determination shall be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council's adopted 

Page 63



Development Plan consists of the Consolidated London Plan 2021, the Croydon Local 
Plan 2018 and the South London Waste Plan 2012.   
 

8.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and online Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG), as well as the National Design Guide (2019) are material considerations which 
set out the Government’s priorities for planning and a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The following NPPF key issues are in particular relevant to 
this case: 

 
 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes; 
 Making effective use of land; 
 Promoting healthy and safe communities; 
 Promoting sustainable transport;  
 Achieving well designed places; 
 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

 
8.3 The main policy considerations raised by the application that the Committee are 

required to consider are: 
 

8.4 London Plan 2021 
  

 GG1 Building Strong and Inclusive Communities 
 GG2 Making Best Use of Land 
 GG3 Creating a Healthy City 
 GG4 Delivering the Homes Londoners Need 
 GG5 Growing a Good Economy 
 GG6 Increasing Efficiency and Resilience 
 D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities 
 D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach 
 D4 Delivering good design 
 D5 Inclusive Design 
 D6 Housing Quality and Standards 
 D7 Accessible Housing 
 D8 Public Realm 
 D11 Safety, Security and Resilience to Emergency 
 D12 Fire Safety 
 D13 Agent of Change 
 D14 Noise 
 H1 Increasing Housing Supply 
 H5 Threshold Approach to Applications 
 H6 Affordable Housing Tenure 
 H7 Monitoring of Affordable Housing 
 H8 Loss of Existing Housing and Estate Redevelopment 
 H10 Housing Size Mix 
 H16 Large-scale purpose-built shared living  
 S4 Play and Informal Recreation 
 E11 Skills and opportunities for All 
 HC1 Heritage Conservation and Growth 
 HC3 Strategic and Local Views 
 G5 Urban Greening 

Page 64



 G6 Biodiversity and access to nature 
 SI 1 Improving Air Quality 
 SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions 
 SI 3 Energy Infrastructure 
 SI 4 Managing Heat Risk 
 SI 5 Water Infrastructure 
 SI 7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy 
 SI 12 Flood Risk Management 
 SI 13 Sustainable Drainage 
 T1 Strategic approach to Transport 
 T2 Healthy Streets 
 T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
 T5 Cycling 
 T6 Car Parking 
 T7 Deliveries, Servicing and Construction 

 
8.5 Croydon Local Plan (CLP) 2018  

 SP1 The Places of Croydon 
 SP2 Homes 
 SP3 Employment 
 SP6.3 Sustainable Design and Construction 
 DM1 Housing choice for sustainable communities 
 SP4 Urban Design and Local Character  
 DM10 Design and character 
 DM13 Refuse and recycling 
 DM16 Promoting healthy communities  
 DM18 Heritage assets and conservation 
 SP6 Environment and Climate Change  
 DM23 Development and construction 
 DM24 Land contamination 
 DM25 Sustainable drainage systems and reducing floor risk 
 SP7 Green Grid 
 DM27 Biodiversity  
 DM28 Trees 
 SP8 Transport and communications 
 DM29 Promoting sustainable travel and reducing congestion 
 DM30 Car and cycle parking in new development 
 DM38 Croydon Opportunity Area 

 
8.6 There is relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance as follows: 

 London Housing SPG (March 2016) 
 Homes for Londoners: Affordable Housing and Viability SPG (August 2017) 
 Croydon Opportunity Area Planning Framework (adopted by the Mayor and 

Croydon) (2013) 
 SPG 12: Landscape Design 
 Croydon SPD No. 3: Designing for Community Safety 

 

Page 65



9.0 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

9.1 The main planning issues raised by the application that the Planning Committee are 
required are as follows: 

1. Principle of development  
2. Housing quality for future occupiers 
3. Affordable housing, mix and density  
4. Townscape and visual impact  
5. Residential amenity of neighbours 
6. Parking and highway safety  
7. Trees, landscaping and biodiversity  
8. Environment   
9. Sustainability 
10. Other planning matters 

 
 Principle of Development  

Site designations 
9.2 At the heart of the National Planning Framework 2021 (NPPF) is a presumption in favour 

of sustainable development which meets social, economic and environmental needs, 
and attaches great importance to significantly boosting the supply of new housing. 

 
9.3 The site sits within the Croydon Metropolitan Centre (CMC), where Local Plan policy 

SP3.10 sets out a flexible approach to office, housing and retail uses. The site is also 
located within the Edge Area of the Croydon Opportunity Area (COA). The Opportunity 
Area Planning Framework (2013) encourages new homes, the revival of the high 
street, and improved streets and amenity spaces. Policy DM38.4 of the CLP (2018) 
which covers the COA states that in this area, tall buildings can be acceptable subject 
to achieving a high quality form, design and treatment and where negative impact on 
sensitive locations is limited. 

 
9.4 The principle of a tall building in this location is therefore considered acceptable, 

subject to meeting the above criteria.   
 
Educational and office facilities 

9.5 Policy SP5.2 of the Croydon Local Plan 2018 actively encourages the location and 
expansion of higher and further education in the borough in order to “improve skills and 
act as a driver of growth and enterprise in the local economy”. Current policy DM19.1 
of the CLP (2018) protects community facilities, with their loss permitted where it can 
be demonstrated there is no need for the existing premises or land for a community 
use and that it no longer has the ability to serve the needs of the community.  
 

9.6 The Fairfield School of Business (FSB) currently operates on the site, occupying 
2,632sqm within the building. This educational use (classed as a community facility) is 
protected by policy where there is need for this within the Borough, of which there is in 
this case. Whilst there is 275sqm of educational floor space (formerly use class D1, 
now use class F1) being re-provided as part of the scheme at ground and mezzanine 
floor level of the building, there would be a resultant shortfall of 2,313sqm of 
educational floor space compared with the existing situation and FSB would need to 
vacate the building if the scheme were to go ahead.  
 

Page 66



9.7 There would also be a loss of 2,669sqm existing office floor space from the building. 
As set out further below, the site is not located within the Office Retention Area 
designated within the CLP (2018) and there is thus no protection within the Local Plan 
for office floor space within the building. The applicants have stated that the office 
space has been vacant for around 30 months (other than the ground floor on a short 
meanwhile lease) despite being openly marketed to potential occupiers since 2019. In 
this context, it is not considered there is a reasonable prospect at this time of the vacant 
office space being occupied. In this context, there is no objection to the loss of the 
office space however the loss of educational floor space is considered below.  
 

9.8 It should firstly be noted that the building benefits from a flexible planning permission, 
whereby a change of use from the current educational floor space (use class F1, 
formerly use class D1) to an office use (use class E(g)(i), formerly use class B1(a)) 
would be permitted without requiring a further planning permission. The applicant has 
been engaging with FSB since January 2020 and actively assisting them in finding a 
new premises based in Croydon borough including instructing two commercial agents 
to find properties which meet their requirements. Correspondence with FSB has been 
provided by the applicant showing they are looking for a smaller premises than they 
are currently occupying. FSB will be vacating Citylink House in February 2022 and it is 
understood are in the process of agreeing a lease on a new premises in Croydon, 
keeping this valued educational provision in the Borough. FSB have submitted a 
planning application (application reference number 21/05856/FUL) for a change of use 
from offices to educational floor space at Meridian House, 11 Wellesley Road which is 
currently being considered by the Council, demonstrating their intentions to move into 
a smaller premises within the Borough. Whilst some of these matters are outside of 
the control of planning, officers consider that this demonstrates that the applicants 
have made considerable efforts to work with the existing occupiers to retain this 
community facility and educational floor space within the Borough.    
   

9.9 Furthermore, whilst smaller in floor area terms, it is considered the proposed 
community use provided as part of the scheme would offer a viable, high quality unit 
for a variety of future tenants within a highly accessible location. The applicant has 
tested a number of layouts for the space to demonstrate its versatility for different end 
users (with a focus on potential occupiers from the education sector). To accompany 
this, correspondence from local commercial property agents has been provided who 
have advised that the layout and self-contained nature of the space is likely to appeal 
to potential community and commercial occupiers and there is currently good demand 
in Croydon from use class F1 uses including educational providers. Taking all factors 
into account, it is considered that a reduced provision of community floor space as 
proposed would be acceptable and no objection is raised in respect of policy DM19.1 
of the CLP (2018). The future use class of the unit is recommended to be secured by 
condition (within either Use Class F1 (a-g), F2(b), E(e)) to ensure that this is occupied 
by a facility that would be beneficial to the community including for provision of 
education. A further condition/obligation would secure the free fitting-out of this unit for 
the eventual end occupier to ensure the unit is capable of occupation and operation by 
the end user, to increase its market appeal and viability for occupation by a wider 
variety of tenants (policy DM4.3).  
 
Large-scale purpose-built shared living accommodation and need 

9.10 The proposed development comprises mixed uses but is clearly residential-led, with 
shared living proposed alongside traditional residential flats. In terms of housing 
numbers, the site is not allocated and there is thus no specification of the number of 

Page 67



homes which the site would be expected to deliver. However, there is an expectation 
set out within policy SP2 of the CLP (2018) that the Croydon Opportunity Area and 
windfall sites will contribute towards delivery of a substantial numbers of homes. It also 
requires land to be used efficiently and address the need for different types of homes 
in the Borough to contribute to the creation or maintenance of sustainable 
communities. The supporting text within policy H1 of the London Plan (2021) sets out 
how large-scale purpose-built shared living accommodation should count towards 
housing numbers (this is not currently specified within the current Local Plan (2018)). 
It states that units of non-self-contained communal accommodation (such as large-
scale purpose-built shared living) should be counted at a ratio of 1.8:1, when compared 
with traditional Use Class C3 units. On this basis the 498 co-living units would equate 
to 276 Use Class C3 residential homes. This, combined with the provision of 84 Use 
Class C3 affordable homes, would total 360 homes altogether which is considered to 
constitute a significant delivery of new dwellings and contribution towards housing 
numbers in the town centre. The site is in a central location with excellent access to 
public transport, local shops and services and is therefore well placed for a high density 
residential-led mixed-use development.  
 

9.11 Whilst the Croydon Local Plan (2018) is silent on large-scale purpose-built shared 
living accommodation, Policy H16 of the London Plan (2021) recognises the 
contribution this type of housing in general can make towards housing supply. Large-
scale purpose-built shared living is an emerging type of housing, which does not fall 
within a traditional residential use class, but is classed as sui-generis use. Whilst Local 
Plan policy SP2.7 seeks to ensure that a choice of homes is available in the Borough 
that will address the need for homes of different sizes, there is no specific policy 
reference to large-scale purpose-built shared living. There are limited precedents for 
this housing typology in the UK, with only a small number of operators and there are 
currently no space standards for such accommodation.  
 

9.12 For large-scale purpose-built shared living schemes to be supported, London Plan 
policy H16 requires the following criteria to be met (these criteria, along with how the 
scheme complies with these, are discussed in more detail further in the report):   

 
“1) it is of good quality and design  
2) it contributes towards mixed and inclusive neighbourhoods  
3) it is located in an area well-connected to local services and employment by 
walking, cycling and public transport, and its design does not contribute to car 
dependency  
4) it is under single management  
5) its units are all for rent with minimum tenancy lengths of no less than three 
months  
6) communal facilities and services are provided that are sufficient to meet the 
requirements of the intended number of residents and offer at least:  
a) convenient access to a communal kitchen  
b) outside communal amenity space (roof terrace and/or garden)  
c) internal communal amenity space (dining rooms, lounges)  
d) laundry and drying facilities  
e) a concierge 
f) bedding and linen changing and/or room cleaning services.  
7) the private units provide adequate functional living space and layout, and 
are not self-contained homes or capable of being used as self-contained 
homes  

Page 68



8) a management plan is provided with the application  
9) it delivers a cash in lieu contribution towards conventional C3 affordable 
housing. Boroughs should seek this contribution for the provision of new C3 
off-site affordable housing as either an: 
a) upfront cash in lieu payment to the local authority, or  
b) in perpetuity annual payment to the local authority 
10) in both cases developments are expected to provide a contribution that is 
equivalent to 35 per cent of the units, or 50 per cent where the development 
is on public sector land or industrial land appropriate for residential uses in 
accordance with Policy E7 Industrial intensification, co-location and 
substitution, to be provided at a discount of 50 per cent of the market rent. All 
large-scale purpose-built shared living schemes will be subject to the Viability 
Tested Route set out in Policy H5 Threshold approach to applications, 
however, developments which provide a contribution equal to 35 per cent of 
the units at a discount of 50 per cent of the market rent will not be subject to a 
Late Stage Viability Review.” 
 

9.13 Whilst there is a requirement within policy H16 for large scale shared living 
developments to contribute towards mixed and inclusive neighbourhoods, there is no 
current policy requirement to justify a need as such for this typology of housing. 
However, the applicants have produced a housing contribution, need and demand 
study and economic impact assessment to demonstrate the policy requirement can be 
met. This discusses potential benefits of the scheme including the potential for shared 
living units to relieve pressure on the existing conventional housing market. Family 
homes currently being occupied as HMOs could be returned to use as larger homes 
of which there is demand for in the Borough. It further highlights the materially higher 
average rental values in this central part of the Borough than elsewhere and that 
shared living units provide a different offer, estimating that the average net rent levels 
would be accessible to over 60% of full-time working residents in the Borough based 
on average earnings. The report also notes the existence of the College Road large-
scale purpose-built shared living scheme in close proximity (150m to the west), and 
sets out how the proposed scheme could be argued to meet a different need and 
different type of resident, given the more frequent common spaces on each floor for 
daily social interaction with a smaller number of residents, as opposed to larger 
consolidated spaces. Given there is no policy basis for need to be demonstrated, 
officers raise no objection to the assessment presented by the applicant.  

9.14 The site sits within Croydon Metropolitan Centre, outside of designated retail frontage. 
Therefore, in terms of the ground floor uses, the principle of a community/educational 
use (limited uses within Classes F1/F2/E) on the ground/mezzanine floor of the 
shoulder block is acceptable as well as the important function of partially re-providing 
the lost community floor space currently on the site (as discussed above). A public café 
(Use Class E(b)) and large-scale purpose-built shared living reception and resident 
hub in the ground floor of the tower (Sui-generis use) is also supported, activating the 
ground floor frontage of this important public route.  

9.15 Policy DM4.3 of the CLP (2018) seeks to prevent ground floor units outside main and 
secondary frontages remaining empty, which is applicable to this site. Whilst specific 
end users have not yet been identified for the ground floor units, the applicant will be 
required to market the units and provide fitting out for the eventual end occupier to 
ensure the unit is capable of occupation and operation. This is to be secured within a 
s.106 agreement. Overall the proposed ground floor uses are considered to 

Page 69



complement the surrounding character and activate the ground floor of this key site in 
close proximity to East Croydon Station.   

9.16 Taking into account the above matters, it is considered that the erection of a high 
density residential focussed development within a tall building, incorporating publicly 
accessible commercial uses on part of the lower floors would be acceptable in 
principle, subject to compliance with the other policies including meeting the criteria of 
London Plan policy H16.  

 Housing Quality for Future Occupiers   
 

Large-scale purpose-built shared living 

9.17 Large-scale purpose-built shared living is a sui-generis use and therefore not required 
to meet the minimum floor space standards as required for traditional C3 Use Class 
homes. As noted earlier in the report, there are currently no specific standards for this 
type of housing product, in terms of the units themselves nor the amenity areas. Policy 
H16 of the London Plan (2021) does however set out some provisions for considering 
quality which officers have assessed the scheme against.  

 Unit sizes  
9.18 Part 7 of this policy states that whilst units must provide adequate functional living 

space and layout, they must also demonstrably not be self-contained homes nor be 
capable of being used as such – to remain distinct from traditional C3 Use Class 
residential accommodation.  

9.19 Officers have worked with the applicant to ensure the sizes and layouts of the large-
scale purpose-built shared living units strike the appropriate balance. The proposed 
unit sizes are generally larger than would normally be seen in other shared living 
developments, where rooms are more comparable in terms of size and quality to 
student accommodation. For example rooms in developments operated by the 
Collective are typically 11-16sqm. The proposed room sizes would range between 20-
30sqm, with an average of 22sqm. This range has been informed by the applicant’s 
research into other shared living developments both consented and in operation. 
Whilst there are no set size standards, this is considered to constitute an appropriate 
middle ground between the size of a room within a typical House in Multiple Occupation  
(the Council’s HMO standards seek a single bedroom of 10sqm) and to the size of a 
typical C3 Use Class residential studio unit (37sqm) and the ratio of person to area. 
The proposed unit sizes are also comparable to those within the College Tower shared 
living development.  

Page 70



 

Image 5: Sketch images of 4 different layout types proposed for shared living units 
 

9.20 Four different types of unit size and layout would be available across each floor, 
maximising the choice for residents and enabling a more mixed community. Each unit 
would be fully furnished with integrated and adaptable storage (approx. 3sqm per unit), 
including a small kitchenette and en-suite bathroom. It is important to note that the 
kitchenettes would have limited cooking and food preparation facilities, ensuring the 
shared kitchen and dining facilities external to the unit are the primary amenities for 
residents (this is discussed further below). It is also important to note for clarification 
that each unit is to be occupied by a single person and the proposed floor space and 
facilities are provided to meet the requirements of one person occupying the space.  

9.21 Whilst there are no specific accessibility standards for co-living accommodation, there 
is level and lift access to all floors and all communal areas alongside provision of two 
wheelchair accessible units per floor (making up 10% of the overall units), which will 
be secured by condition.   

9.22 The proposed units are considered to be of good quality and are functional in terms of 
size and layout, whilst remaining dependent on the communal facilities for primary 
living functions. Therefore officers are of the view the units are not self-contained 
homes nor are capable of being used as such. 

 Communal spaces  
9.23 The second critical element (part 6 of the policy) is the amount, quality and 

arrangement of the shared communal areas in the scheme. There are no prescribed 
standards for the size or specification of communal facilities and services for shared 
living accommodation, nor for external amenity space. However London Plan policy 
H16 requires these to be sufficient to meet the requirements of the intended number 
of residents, and offer at least: 

a) Convenient access to a communal kitchen 

b) Outside communal amenity space (roof terrace and/or garden)  

c) Internal communal amenity space (dining rooms, lounges) 

Page 71



d) Laundry and drying facilities 

e) A concierge 

f) Bedding and linen changing and/or room cleaning services  

9.24 Officers have also assessed the above in terms of the likely success in enabling and 
encouraging social interaction between residents, which is a key part of this housing 
typology, and to mitigate for the smaller sizes of the shared living units (relative to C3 
Use Class homes).  

9.25 Commonly, the approach to other shared living developments in operation (or those 
consented) is to offer amenity in the form of kitchens or lounges for residents on 
multiple floors throughout the building. The applicants have carried out extensive 
research into shared living and similar housing typologies both in the UK and 
internationally. This has also included taking advice from Studio Weave who have 
carried out extensive research into shared living as an alternative model for housing, 
who have input into the design and layout of the scheme. Advice has also been taken 
from CRM (Corporate Residential Management Limited), a UK property management 
company who are partnering with the developer and operator (Fifth State) to run and 
manage the building, who have extensive experience in managing a range of 
accommodation types across the UK and Europe (managing approx. 22,000 units), 
including shared living developments.  

9.26 The layouts and provision of communal amenity have been informed as a result of this 
research into success of other schemes in operation, input from experienced parties 
together with the desire of Fifth State as the operator and developer to provide a social 
environment for residents to build a community and develop a sense of ownership. The 
resultant proposed communal amenity space is split into the following (internal amenity 
spaces shown blue in the below visual, external amenity spaces shown green):  

 Ground floor: Reception and resident hub/lounge  
 Mezzanine: Co-working and lounge space 
 Levels 1-12: Resident amenity spaces comprising kitchen, dining and lounge space 

   with balcony  
 Level 13:  Amenity floor comprising kitchen and dining spaces, gym, spa, yoga 

   studio, laundry/games room, cinema and an external roof terrace 
 Level 14:   Well-being room and adjoining external roof terrace 
 Levels 15-26: Resident amenity spaces comprising kitchen, dining and lounge space 

   with balcony 
 Level 27:  Lounge, games and event space, external roof terrace 

 

Page 72



Image 6: Distribution of amenity in Tower Building A 

Communal spaces Size (sqm) 

Residents Hub and reception 293sqm 

Co-working and mezzanine lounge 293sqm 

Communal kitchen/dining on each level (total) 1,092sqm 

Communal outdoor terrace on each level 
(total) 

144sqm 

Level 13 communal kitchen/dining 356sqm 

Level 13 outdoor terrace 145sqm 

Spa 47sqm 

Gym 80sqm 

Yoga/Studio 44sqm 

Laundry and games 46sqm 

Cinema 45sqm 

Level 14 outdoor terrace 106sqm 

Well-being room 77sqm 

Lounge, games and event space 249sqm 

Level 27 outdoor terrace 78sqm 

Total 3,095sqm 

Table 1: amount of different types of internal and external amenity 

9.27 Each floor would therefore incorporate a communal amenity space for residents (with 
cooking and dining facilities as well as lounge space). These are intended to be more 
intimate spaces that smaller groups of residents can enjoy and to encourage 
interaction and sociability between neighbours on each individual floor. These areas 
are then complemented by larger communal spaces incorporating a range of different 
amenity functions (with a focus on cooking and dining as is directed by policy H16) 
provided at ground/mezzanine level, mid-way through the building on level 13/14 and 
at the top of the building on level 27. These spaces provide essential facilities such as 
the laundry as well as a variety of other types of social spaces and communal areas 
including a gym, co-working spaces, cinema and well-being room. The composition 
and function of these spaces have also been informed by research and questionnaires 
carried out by CRM and Fifth State for residents across the building to congregate, 
cook and interact together. Circulation spaces and corridor widths on each floor have 
been maximised where feasible to encourage social interaction and windows provided 
where possible to provide natural light. Officers consider the capacity of community 
spaces to accommodate residents at peak times has been adequately evidenced.  

Page 73



 

Image 7: typical shared living floor plan – levels 1-8 

9.28 “Convenient access to a communal kitchen” is a key requirement of policy H16. To 
focus on catering facilities specifically, the scheme would provide 1,448sqm of 
communal catering facilities with 126 communal cooking stations (110 providing both 
a hob and oven), equating to 2.9sqm per person (note this does not include the 
kitchenette facilities within each room or the public café at ground floor level which will 
also provide a food and beverage option) in a variety of different dining options 
including shared kitchens on the floors throughout the building, larger centralised 
kitchen spaces and hireable banqueting rooms and cooking/dining areas. For 
comparison against a consented scheme, table2 below sets out the scheme compared 
to the College Tower shared living scheme. The applicant has done a lot of work on 
the catering capacity of the scheme and it has been increased during the course of the 
application. Whilst 25% of occupants are able to cook independently at any one time, 
this must be considered in the context of not all occupants needing to cook at the same 
time, occupiers eating out (or in the café) and the ability to use a kitchenette in their 
own rooms. The applicant has evidenced with calculations that there are enough 
covers to accommodate all residents in the catering spaces at peak times, subject to 
staggered use throughout the day. For example, all residents would be able to cook 
and eat their evening meal in the communal spaces by staggering use into 6 x 45 
minute blocks over the peak evening time, with 83 residents cooking and eating in each 
block. Convenient access to the communal kitchens has been demonstrated through 
analysis of lift capacities and maximum travel times for residents to catering facilities 
(noting also that travel times for residents from their unit to the communal spaces on 
their floor would be minimal).  

9.29 In terms of external amenity spaces (which is a policy H16 requirement, although not 
a prescriptive amount), the communal amenity space on each floor would have a 
southern outlook with an outdoor balcony.  In addition, there are three larger terraces 
providing external amenity space at levels 13, 14 and 27 directly adjoining the internal 
communal amenity areas. This is considered to be of acceptable quality and meet the 
policy requirement objective.  

9.30 In terms of the overall amounts of amenity, as discussed above the applicants have 
utilised input from both Studio Weave and CRM and their experience with shared living 
and operation of managed buildings as well as a comparison of the amount of amenity 

Page 74



space provided within other shared living developments to justify the overall amount 
and level per person. This includes comparison with the College Tower shared living 
scheme consented in October 2020. It should be noted that the approach to provision 
of communal amenity space is distinct from the College Tower shared living scheme. 
The main difference is the provision within the Citylink House proposed scheme for 
amenity spaces (including catering) spread throughout the building, as opposed to 
solely at the top and bottom of the tower as was consented in the College Tower 
development. This case differs in that the potential future operators of the building (Fifth 
State and CRM) are on board at application stage and are putting the proposals 
forward, taking a different approach based on their own research and knowledge and 
living experience that they want to deliver for residents. Officers are supportive in 
principle of this provision of a different shared living offer given the relative close 
proximity of the two schemes in the Borough, and particularly that this scheme provides 
proportionally more communal amenity space for future residents, as represented 
below: 

 Citylink House scheme (498 
units) 

College Road scheme (817 
units) 

Total communal 
cooking/dining area per 

person 

2.9sqm 1.7sqm 

Total communal 
cooking/dining area in sqm 

1,448sqm 1,325sqm 

Cooking capacity - total 
number of kitchen stations 

110 130 

Dining capacity - total 
number of dining seats 

330 seats (equating to 1.5 
per person) 

363 seats (equating to 0.4 
per person) 

Total communal external 
amenity space per person 

0.9sqm 0.7sqm 

Total amount of communal 
amenity space (internal and 

external) 

3,095sqm (equating to 
6.25sqm per person) 

3,016sqm (equating to 
3.7sqm per person) 

Table 2: amenity space comparisons with College Tower scheme 

9.31 Notwithstanding the above, given shared living is a relatively new housing typology 
with limited examples in operation presently, some reservations remain as to the 
adequacy of the amenity spaces provided, including the variety and arrangement of 
spaces in terms of supporting a diverse and mixed community in future, embedded in 
Croydon as a place. This is why the quality of the management plan for the building 
(as required by policy H16 of the London Plan) setting out the full picture of the use 
and day to day functioning of the development will be critical to ensure the future 
success of the scheme and that it operates as intended as a shared living scheme. 
Whilst an initial management plan has been provided with the application, officers 
consider it necessary for an updated management plan to be submitted prior to 
occupation to ensure it is fit for purpose at that time (secured through the s.106 
agreement). This should also finalise the uses of each amenity area within the building, 
to ensure that a variety of uses (with predominant focus on cooking and dining as 
directed by the policy) is being provided for residents’ needs. Whilst Fifth State and 

Page 75



CRM will potentially be the future operators in partnership, final confirmation of the 
future building operator will be secured through the s.106 agreement.  

9.32 Overall, in the absence of space or quality standards for this typology, officers are 
satisfied that the location, size and arrangement of the communal spaces strike the 
appropriate balance between future occupier amenity and management/maintenance 
pressures for the future operator. In terms of location, officers see this spread of 
amenity throughout the building as a benefit to the scheme. Spaces on each floor 
would minimise travel times and offer convenience for residents when they are wanting 
to cook/dine throughout the day, as well as offering both smaller informal spaces to 
socialise with neighbours on their floor and larger centralised areas promoting 
formation of a community across the whole building.  Further to engagement with the 
GLA and the LPA the applicant has provided additional kitchen stations and further 
analysis of capacity of the amenity spaces to cater for the amount of future occupants. 
The quality of the shared living accommodation is considered acceptable, subject to 
compliance with the management plan. 

 Other H16 requirements  
9.33 The scheme is of good quality and design as covered above and contributes to mixed 

and inclusive neighbourhoods. The site is located in an area well connected to local 
services and employment by walking, cycling and public transport and its design does 
not contribute to car dependency. The proposed number of units per core (20) would 
be high, but given that shared living is not C3 Use Class accommodation (the 
standards set by the GLA, generally 8 per core, would therefore not apply) and the 
development has a fire safety strategy taking into account this number of units (covered 
below) and fire risk management strategies. Floor to ceiling heights would be 
appropriate, providing adequate standards in terms of ventilation and overheating. A 
concierge, along with bedding and room cleaning facilities are to be provided for 
residents, which is to be secured in the management plan. 

9.34 The scheme would be under single management (secured through conditions and 
s.106 agreement) and the shared living units would be for rent with minimum tenancy 
lengths of no less than 3 months (secured through s.106 agreement).  A management 
plan was submitted with the application and securing Fifth State and CRM as the 
manager and operator is required within the s.106 agreement, as well as provision for 
detail on the finalised management plan and operation of the accommodation to be 
required prior to occupation as discussed above.  

9.35 The overall internal amenity for the shared living units when combining both the floor 
space of the units and the communal space averages out as 28.3sqm per person 
across the whole building. This compares favourably with the Nationally Described 
Space Standards (NDSS) requirement; with the exception of 1 bedroom homes that 
demand 37sqm and 39sqm per person, this exceeds the space per person from 2 
bedroom homes and larger (25sqm per person for a 1B2P and 20.3sqm for a 2B3P).     

9.36 Whilst officers are satisfied that the accommodation provided would constitute shared 
living to an appropriate standard, given this is a new typology the applicant has 
provided layout plans to show how the floor plates could be converted to C3 residential 
flats. This is a matter which was raised by Members at pre-application stage. Whilst a 
conversion would require planning permission, the applicants have demonstrated that 
the layout could be changed into NDSS compliant C3 Use Class flats without having 
to re-configure or re-service the entire building. This added safeguard is supported.  

Page 76



 

Image 8: potential C3 Use Class conversion of Tower A floor plate 

9.37 The applicant has provided a strategy for operation of the building in a COVID-19 
scenario, which was also a query raised by Members at pre-application stage. 
Dedicated co-working areas and more informal opportunities for desk based working 
are proposed within the scheme which would support increased levels of working from 
home if mandated. It has been demonstrated that social distancing on the main 
communal amenity floor (level 13) could be input if required, including one way systems 
through the corridors and 2m separation distances between facilities (for example in 
the gym and cooking areas) to maintain safe spacing. Access to communal areas can 
be controlled through an ‘app’, which can also show the number of people using an 
area at one time which would be useful for residents. Whilst these measures would 
inevitably reduce availability of facilities for residents in the short term, it is considered 
there is sufficient capacity built into the scheme to accommodate this, in addition to the 
facilities and floor space provided within each resident’s own unit. 

 

Image 9: Example of how the amenity floors of the building could operate in a COVID-19 scenario 

 C3 Use Class residential accommodation in Shoulder Building B 

Page 77



9.38 All of the proposed new units would comply with the internal dimensions required by 
the NDSS and would have acceptable layouts and room sizes. Each unit would benefit 
from an external balcony providing an area of private amenity space. The scheme has 
been designed to ensure accessibility and inclusivity, with level access and accessible 
lifts provided. The proposal would exceed the requirement of 10% of units (14 in total) 
to be wheelchair accessible M4(3) and all others can meet the requirements of M4(2), 
which is to be secured by condition. 

9.39 External communal space and child play space is limited to the roof garden at level 13, 
which would have a total area of 394sqm. 64sqm can be provided as child play space. 
It is not feasible to provide any other external space due to the limited site footprint. 

9.40 The proposal generates a requirement for 147.1sqm of play space, of which 78sqm 
should be for under 5’s. The 64sqm provided would be within the communal roof area 
as this is as close to the units as possible, and is the only feasible way this could be 
provided within a relatively constrained site. A condition is recommended to control the 
specific details. This leaves a shortfall of 83.1sqm overall, which cannot be 
accommodated on site (given the type of play equipment which would be required, and 
allowing for 330sqm of communal amenity space). The applicant has agreed to provide 
a financial contribution, based on the costs of equipping an area of approximately 
83.1sqm with suitable equipment and including an allowance for future maintenance. 
Given the site constraints, along with the proximity to the Fair Field which is envisaged 
to incorporate some play elements, it is considered this is an acceptable approach in 
this instance to make up for the shortfall of on-site play equipment.  

Designing out crime 
 

9.41 Policy requires that development proposals should contribute to the minimisation of 
potential risks, and development should include measures to design out crime that, in 
proportion to the risk, deter terrorism, assist in the detection of terrorist activity and 
help defer its effects. The Croydon SPD No. 3: Designing for Community Safety sets 
out guidance for minimising risk, including maximising natural surveillance; creating 
spaces which foster a sense of ownership; activity levels; and management and 
maintenance provisions. 

9.42 Engagement with the Metropolitan Police Designing out Crime officers has taken place 
during the course of the application. In response to concerns raised, particularly arising 
from the shared living element, amendments and a detailed response have been 
received which has addressed many of the queries raised. Illustrative plans have been 
provided incorporating potential crime prevention measures in the public realm e.g. 
gate, fencing and planting around the cycle lift on the eastern side of the building and 
gates to the rear parking area. Full consideration of these measures in terms of security 
but also implications for wind mitigation, retention of the valued trees on Addiscombe 
Grove and street scene appearance will require further discussion and resolution post 
determination through condition. A condition is recommended to capture this and 
require the applicant to address these matters post determination, along with a 
requirement to continue engagement with the MPS prior to occupation and discuss 
Secured by Design accreditation.   

Daylight and outlook for future occupiers 
 
9.43 A daylight and sunlight assessment has been provided to assess the living conditions 

of future occupiers. See Appendix 1 for Daylight and Sunlight BRE Guidance terms.  

Page 78



 Shared living 
9.44 It must be noted that shared living as a sui-generis housing typology is not strictly 

subject to the guidelines for access to daylight and sunlight as traditional C3 Use Class 
homes. The units are defined as non-self-contained, and as such residents are not 
dependent on the unit for their sole living area and would utilise the communal internal 
and external areas as an extension to their home. Notwithstanding this, to ensure 
quality of accommodation, each shared living unit on the first floor (lowest residential 
floor) was tested for Average Daylight Factor (ADF) to understand daylight penetration 
into the rooms. Rooms above this were not tested on the assumption that the rooms 
on the lowest residential floor would represent the worst-case scenario, which is 
considered an appropriate approach. Testing for daylight is of particular importance 
given that there are north facing single aspect shared living homes adjacent to the NLA 
Tower. All shared living homes on the first floor would meet BRE standards for ADF, 
indicating acceptable levels of daylight would be achieved. Whilst the units have been 
tested as bedrooms (it is considered these should have been assessed as living rooms 
which have a higher standard), all units would achieve a minimum 2% ADF anyway 
exceeding the standards for a living room. This includes the resident level amenity 
space which would achieve 2.18% ADF which is important given this would be used 
as a kitchen and lounge area. Whilst there are some north facing shared living units 
and those which would face towards the NLA Tower and the Pocket Living scheme to 
the east, the daylighting into the units has been demonstrated to be acceptable. 

 C3 Use Class accommodation 
9.45 In terms of the C3 Use Class units, generally the corner units and central unit on each 

floor are dual aspect. The south facing flats have unrestricted outlook, leaving 1 single 
aspect north facing unit on each floor (12 units in total out of 84, or 14% in total). As 
with the shared living units, each room on the first floor has been tested for ADF on the 
assumption that this represents the worst-case scenario. All rooms tested would meet 
the requirements for ADF, indicating adequate daylight penetration into the rooms. 
Those receiving the least daylight would be two east facing bedrooms facing the 
Pocket Living scheme, and a north facing bedroom which fronts onto a balcony. 
However all 3 bedrooms still exceed the 1% ADF target.  

 

Image 10: C3 layout and rooms tested for daylight levels 

Page 79



9.46 Overall there are good levels of internal daylight demonstrated through the 
development, and during the course of application discussions the number of north 
facing units across the scheme has been minimised. It is considered that the daylight 
and sunlight levels afforded to future occupiers of this development would be 
acceptable. 

9.47 Whilst outlook for the proposed units would generally be unrestricted to the south, 
some units would experience a more reduced outlook to the north and east due to the 
relationship with surrounding buildings. This is expected to a degree in an urban town 
centre location such as this and should not unduly restrict development. Where 
acceptable levels of daylight are achieved and the siting of the NLA Tower and Pocket 
building would only affect a proportion of units with adequate separation distances, the 
levels of outlook are considered to be acceptable for future occupiers.  

Fire safety 

9.48 Although fire safety is predominantly a building regulations issue, policy D12 of the 
London Plan 2021 requires developments to achieve the highest standards of fire 
safety for all building users. The policy sets out a number of requirements, with the 
submission of a Fire Statement (an independent fire strategy produced by a third party 
suitably qualified assessor) setting out how the development has been designed and 
will function to minimise fire risk. Discussion surrounding the fire safety proposals have 
taken place during the course of the application, with officers seeking to ensure this is 
suitably robust and tailored to this specific type of development whilst also 
acknowledging the role of Building Regulations in fire safety and that detailed design 
(in discussion with LFB) is yet to take place for some fire safety measures. Given the 
sui-generis use class of the shared living accommodation and lack of other precedents 
for large scale purpose built accommodation such as this, it has been acknowledged 
that a hybrid approach to fire risk management would be appropriate to support defend 
in place, phased or simultaneous evacuation of the building if necessary. The 
applicants have confirmed an evacuation alert system and PA/voice alarm system will 
be provided to facilitate this, and have confirmed stair widths have sufficient capacity 
if evacuation was required. This must be provided, with details how this will be 
managed during operation of the building to be clarified at condition stage. The 
applicants have also committed to providing smoke ventilation within the common 
corridor which will clear any smoke which enters the corridor, which is welcomed. It is 
considered the submitted details are sufficient to address, at this stage, the 
development’s fire safety implications from a planning perspective. To address some 
concerns with the location and management of the cooking facilities within the 
individual units (to ensure that, in the event of a fire, safe means of escape is provided 
given their siting adjacent to the exit) the applicants have committed to providing a hob 
suppression system in each unit (which would also be able to cut power to the cooking 
area in each unit) to mitigate this. This must be provided, along with the smoke 
ventilation system for the common corridors as specified to achieve the highest 
standards of fire safety in accordance with the London Plan policy requirements. The 
development should comply with the fire statement and addendum as an approved 
document, with a condition recommended to secure full details of fire safety measures 
once the next stage of design work is complete, including materials and construction 
methods, evacuation points and any requirements incorporated as a result of 
discussions with the London Fire Brigade (e.g. specific locations for fire appliance 
access points and wet riser outlet locations).   

 Affordable Housing, Mix and Density 

Page 80



 Affordable housing 

9.49 The CLP (2018) states that to deliver affordable Class C3 housing in the Borough on 
sites of ten or more dwellings, the Council will negotiate to achieve up to 50% 
affordable housing, subject to viability and will seek a 60:40 ratio between affordable 
rented homes and intermediate (including shared ownership) homes unless there is 
an agreement with a Registered Provider that a different tenure split is justified. The 
London Plan (2021) sets a strategic target of 50%, but allows lower provision to be 
provided dependent on whether it meets/exceeds certain thresholds, or when it has 
been viability tested. It should be noted that as the London Plan (2021) was adopted 
after the Croydon Local Plan (2018), where there is a policy difference, then the most 
recently adopted policy should take precedent.  

9.50 Policy H6 of the London Plan (2021) requires developments to provide 30% as low 
cost rented homes, either as London Affordable Rent or Social rent, allocated 
according to need and for Londoners on low incomes, 30% as intermediate products 
which includes London Living Rent and London Shared Ownership, with the remaining 
40% to be determined by the borough. 

9.51 In terms of shared living, the above policies would not apply as the use class is sui-
generis and not C3 Use Class. The only policy covering purpose-built shared living 
schemes is policy H16 of the London Plan (2021), which requires delivery of a cash in 
lieu contribution towards conventional C3 Use Class affordable housing. This is 
because C3 Use Class standards do not apply to shared living and a requirement of 
registered providers is for homes to meet the national space standards, which they do 
not. The policy directs that this should be sought either as an upfront cash in lieu 
payment to the Local Planning Authority (LPA), or by way of an in perpetuity annual 
payment to the LPA. In both cases the contribution provided is expected to be the 
equivalent of 35% of the units (to be provided at a discount of 50% of the market rent). 
This envisages the scenario that a scheme is entirely for shared living.   

9.52 A key benefit of this scheme is that traditional affordable C3 Use Class residential 
accommodation can be delivered on site, as opposed to a cash in lieu payment towards 
off site delivery, which would be the case for a wholly shared living scheme. The 498 
shared living units within the tower cannot be secured as affordable housing. However 
the entirety of Shoulder Building B (84 units) would be provided as C3 Use Class 
affordable housing, equating to 30.8% by habitable room across both towers (on the 
basis of one shared living unit equating to one habitable room). This would be entirely 
of intermediate tenure, split between 30% London Living Rent and 70% London 
Shared Ownership. The application was subject to a viability appraisal, which was 
scrutinised independently for the LPA. The results of the appraisal review and testing 
is that there would be a significant viability deficit, even with the 30.8% offered. It is 
also important to note that the developer has engaged with Registered Providers and 
Metropolitan Thames Valley Housing have confirmed their support for the scheme and 
the mix, which is to be encouraged.     

9.53 The proposed affordable housing offer is therefore considered the maximum 
reasonable, providing 57 London Shared Ownership homes and 27 London Living 
Rent homes with a mix of sizes including family homes, alongside 498 homes for 
shared living, catering to a different need within the housing market suitable for this 
highly sustainable location. No additional affordable housing (in percentage or 
affordable rented terms) could be viably provided, and early stage and late stage 
review mechanisms are recommended for inclusion within the s.106 agreement to 

Page 81



account for any potential uplift.  Taking this into account, and that the delivery of on-
site affordable housing in a shared living scheme is considered to be beneficial 
compared to the requirement solely for a financial contribution contained within policy 
H16, the level of affordable housing is accepted.  

Mix of accommodation 
 
9.54 Policy SP2.7 seeks to ensure that a choice of homes is available to address the 

borough’s need for homes of different sizes and that this will be achieved by setting a 
strategic target for 30% of all new homes up to 2036 to have three or more bedrooms. 
Policy DM1.1 requires a minimum provision of homes designed with 3 or more 
bedrooms on sites of 10 or more dwellings. In central settings with high PTAL ratings, 
the requirement is 20% of units to have 3 bedrooms or more (a minimum of 5% in 
Retail Core Area of the Croydon Opportunity Area and 10% in ‘New Town’ and East 
Croydon as defined by the Opportunity Area Planning Framework). The exceptions to 
compliance with this policy as set out within DM1.1 is if there is agreement with an 
associated affordable housing provider that three or more bedroom dwellings are 
neither viable nor needed as part of the affordable housing element of any proposal.  

9.55 The C3 Use Class accommodation comprises of 40 x 1b2p homes, 10 x 2b3p homes, 
24 x 2b4p homes and 10 x 3b5p. Therefore 12% of the C3 Use Class residential units 
are three bedroom units, which would fall below the associated policy requirement. 
However in this particular case the applicant is working with an affordable housing 
provider, Metropolitan Thames Valley Housing, to deliver the affordable homes who 
have confirmed their support for the scheme including for the proposed unit mix in this 
location. It is considered this would meet the requirement of part (a) policy DM1.1. 
Additionally the site is on the very edge of the ‘New Town’ and East Croydon area as 
defined by the OAPF (where the requirement for three bedroom homes would be 10%) 
and the scheme has a significant viability deficit which could potentially be worsened 
with an associated reduction in affordable housing if further three bed units were 
required in the scheme. In this context, and that the scheme would still result in the 
delivery of 10 good quality affordable three bedroom homes in a highly accessible 
location, it is considered the C3 Use Class housing mix can be supported.  

9.56 As the shared living element is sui-generis Policy DM1.1 does not apply. The scheme 
would deliver a large number of high quality shared living units which are to be 
occupied by single persons. Overall, officers are satisfied with the unit mix provided 
within the scheme.  

Townscape and Visual Impact  

Massing and townscape 
9.57 The proposed scheme is for a part 28, part 14 storey building in a stepped form. The 

approach to utilising the western half of the site for the 28 storey tower is considered 
appropriate, providing more relief from surrounding buildings including the NLA tower, 
reduced impact on adjoining occupiers and with direct views from East Croydon 
Station. This also fits with the general upward gradient in the heights of buildings from 
east to west as you move towards the taller cluster of buildings surrounding East 
Croydon Station as the below image shows.  

 

Page 82



 
Image 11: contextual elevation looking north showing development east and west of the site 

9.58 The massing of the building has been rigorously tested in terms of its townscape 
impact. Initial concerns were raised by officers regarding the height, in particular of the 
Shoulder Building B. Emerging schemes in the Edge Area surrounding the site are 
commonly defined by a tower and shoulder form with shoulder heights ranging from 6-
9 storeys, which are generally successful in transitioning from the taller townscape 
scales surrounding East Croydon to the lower rise buildings to the south which range 
from 2-5 storeys. This also related to the perceived bulk of the building in north/south 
views and the potential for detraction from the slenderness of the taller tower. However, 
design work has taken place over the course of pre-application discussions to 
introduce a slipped ‘Z-like’ form to break up the bulk of the tower. Another key change 
has been a reduction in width of the shoulder block on the eastern side. This has 
helped reduce the visual bulk particularly in long views from the south where the edge 
of the NLA Tower is revealed and a more balanced overall width with the taller 28 
storey element taking prominence is achieved. Whilst the height would be greater than 
the NLA Tower, the design of the crown has also been developed to become a more 
lightweight element retaining prominence of and contrast with the more solid form and 
landmark status of the NLA Tower in longer views. Balanced against the provision of 
affordable C3 Use Class housing within the shoulder block and acceptable impact on 
the microclimate surrounding the site, the massing is considered acceptable.   

Page 83



 

Image 12: CGI from Addiscombe Road looking south west showing proposed scheme 

Elevational Design 
9.59 The design approach is focussed on incorporating the Croydon context and mid-

century heritage which is supported in principle. Particular inspiration has been taken 
from the faceted 3-dimensional form of the NLA tower and other post-war buildings in 
the town centre to create subtle woven forms within the façade which articulate a 
uniform grid, reflective of the internal layout arrangement. It is considered this 
approach works well on both a micro and macro scale in short and long range views.  

 

Image 13: typical bay showing weave design 

Page 84



9.60 Officers have worked extensively with the applicant to ensure the ‘weave’ is articulated 
robustly on the façade both in form and materiality, and is distinct from surrounding 
design approaches to give the building its own identity, particularly being in such close 
proximity to the NLA Tower. This has also been in response to feedback from the PRP 
and Members at the Pre-application Planning Committee presentation. This work has 
predominantly included testing of both horizontal and vertical weave patterns of 
differing size and thickness, use of colour and differing articulations of the building 
frame and corners. This has resulted in the current woven architectural approach, 
which officers consider to be of high quality. The design is considered to be successful 
in terms of achieving a highly detailed and sculptural façade with a strong identity that 
nods to Croydon heritage, whilst also being sensitive to the bold form and expression 
of the NLA Tower which it remains subservient to and does not seek to compete with.  

 

Images 14 and 15: elevations showing composition and design rationale for both buildings  

9.61 The proposal has a strong repetitive vertical appearance which serves to increase the 
slenderness of the taller tower element in particular. This is emphasised further by the 
proportions of the base, body and cap elements of the building as shown above. The 
two storey base of the building increases the presence of the building at ground floor 
level and reflects the scale of the tower above. The cap is a continuation of the grid 
pattern below with a more open lightweight form, incorporating a taller band around 
the top which comprises an amenity floor. Decorative geometric patterned pre-cast 
panels on parts of the façade are also utilised to articulate areas with no windows and 
integrate them with the rest of the building. The two towers are differentiated using the 
stepped orthogonal form and with a subtle change in material colour (white pre-cast 
concrete for the tower and grey pre-cast concrete for the shoulder) to give each its own 
identity whilst appearing as two conjoined forms. Overall officers consider the 
proposed elevational design to be appropriate. Given the complex nature of the weave 
pattern and the importance of this being achieved as shown to the overall success of 
the scheme, a robust set of conditions are recommended to secure key detailing, 
junctions, fenestration and finishes.  

Materiality 

Page 85



9.62 The materiality is a palette comprising interlocking pre-cast concrete panels. This has 
been inspired by post-war architecture and chosen to successfully express the weaved 
form of the building whilst providing a clean and simplified appearance which does not 
compete with it. Given the intricate faceted nature of the façade, officers consider this 
to be acceptable material palette. However the particular tones, texture and quality of 
both pre-cast concrete types for each tower, coupled with the junction and fenestration 
detailing as referred to above, will be absolutely critical to successful delivery of the 
architectural approach. This will also be important with respect to the interaction and 
contrast with the NLA Tower, as it is important that the building remains respectful and 
subservient to it.  

9.63 Officers have highlighted the importance of junction and fenestration detailing in 
dealing with rainwater effectively (particularly on the northern façade) to avoid the 
potential for undesirable staining in the recessed parts of the weave over time. Some 
alternative material testing (for example with terracotta) has been carried out by the 
applicant team which has demonstrated that concrete appears to be the best option to 
deliver the woven form on the façade. Drawings of initial sill detailing have also been 
provided by the applicant team which have given some degree of reassurance to 
officers, however a detailed set of conditions are recommended to continue this work 
post-determination. 

 

Image 16: proposed materials 

Layout and Public realm 
9.64 An important element of the delivery of this scheme is the public realm adjacent to the 

site, given the building extends largely to the site boundaries (other than on the eastern 
side). This in particular relates to the northern footway, which will function as a busy 
pedestrian route between East Croydon station and the site, and the Pocket Living 
homes to the east of the site and others beyond, once occupied.  
 

9.65 The applicant has committed as part of the development to infill the underused 
pedestrian underpass on Addiscombe Road (subject to formal approval under Section 
247 of the TCPA (1990) which the applicant will need to pursue) including the removal 
of ramps on the corner of Altyre Road. This will make significant difference to the 
experience of the public realm in this area as well as facilitate greater volume and 
efficiency of pedestrian flows in, out and through the area. Other works on highways 
land include trees and planting (exact locations to be agreed at detailed design stage), 
as well as delivery of part of the cycle lane which runs to the north of the site (along 
Addiscombe Road) and raised table over Altyre Road (as envisaged in the Council’s 
future Masterplan for the East Croydon area). During the course of the application, the 
width of the shoulder block was decreased to retain the three prominent trees to the 
east of the site, which has provided some relief on the Addiscombe Grove side as well 

Page 86



as retaining the trees which contribute positively to the visual amenity of the street 
scene.  
 

 

Image 17: proposed block plan 

9.66 Within the applicant’s site boundaries, trees and planters are proposed to the north of 
the building including some seating and cycle stands. Whilst this is developing in a 
positive manner and the inclusion of these elements is principally acceptable with a 
minimum pavement width of 2.4m currently proposed, officers have stressed the 
importance of and have challenged the applicants to make the northern footway route 
as wide and visually accessible as possible for a high quality route experiencing high 
future footfall, and making this as active as possible to ease access through and 
improve legibility. This is important given the introduction of the future cycle lane 
adjacent to the path to ensure pedestrians of all abilities can use the footway safely 
and efficiently. Work on this should continue at condition stage, including consideration 
of the optimal location and size of trees in the public realm, location, form and size of 
the proposed planters and their relationship to the entrances, and the most suitable 
locations for the seating and cycle stands. This is to ensure that these elements 
contribute positively to the public realm rather than limit use of it.  

 
9.67 To support the functioning of the public realm, a double height space and active 

frontages are being implemented with a community/educational use proposed at the 
eastern end of the building. A public café use is proposed to the western end of the 
building, providing public access into the building. Further discussions regarding the 
specific end users of the units will be held during condition discharge to ensure they 
are appropriate. Public access to rooftop level once a year is further being secured 
through the s.106 agreement to maximise public benefit and comply with our tall 
building policy. In addition, the entrance lobby and residents hub are located to the 
centre for maximum activation along the whole route.  

9.68 There is good potential for a significant piece(s) of public art to be incorporated at the 
base of the building, where the applicant is proposing to deliver it. This will help to 
elevate and activate the double height base of the building which will become a key 
part of a busy pedestrianised route, plus also creates an opportunity to provide a sense 

Page 87



of place and further root the building into its locale in Croydon. Whilst the base has 
been identified as the most impactful location for art to be incorporated, the actual 
location or type of intervention to be provided is yet to be determined to allow this to 
be developed into a detailed brief with input from officers post-determination. However 
the expectation is that this will incorporate the entirety of the base (as defined by the 
applicant in their documentation).The public art proposals will require an in-depth 
selection process and for the applicant to write a public art strategy and implementation 
plan, before tendering to a selection of artists based on the criteria set. Officers request 
they are able to participate within this process and review final designs and samples 
of the selected artist. The lighting will have to work with and compliment all elements 
of the architectural expression and will be developed in collaboration with the emerging 
designs. Conditions are recommended accordingly, in addition to a suitable budget for 
the works being secured within the s.106 agreement.  

9.69 Policy D4 of London Plan requires proposals to be thoroughly scrutinised for design 
quality, particularly tall buildings. Whilst the proposed density of the development is 
high, it is considered that robust scrutiny of the design has taken place both at officer 
level and also from being reviewed twice by the Place Review Panel. As set out above, 
amendments and additional information have been incorporated as a result. In addition 
to this, given the importance of the architectural approach being executed successfully 
and remaining compliant with policy D4, officers are recommending the ongoing 
involvement of the current scheme architects, to be secured through the s.106 
agreement. 

Heritage 

9.70 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires (at section 
66) with respect to listed buildings, that special regard is paid to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possess. With regard to conservation areas (at section 72), it requires 
special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing their character 
or appearance. 

9.71 The NPPF places strong emphasis on the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets, and affords great weight to the asset’s conservation.  It 
states that: 

“great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be)… irrespective of whether any potential 
harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm”  

9.72 Any harm to a designated heritage asset, including from development within its setting 
requires “clear and convincing justification”, with less than substantial harm weighed 
against the public benefits delivered by the proposed development.  

9.73 With regard to non-designated heritage assets, paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that: 

“the effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 
should be taken into account in determining the application. In 
weighing…applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage 
assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm 
or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.”  

Page 88



9.74 Policy DM18 of the Local Plan permits development affecting heritage assets where 
the significance of the asset is preserved or enhanced. Policy SP4 requires 
developments to respect and enhance heritage assets, and Policy DM15 permits tall 
buildings which relate positively to nearby heritage assets. 

9.75 The setting of a building is defined as ‘the surroundings in which a heritage asset is 
experienced’ in the glossary to the NPPF. “It’s extent is not fixed and may change as 
the asset and its surrounding evolve.  Elements of a setting may make a positive or 
negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate 
that significance of may be neutral.” 

9.76 The site is not within a Conservation Area (CA) and there are no statutorily designated 
heritage assets either on or immediately adjacent to the site. The site does however 
most notably lie adjacent to a Locally Listed Building, the NLA Tower, and in the vicinity 
of the Locally Designated View from North End looking east. Central Croydon 
Conservation Area, the East India Estate Conservation Area and Chatwsorth Road 
Conservation Area are located some distance away to the west, east and south-west 
of the site respectively. The development will be visible in the setting of these and some 
other nearby heritage assets due to its height and form.  

9.77 A detailed Townscape, Heritage and Visual Impact Assessment was submitted as part 
of the application. This assesses the impacts of the proposal on a range of nearby 
heritage assets, accompanied by views. Officers have also undertaken their own 
assessment of the impacts which are considered in more detail below.  

9.78 The heritage asset most impacted is the Locally Listed Building, the NLA Tower, to the 
north of the site across Addiscombe Road which was built in 1970 to a design by 
Richard Seifert. This building is significant piece of mid-20th century architecture which 
forms an important part of the development of Croydon at this time. Whilst the building 
itself would not be impacted by the development, the proposal would impact on its 
setting which has been carefully assessed by officers. Local Designated Views of the 
NLA Tower exist from the Central Croydon CA from the west, and from the East India 
Estate CA from the east.  

 

Images 18 and 19: View from Central Croydon Conservation Area – existing and proposed 

9.79 From the Central Croydon CA (shown above), the proposed building would sit outside 
of the designated view and would be entirely obscured beyond the towers of 101 
George Street (Ten Degrees). The proposal would therefore have no impact on this 
view, the setting of the CA or the NLA Tower in this context.   

Page 89



 
Images 20 and 21: View from East India Estate Conservation Area – existing and proposed 

9.80 From the East India Estate CA (shown in the image above), the proposal would be 
partially visible in this designated view towards the town centre. However the 
appreciation of the setting of the Locally Listed NLA Tower would not be impacted upon 
from this viewing corridor, and the proposed building would sit in the foreground of the 
towers of 101 George Street behind it which are already visible from this vantage point. 
101 George Street is set slightly apart from the proposal to the south in this view and 
is clearly taller, setting the context which the proposed building would be seen within. 
Taking this into account, it is considered there would be a minor visual townscape 
impact on the setting of the East India Estate CA which would have an overall neutral 
impact. There would not be an impact on the setting or landmark status of the NLA 
Tower from this view.  

9.81 The proposal has limited visibility from the north end of Chatsworth Road but can be 
seen in some longer views from the southern end of Chatsworth Road Conservation 
Area. It would be seen from there in the context of other built form surrounding East 
Croydon Station, including Altitude Apartments tower. This would also be considered 
an overall neutral impact on the setting.   

 

Image 22: Proposed view from the north east along Cherry Orchard Road 

Page 90



 

Images 23 and 24: Existing and proposed view from the north of the site along Cherry Orchard Road 

9.82 The building would most be experienced in the setting of the NLA Tower in views from 
the north and south. The building can be seen beyond the NLA Tower in views 
travelling north to south along Cherry Orchard Road (as in the images above) where 
the buildings would coalesce from some angles, breaking its silhouette to the right, and 
the proposed height would appear equal to or extend above the NLA Tower in some 
views further to the south. It is noted this will have some negative impact on the setting 
of the NLA Tower. However the proposal would form part of an emerging context of 
tall buildings surrounding the NLA Tower which it would be, and is already seen in the 
context of. Viewed from street level, the height of the proposal and its complementary 
and relatively calm façade (alongside the lightweight open nature of the crown) would 
sit in the backdrop of the NLA Tower and its strong geometric form and silhouette which 
is still clearly visible against the sky and on the left hand side. None of the views (north 
or south) of the NLA Tower are designated or are where it is most clearly seen and 
experienced as a landmark from street level, for example from North End or from 
outside East Croydon Station. In this context, it is considered that there would some 
harm to the setting of the NLA Tower as a non-designated heritage asset. The 
balancing of this harm is discussed below.  

 

Images 25 and 26: Existing and proposed views from the south along Addiscombe Grove 

9.83 The view of the NLA Tower would also be impacted upon in views from the south 
looking north along Addiscombe Grove (image above). The proposed building and the 
height of the shoulder block would partially obscure the middle section of the NLA 
Tower. The tower element would sit adjacent to it but at the same time would be 
distinctly separate, retaining a clear sky gap where the form of the NLA can be seen. 
During the course of the application, the width of the shoulder block was reduced which 
allowed the prominent street fronting trees to be retained, but also allowed more of the 
NLA silhouette to be revealed on the right side of this view. Whilst it is acknowledged 
the shoulder block particularly would result in some harmful impact to the setting of this 

Page 91



heritage asset by partly obscuring it in this view, the amendments during the application 
have mitigated this to some extent and the top of the NLA Tower would still be 
prominent and retain its significance, visible in the context of the variety of surrounding 
development in the foreground. It should also be noted that this view is not designated 
for its townscape or heritage significance. It is considered, taking into account the 
above, that there would be some harm to the setting of the NLA Tower which is 
concluded on below.  

Conclusion on harm 
9.84 No direct harm to the fabric of any designated heritage assets would occur as a result 

of the proposal. It is considered the proposed development would have a neutral 
impact on the designated heritage assets in the site vicinity; the settings of nearby CAs, 
and in the Locally Designated Views as discussed above. The building would either be 
invisible from the setting of all surrounding listed buildings or would appear consistent 
with the cluster of other tall buildings surrounding East Croydon station without a 
noticeable differential impact. It is considered the statutory tests for preservation of 
designated heritage assets would be met and there is no need to weigh the harm 
against public benefits. 

9.85 As no overall harm has been identified to heritage assets the provision of paragraph 
202 of the NPPF to weigh any harm against the public benefits of the scheme is not 
enacted. However, for the avoidance of doubt the development does deliver a number 
of public benefits, including housing provision, a quantity of which would be for 
affordable housing delivered on site including wheelchair accessible homes, an 
improved public realm, including the infill of the pedestrian subway, cycle path to the 
north of the site and a raised table crossing to the north west of the site.  

9.86 There would be some harm to the setting of the NLA Tower. Locally Listed Buildings 
are non-designated heritage assets and their setting is not statutorily protected nor is 
their setting a designated or non-designated heritage asset. Setting of Locally Listed 
Buildings is protected within the CLP (2018), but whilst there would be some harm this 
would not be significant and on the lower end of the scale, with the threshold to be 
applied to such a test lower than if the building had a statutory designation. 
Amendments made during the course of the pre-application discussions and 
application have improved the design, with specific consideration towards ensuring 
subservience to the landmark status of the NLA Tower. The proposed public realm 
works including the underpass removal and introduction of planting would deliver some 
improvements to its setting at street level. As per requirements of the NPPF, making a 
balanced judgement as to the scale of harm and the significance of the asset, the 
impact is considered to be acceptable.  

9.87 The planning application site lies in an area of archaeological interest. Historic England 
have advised that required archaeological investigations should be imposed by 
condition, which are recommended.   

 Trees and ecology 
 

9.88 There are 7 trees within and surrounding the site of good quality (rated category A and 
B). This includes a Category B sycamore tree in the neighbouring site to the south, 
which is proposed to be retained with protection measures specified for during 
construction. It should be noted that there is a historic TPO covering the site (No.25 of 
1980), which was imposed prior to Citylink House being built. The only tree remaining 
of relevance appears to be this Category B sycamore tree, which is being retained and 

Page 92



protected as part of the scheme in any case. This has been discussed with the tree 
officer who is in agreement and raises no objection.  

9.89 Most notably visible from the street scene are 6 prominent mature London Plane trees 
around the eastern and southern side of the site, which contribute to visual amenity of 
the area. The 3 southern trees outside the site are proposed to be retained, with 
protection measures specified in the submitted arboriculture report. The 3 trees on the 
eastern side were originally proposed to be removed. However, during the course of 
pre-application discussions and in response to comments from officers and Members 
at pre-application stage, the applicants have sought to retain these 3 existing trees. 
This has involved stepping back the eastern edge of the building by approximately 
3.5m in line with the existing building (and the eastern wall of the basement level by a 
further metre to accommodate root spread).  

9.90 Whilst this move was welcomed, officers have worked with the applicants to achieve a 
sufficient level of detail on construction methodology for the building and its basement 
due to the close relationship with the trees, to ensure they are not damaged during the 
construction process and can survive in the future adjacent to the development. This 
has included submission of a detailed arboriculture method statement providing details 
of basement dig area, retaining walls, type and location of building foundations and 
piling and details of the proposed cantilever section to ensure this is feasible. These 
measures are considered acceptable to ensure the trees can be retained. These 
documents are recommended to be conditioned to be complied with, including that the 
LPA receive copies of the arboriculture supervision visits as specified within the 
documentation to ensure works are carried out in accordance. The tree officer has 
reviewed this information and raise no objection.  

9.91 In addition to retaining the trees on and adjacent to the site as above, there is planting 
proposed within the public realm to provide further opportunity for greening. This is 
currently proposed as 5 trees and some large planters in the public realm to the north 
of the building and a planter and tree to the west of the building (final locations subject 
to detailed design at condition and s.278 stage), plus other areas of planting 
surrounding the eastern and western ends of the building. There would therefore be 
an uplift of tree planting on site to contribute to softening of the appearance of the 
development and integrating it into its surrounds at ground level which is considered 
beneficial to the amenity of the area around the site. 

9.92 Urban greening calculations have been carried out in accordance with policy G5 of the 
London Plan (2021), demonstrating the site achieves a score of 0.46 made up of the 
landscaping proposed at ground floor, terrace and roof levels. This includes biodiverse 
and intensive green roofs, as well as tree planting and climbers. The policy 
recommends a target score of 0.4 for developments that are predominantly residential, 
which the scheme would achieve in compliance with this policy.  

9.93 The NPPF and London Plan policy G6 requires that any development seeks to provide 
biodiversity net gain. The submitted ecological appraisal shows the site currently has 
low biodiversity value and as such there are opportunities to achieve this through 
enhancement measures. This is met with planting (tree planting on roofs with 
understorey shrubs, herbaceous ground cover and bulbs, biodiverse roofs including a 
wild flower meadow and habitat features) and habitat creation for birds, bats and 
insects incorporated into the landscape through log piles and clearings, bird houses, 
native wildflowers and hibernaculum. Full details of specific measures and their 

Page 93



locations are recommended to be secured through ecological and landscaping 
conditions, including design of a wildlife sensitive lighting scheme.   

Residential Amenity of Neighbours  
 
Outlook and privacy 

9.94 In terms of outlook and privacy, the most critical relationships to consider are the 
residential properties to the south and the future occupiers of the nearly completed 28-
30 Addiscombe Grove (Pocket) to the east. Properties to the south generally have 
east/west facing front and rear windows which provide their main outlook so would not 
have a direct window to window relationship with the proposed dwellings. The two 
buildings immediately to the south do have windows facing towards the site. Planning 
history suggests the nearest north facing windows on Harrington Court immediately to 
the south are non-habitable rooms, with main outlook towards Altyre Road and to the 
east. 17 Addiscombe Grove (Carnoustie Court) also has windows facing towards the 
site but the planning history suggests these are secondary windows with main outlook 
towards Addiscombe Grove and to the west. The nearest buildings which do have a 
direct window to window relationship would be the northern façade of Harrington Court 
which faces the site, in excess of 40m from the south facing façade. This would be 
sufficient to ensure no significant overlooking would ensue. There could be some 
perception of overlooking from rear amenity spaces (and potentially rear windows) of 
properties to the south but given these are generally communal amenity spaces with 
separation distance from the façade, and given the current dense relationships it is not 
considered this would cause significant harm to amenity. There would be 
approximately an 18m separation distance to the 28-30 Addiscombe Grove flats which 
is considered to be provide occupiers with sufficient levels of privacy.  

9.95 2-8 Altyre Road, an office building, is located to the west of the site. There is currently 
no consent to develop this site but the proposed scheme would not prejudice this 
happening in future, with separation distances of approximately 26m between the 
building facades as proposed.    

9.96 Overall, given the density of the surrounding built form and closely related development 
in a central location it is expected that there will be a degree of mutual overlooking and 
visual impact for occupiers, so is acceptable.  

Daylight and Sunlight Impacts 
9.97 Policy DM10.6 states that the Council will not support development proposals which 

would have adverse effects on the amenities of adjoining or nearby properties or have 
an unacceptable impact on the surrounding area. This can include a loss of privacy, 
daylight, sunlight, outlook or an increased sense of enclosure. There are a number of 
buildings surrounding the site requiring consideration in terms of daylight/sunlight 
impact. This is endorsed in D9 of the London Plan 2021.  

 

Page 94



 
Image 27: surrounding properties assessed for light 

9.98 A daylight and sunlight assessment has been provided with the application, assessing 
the development’s impacts on existing and future residents. Daylight impacts on the 
relevant neighbouring buildings have been assessed with tests for Vertical Sky 
Component (VSC), and then No Sky Line (NSL) and Average Daylight Factor (ADF) 
tests have been utilised where windows have not achieved BRE compliant VSC values 
to give a further indication of the daylight impact experienced. The daylight impacts 
have been assessed in comparison to the existing Citylink House building on the site. 
This is in general considered an acceptable approach.  

9.99 Due to the fact that the facades of existing nearby properties with windows potentially 
impacted by the development are not within 90 degrees due south to the property, no 
assessment of sunlight at existing properties adjacent to the proposed development 
has been carried out. This accords with BRE guidance for assessing sunlight 
availability.   

9.100 To clarify, guidance suggests that if the VSC percentage difference is less than 27% 
and less than 0.8 times its former value then there would be an adverse effect. 
However, the BRE guidance allows alternative target values and an appropriate 
degree of flexibility particularly to higher density development, especially in opportunity 
areas, town centres, large sites and accessible location. It is considered this is the case 
here and that the BRE standards should be applied flexibly in these circumstances.   

Harrington Court  
9.101 Harrington Court is a 5 storey block of 57 flats to the south of the development. The 

VSC results show that out of the 72 windows assessed, 60 (83%) would fully comply 
with BRE standards. The remaining 17% constitutes 12 windows. 3 of these are in the 

Page 95



eastern façade of the end of the block closest to the site, which would generally 
experience losses between 20-26% compared to the existing situation which would be 
classified as a minor adverse impact. Whilst this is noted, the planning history for the 
building suggests these windows serve kitchens/bathrooms which are not generally 
considered to be habitable rooms. These windows have also then been assessed for 
NSL to provide a further indicator of daylight availability to which they all meet BRE 
guidelines. This indicates a minor daylight impact to these windows.   

9.102 Windows in a northern façade facing the proposal site would experience greater 
impacts. 9 out of 12 windows (75%) would not achieve BRE standards for VSC, with 5 
windows experiencing reduction ratio of 30-35% which would be classified as a 
moderate adverse impact (the remaining 4 windows would receive more daylight 
experiencing a minor impact). As in the eastern façade, these windows have then been 
tested for NSL where 1 remaining window would marginally fail the BRE standards for 
this test (reduction ratio of 22%). This is a ground floor window in the northern façade 
which appears to serve a kitchen. This room would however achieve BRE compliant 
ADF levels, which again has been used here to give another perspective on daylight 
levels. Whilst it is noted this room would clearly experience noticeable daylight impacts 
as a result of the development, the results indicate that an adequate amount would 
remain allowing it to be used for its intended purpose as a kitchen.  

9.103 Overall it is considered the impact to this building would be defined as moderate 
adverse, taking into account the proportion of rooms affected and the extent to which 
daylight will be lost. The location of these windows facing directly north towards the 
development and existing poor access to daylight must be noted (the existing VSC for 
all the windows which fail is already below 27%), being a 4 storey building directly 
adjoining a deep 5 storey block extending to the north. Taking this into account 
including the relationship to the existing Citylink House in this relatively dense urban 
location, the impact is considered to be acceptable.  

28-30 Addiscombe Grove 
9.104 28-30 Addiscombe Grove is a part 9, part 21 storey residential tower located to the 

east of the site across Addiscombe Grove. The building is currently under construction 
and not yet occupied. The impact on daylight/sunlight has been tested for these units 
with outlook on the west facing elevations towards the site, which comprise a mix of 
bedrooms and living areas. 

9.105 17 windows out of 76 windows (22%) would fail to meet BRE targets for VSC with the 
existing site as a comparison. These windows are all on upper floors facing the site 
experiencing reduction ratios of 20-28%, which would be as a result of the increased 
height of development on the proposal site compared with Citylink House as existing. 
Of these windows, 5 on the fifth and sixth floors would experience a greater impact 
failing to pass the 0.8 ratio criteria for NSL (worst reduction ratio would be 0.64 or 36% 
which would be a moderate adverse impact). 4 of these rooms are bedrooms (where 
daylight is less important) and the other window serves a dual aspect living 
room/kitchen/dining room. These rooms would all achieve BRE compliant ADF levels.  

9.106 It is considered the transgressions from the existing scenario would overall result in 
a moderate adverse daylight impact on the occupiers of these units, accounting for the 
proportion of windows affected and the degree to which their daylight would be 
impacted. Given the existing close relationship between 28-30 Addiscombe Grove and 
the buildings surrounding it to the north and east including the application site, plus the 
nature of the rooms/units most affected (bedrooms and dual aspect 1b1p units with 

Page 96



generally open southern aspect) it is considered the moderate failures would be 
acceptable.    

12 Altyre Road 
9.107 12 Altyre Road is a residential property located to the south. In carrying out the 

assessment, the internal layouts are unknown, but all rooms have been assumed to 
be habitable as a worst case scenario. This is considered to be an acceptable 
approach. For the VSC test, 12 windows to the rear were analysed for daylight impact, 
and one window was not compliant with BRE guidelines - W5 on the ground floor 
(facing the site in a bay window). However, this window would already fail to meet 
acceptable VSC levels (already below 27%) as existing given its siting and surrounding 
development and the ratio would be 0.73, equating to a fairly marginal failure. When 
tested for daylight distribution, this window would pass the NSL test. Whilst this is 
considered to equate to a minor adverse impact, given that only one window would be 
most affected and that there are likely two other windows serving the same room which 
would achieve BRE compliant VSC, the impact is considered to be acceptable. All 7 
rooms meet the criteria for NSL and will continue to have an appropriate level of 
daylight.  

15 Addiscombe Grove 
9.108 This is a 3 storey flatted building known as ‘Spring Apartments’ on the western side 

of Addiscombe Grove, comprising of 8 units. 12 windows were tested in the rear of the 
building which could potentially be affected. One window failed to meet BRE guidance 
for VSC. Whilst the daylight reduction would be 38% which would be classed as a 
moderate adverse impact, this is a rear west facing window in a ground floor projection 
which serves one bedroom in one of the flats. The ground floor projection is closest to 
the eastern 4 storey flank of Harrington Court to the west which inevitably already has 
some impact on daylight access. This window (and all other rooms) comfortably 
achieves standards for NSL with only a very marginal reduction compared with the 
existing situation. The impact on this building overall is therefore considered 
acceptable.  

17 Addiscombe Grove (Carnoustie Court) 
9.109 This is a 3 storey flatted block to the south east of the site with west facing rear 

windows. 4 windows nearest the development at first and second floor level closest to 
the development would fail to meet BRE guidance for VSC, but it should be noted these 
would constitute a very marginal failure (20% reduction) and would almost be 
negligible. Following from that these windows (and all other rooms) all passed the tests 
for NSL indicating an adequate level of daylight would be achieved. Given the 
proportion of windows affected and the extent to which they are affected, it is 
considered the impact on this building would be minor adverse at worst. 

Daylight and sunlight conclusions  
9.110 All other properties tested (18-20 Addiscombe Grove, 35 Colson Road and 92-95 

Granville Close) would all achieve BRE compliant VSC and NSL rates compared with 
the existing situation, and as such have not been discussed in more detail above. The 
proposed development would clearly result in some daylight impacts for surrounding 
properties, most notably for occupiers of the southern-most block of Harrington Court 
and 28-30 Addiscombe Grove. In the vast majority of instances where impacts beyond 
BRE guidelines occur, the impact would be considered to be minor adverse in nature, 
with daylight levels already challenging in the location given the existing situation and 
relationship with surrounding buildings. It should be noted that daylight impacts for 
surrounding properties beyond BRE guidelines are inevitable in an urban context such 

Page 97



as this. All windows would pass either VSC, NSL or ADF tests. Given the benefits 
proposed by this scheme (including the provision of affordable housing) the harm of 
these impacts are considered to be outweighed by these benefits. As such the daylight 
and sunlight implications of the proposed development for surrounding properties are 
acceptable. 

Microclimate 
9.111 Paragraph 6.71 of the Croydon OAPF states that new buildings, in particular tall 

buildings, will need to demonstrate how they successfully mitigate impacts from micro-
climate conditions on new and existing amenity spaces. In particular, new tall buildings 
in the COA will need to show how their designs do not have a negative impact on wind 
(downdrafts and wind tunnelling). This is endorsed in D9 of the London Plan 2021. 

9.112 A wind tunnel assessment of the impact on the local microclimate has been 
undertaken. Given the number of consented and/or proposed developments in the 
vicinity of the site and to fully understand the implications of the scheme in conjunction 
with all surrounding built form, the wind testing covers a number of different scenarios. 
The amount and location of testing points was improved during the course of pre-
application discussions following officer feedback, for example to include the bus stops 
and crossing points.  

9.113 Modelling of the existing site identified no safety issues in terms of wind, and found 
that the environment was generally suitable for either intended pedestrian activities, 
including cyclist use, throughout the year. Initial testing at pre-application stage (of a 
former version of the scheme extending right to the eastern site boundary) of the 
proposed scheme within existing and proposed surrounds without mitigation measures 
identified exceedance of safety criteria during winter in some areas at ground floor 
level (predominantly around the eastern and western ends of the building) and some 
areas at roof level (the level 13 terrace). Exceedances of pedestrian comfort levels 
were also found during winter in thoroughfares, entrances, in the café seating area and 
on the roof terraces. This was attributed to winds funnelling between the proposed 
building and surrounding blocks and accelerating around the corners of the proposed 
building. 

9.114 Discussions on the appropriate level, design and location of mitigation to combat this 
has taken place during the course of the pre-application and application. The current 
scheme proposes mitigation in the form of 2m continuous evergreen planting around 
the eastern end and corners of the building (the retention of the existing London Plane 
trees also contributing to mitigation) and 1.5m planting around the café, which would 
also have a canopy to ensure a comfortable seating environment throughout the year. 
Whilst the planting in terms of height and extent would be sizeable in this area of the 
public realm, wind conditions within and immediately surrounding the site would then 
meet the safety criteria and would in general achieve acceptable levels of comfort for 
pedestrian access to and passage through the site. Entrances along the northern side 
of the building would be recessed to enable appropriate standing environments in 
these areas. Mitigation has also been incorporated at roof level (levels 13, 14 and 27) 
in the form of large trees in planters, along with 1.5m high porous screens around the 
level 13 and 14 terraces. The amount and height of trees required at roof level would 
be substantial, and officers have sought further reassurance from the applicant as to 
whether this planting is achievable. A condition is recommended to secure detailed 
design of the layout and depth of the planters for all of the terraces to demonstrate that 
the trees of the size required can be planted and survive long term.  

Page 98



9.115 It is considered the design of the wind mitigation would ensure a sufficiently 
comfortable environment within the surrounds of the development. Implementation and 
maintenance of the wind mitigation is to be secured through the s.106 agreement, as 
well as the detailed design of the tree pits, their management and specific details of 
planting and canopy to ensure establishment of and longevity of the mitigation 
measures to perform their function within the wider public realm and amenity spaces.  

 Highway Safety, Access and Parking 

9.116 The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6b (on a scale of 0 – 
6b, where 6b is the most accessible. The site therefore has an excellent level of 
accessibility to public transport links.  

Car parking  
9.117 The proposal is predominantly car-free, with the exception of the 3 dedicated disabled 

bays proposed to the rear which form the extent of the total vehicular parking provision. 
This level of provision is considered to be acceptable and given the location, would 
provide a satisfactory level for the wheelchair accessible units proposed. It is noted the 
London Plan requires a demonstration of disabled spaces for 10% of dwellings, in case 
these are needed at a later date. Any further provision cannot be achieved on site 
given the small site area, and any further excavation to provide additional sub-
basements (if this was feasible) would impact significantly on scheme viability. There 
is an additional bay adjacent to the disabled spaces which could be utilised as an 
additional disabled parking space, however this is to be reserved for use as a short-
stay delivery bay which is considered necessary to serve the shared living 
accommodation in particular. In any case, taking into account that the majority of units 
are for shared living and that this policy is applicable to C3 Use Class accommodation, 
it is not considered further parking provision is necessary in such an accessible 
location. This is supported by the London Plan which directs schemes for large scale 
shared living accommodation to be provided car free. In the context that the 
development can meet the 3% requirement for spaces for the C3 Use Class 
accommodation, the parking provision is considered appropriate.  Resident’s eligibility 
for parking permits would be restricted by the s.106 agreement and a Car Park 
Management Plan relating to the allocation and management of spaces would be 
secured through planning condition. 

9.118 The parking spaces would be accessed using the existing vehicular access to the 
rear from Addiscombe Grove. This is considered appropriate in line with the existing 
arrangements for site access shared with the vehicular access to the parking area for 
Harrington Court, which operates safely at present. Visibility splays either side of the 
access can be achieved in line with standard highways requirements. Suitable and 
safe manoeuvring has been demonstrated for vehicles within the site, allowing access 
and egress to take place in a forward gear. Access arrangements would be secured 
by Grampian condition. This would need to include confirmation of access across the 
neighbouring site where the road is shared with the occupants of Harrington Court.  

9.119 Local Plan Policy DM30 states that 20% of parking bays should have EVCP with 
future provision available for the other bays. This would equate to 1 bay being provided 
with a charging point and future provision being enabled for the 3 other bays (including 
the servicing bay). Full details and provision of the EVCP are to be secured by 
conditions.  

Cycle parking  

Page 99



9.120 For the shared living accommodation, the applicant has applied the principle of 
shared living to the cycling facilities. 334 cycle parking spaces are to be provided in 
the basement for residents of Tower Building A (equating to a ratio of 1 cycle parking 
space per 1.5 residents), with 55 of these to be for cycle hire spaces. The requirement 
of policy T5 of the London Plan for shared living units to be considered as C3 Use 
Class studio units is noted. However, this does not account for proposals including 
shared cycle facilities which is considered to be an appropriate fit to the type of 
accommodation proposed. The 279 long stay cycle spaces would cater for 56% of 
residents if needed; however these are unlikely to be fully utilised at any one time with 
some residents inevitably preferring to use the hire scheme which would be available 
on the same ‘app’ used to access other shared facilities. As a comparative example, 
the consented College Road scheme provided 283 cycle parking spaces with 130 of 
these to be cycle hire spaces, equating to around 1 per 3 shared living residents. 
Taking into account the limitations of the site area, the type of accommodation (and 
likely shorter term nature of the rental periods) together with the proximity of the site to 
public transport, it is considered this proportion of cycle parking for Tower Building A 
is appropriate. It is important that this hire scheme is only for residents, which will be 
secured by condition along with the full details once agreed, including provision for 
retaining the hire scheme but adapted for public use if necessary in future. 

9.121 149 cycle parking spaces for the C3 Use Class accommodation in Shoulder Building 
B would be provided at basement level. The spaces provided would be in accordance 
with the adopted London Plan standards, which is considered acceptable and the 
maximum that could be accommodated on the site. Short stay visitor parking for the 
commercial uses is to be provided within the public realm area (details to be agreed 
as discussed above), along with staff cycle parking and changing facilities within the 
basement. Final location, size and layout of staff cycle parking and changing facilities 
are to be secured by condition to ensure these services are usable and functional. This 
is considered acceptable. 

Car club 
9.122 Policy DM30 of the Croydon Local Plan (2018) requires 5% of the total number of 

spaces to be provided as on-site car club spaces, with additional spaces at a rate of 1 
space for every 20 spaces below the maximum overall number of car parking spaces 
as set out in the London Plan. In this particular case taking into account the location of 
the site and car club provision already present in the area, as well as the importance 
of retaining the 4 spaces at the rear for disabled occupiers and servicing requirements, 
it is considered more beneficial to secure improvements to existing car club 
infrastructure within the area. The existing provision is considered to fulfil current 
demand and would still be easily accessible for residents being within walking distance 
of the site. A financial contribution of £25,000 is therefore proposed to be secured 
through the s.106 agreement towards 5 electric vehicle charging points to make 
existing spaces in the area more sustainable.  The s.106 agreement would also secure 
car club membership being paid for the occupiers of the units for 3 years. This is 
considered to be in accordance with the intentions of the policy, contributing to and 
promotion of sustainable transport infrastructure.  

Delivery and servicing  
9.123 A Delivery and Servicing plan has been provided. It is proposed for short-stay 

deliveries to be serviced from a delivery bay at the rear accessed from Addiscombe 
Grove (as outlined above), whilst all other loading (including for refuse collection and 
larger vehicles) would take place from a designated on-street loading bay on Altyre 
Road. This loading bay would be provided in place of the ramped access to the 

Page 100



Addiscombe Road pedestrian underpass, which currently sits in the footway on the 
northern edge of Altyre Road. Given the relatively constrained nature of the site and 
unavailability of space at the rear for servicing from larger vehicles, this is considered 
to be the only suitable place for loading without harm to the safety and efficiency of the 
highway. As delivery of the loading bay would require the removal of and infilling of the 
existing pedestrian underpass, the design and delivery of these works are required to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms. The loading bay would therefore 
need to be delivered in parallel to the stopping up of the Addiscombe Road underpass 
undertaken with reference to Section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
(1990). The loading bay itself would then be designed and delivered as part of the 
s.278 works. Both of these elements would need to be secured through the s.106 
agreement, with a pre-commencement requirement for the applicants to engage in and 
gain approval for the works to the underpass through the stopping up process under 
Section 247 of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990). The works would also need 
to be approved and delivered to highways standards by the applicant through the s.278 
process.  

9.124 The applicant has agreed to this approach in principle, with all works to facilitate this 
to be carried out and funded by the applicant. Subject to going through due process to 
gain approval for this and providing suitable mitigation for the loss of the pedestrian 
route from Addiscombe Road to the NLA Tower (discussed further below), officers 
consider the infill of the pedestrian underpass could be acceptable. The underpass is 
currently underutilised and its removal has been proposed as part of the Council’s 
wider aspirations for improved pedestrian and cycle accessibility surrounding East 
Croydon Station. The loading bay in the location proposed would not impact on any 
existing on-street car parking on Altyre Road and could be controlled with a traffic 
regulation order to limit the duration of stay (to be determined as part of the detailed 
design). Officers consider this element of the development supportable, subject to 
securing the necessary items through condition and s.106 agreement.  

9.125 Officers have carefully considered the likely transport and access impacts specific to 
a mixed shared living and residential scheme of this size, with public uses on the 
ground floors. For example, a high demand for deliveries and servicing in and around 
the building from vehicles, visitor cyclists and pedestrians as a result of a high number 
of residents. The applicant’s draft servicing plan anticipates that approximately 83% of 
two way servicing trips a day for the total residential accommodation would be 
attributed to the shared living element of the development (78 out of 94 two-way trips). 
Given that there are limited comparative UK examples of shared living on this scale, it 
is considered necessary to require a bond to be secured against the projected delivery 
and servicing movements anticipated by the applicant. This will be monitored by the 
Council for a year, and can be reimbursed following expiry of this period if the 
projections are in line with what was envisaged. This is to ensure no adverse impacts 
on the local highways network from movements resulting from the shared living use, 
particularly given the cumulative number of developments and existing uses accessing 
from the surrounding road network and rear road into Harrington Court. This is to be 
secured within the s.106 agreement. 

Construction Logistics 
9.126 Given the scale of the development, a condition requiring the submission of a detailed 

Construction Logistics Plan is imposed to ensure that the construction phase of 
development does not result in undue impacts upon the surrounding highway network. 
This is of particular importance given that there are a number of developments 
consented or proposed surrounding the site, and site logistics and build programmes 

Page 101



will therefore need to be co-operative between developers to manage the potential for 
multiple schemes to be delivered simultaneously. The Construction Logistics Plan 
must carefully consider loading and servicing during the construction phase (including 
demolition) where the site lies on a busy route surrounded by main roads and 
residential properties on all sides. This will be reviewed carefully by officers at condition 
stage to ensure minimal disruption to the road network and surrounding residents. The 
Plan should also cover specific hours of deliveries, proposed security arrangements 
for the site, details of precautions for mud and substances on the highway and details 
of all Non-Road Mobile Machinery which will be used during all phases of construction.  

Refuse collection and storage 
9.127 The proposal includes bin storage at both ground and basement level in both 

buildings, with collection to take place via the path to the rear of the building from the 
loading bay on Altyre Road. Given the distance from the loading bay to the refuse 
stores would exceed 20m, it was originally proposed for site management teams to 
move bins to a presentation area closer to the loading bay on the rear path. Officers 
raised concerns with this proposal, given the amount of bins likely to be held in this 
area at one time and conflict with access to the cycle store and potential disruption to 
the adjacent café and highway. Given the constraints of the site and combination of 
uses, alternative options and increased capacity are limited. It is therefore now 
proposed for refuse collection to be dealt with privately for all elements of the 
development, so collection teams can take bins straight from the relevant stores to the 
loading bay without requiring a collection point. Furthermore, this will allow more 
frequent collections than the Council offers to off-set any concerns over capacity of the 
refuse storage areas The applicant has committed to ensuring that any additional costs 
arising from this service would be subsidised by the shared living accommodation to 
ensure no additional burden placed onto occupiers of the affordable units, which is to 
be secured within the s.106 agreement. This is considered acceptable on balance.  

9.128 It is expected that full details of the proposed collection arrangements, including 
agreement on the operator who will be carrying it out, will be specified at condition 
stage in a detailed refuse management strategy. This strategy must also detail of how 
refuse collection will be managed within the building by the operator and residents (i.e. 
for residents with accessibility issues), how movement of bins along the pathway will 
be managed successfully to avoid disruption and the number of collections required 
per week to ensure this is reasonable. This will also feed into the shared living 
management plan and tenancy guide to be given to residents on arrival, which will also 
be assessed prior to occupation.  

Sustainable transport 
9.129 Given that the development would be car-free (aside from disabled spaces) and 

taking into account the nature of the development, increased walking, cycling and 
public transport use is expected. To mitigate against this and improve connections for 
all transport measures, improvements to the highways network immediately 
surrounding the site in line with the Council’s future vision for the area surrounding 
East Croydon station are to be secured as part of the s.106 agreement and S.278 
works. This includes a cycle lane immediately to the north of the site on Addiscombe 
Road, removal of pedestrian underpass and ramps on the corner with Altyre Road 
(subject to formal approval through the process under s.247 of the TCPA), provision of 
a loading bay on Altyre Road and proposed raised table top crossing to the west of the 
site.  

Page 102



9.130 The applicants have proposed upgrades to the local highways network as part of their 
Active Travel Zone assessment to support the forthcoming development, including 
planting along Park Lane between pedestrians and the carriageway, footway 
improvements for wheelchair users linking the A232 and The Avenue and planting 
surrounding the infilled subway. A financial contribution (minimum of £50,000) towards 
implementation of these measures is to be secured through the s.106 agreement.  

Travel Plan 
9.131 In order to ensure that the identified modal shift is adequately supported, and barriers 

to uptake of more sustainable transport modes can be addressed, a Travel Plan and 
monitoring for three years along with a financial contribution of £1,969 to allow this is 
to be secured through the s.106 agreement.  

 Environmental impact and sustainability 

Flooding and drainage  
9.132 The site is within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) and an area of surface water flood risk. 

There is limited potential for groundwater flooding to occur. The applicant has provided 
a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy. It is proposed to attenuate surface 
water using a combination of blue roofs at both roof levels and a below ground 
attenuation tank located at the rear of the building in front of the car parking spaces. 
Soft landscaping and surface water shed from adjacent footpaths are proposed to 
diffusely infiltrate to ground. At ground level, use of SUDs features such as Green/Blue 
Arborcells, filter strips and maximising infiltration potential of soft landscaping are to be 
explored in more detail post-determination (this is to be secured by condition).  

9.133 The Lead Local Flood Authority assessed the proposed scheme and following 
submission of additional information raise no objection.  
 

9.134 With regards to foul water and surface water network infrastructure capacity, Thames 
Water raised no objection. Informatives are recommended, including to advise the 
developer that Thames Water underground water assets are located within 15m of the 
development, and water mains crossing or close to the development. Thames Water 
have requested a condition be imposed, requiring the developer to liaise with them to 
discuss the impact on the existing water network infrastructure, and whether upgrades 
are required to accommodate the development. A further condition was requested to 
secure submission of a piling method statement, given the development is located 
within 15 metres of a strategic sewer. This is included within the recommendation.  

 
Contamination 

9.135 The submitted preliminary risk assessment report for contaminated land concluded 
that no significant issues of environmental concern were identified. The site was 
historically used as open land followed by residential housing. The site was then 
redeveloped into commercial use by 1986. Whilst the railway is located within 50m of 
the site, the impact is likely to be minimal based on the distance of the site and 
extensive hard standing would mitigate any risks to site users. The submitted report is 
considered to be sufficient, and there is no requirement for contamination investigation 
remediation. Conditions are however recommended to ensure the development is 
carried out in accordance with the submitted report, and to ensure the applicants keep 
a watching brief during works and notify the Council should any unexpected 
contamination be encountered during the demolition. 

 
Air quality 

Page 103



9.136 The entire borough of Croydon is an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and 
therefore careful consideration to the air quality impacts of proposed development is 
required. The submitted air quality assessment demonstrates that the development will 
be Air Quality Neutral. It identifies that mitigation measures to minimise dust emissions 
and particulate matter during construction works will be required, to ensure that any 
impacts of the construction phase will not be significant. Emissions from traffic 
generated from the development would require mitigation for the majority of residential 
properties on the first, second and third floors (on north and eastern side of 
development as identified in the report), in the form of the installation of mechanical 
ventilation with in-built infiltration. Emissions from the proposed boiler operations on 
the local area is determined to be negligible and within guidelines. A contribution of 
£12,928 towards air quality improvements to mitigate against these impacts will be 
secured via the s.106 agreement, with recommended conditions. This would bring the 
development in line with policy SI1 of the London Plan.  
 
Construction Impacts 

9.137 A Construction Environmental Management Plan is to be secured by a condition, to 
ensure adequate control of noise, dust and pollution from construction and demolition 
activities, and to minimise highway impacts during the construction phase.  
 
Ventilation of commercial units 

9.138 Prior to use of any food and drink uses (including the kitchen and dining areas within 
the shared living accommodation) commencing on site, details of ventilation will be 
required by planning condition.  
 
Light pollution 

9.139 To avoid excessive light pollution, a condition is recommended requiring details of 
external lighting, including details of how it would minimise light pollution.  
 
Sustainable design 
 
Carbon emissions 

9.140 Policy SP6.3 requires new development to minimise carbon dioxide emissions and 
seeks high standards of design and construction in terms of sustainability in 
accordance with local and national carbon dioxide reduction targets. This requires new 
build, non-residential development of 1000sqm and above to achieve a minimum of 
35% CO2 reduction beyond the Building Regulations Part L (2013), and new build 
residential development over 10 units to achieve the London Plan requirements or 
National Technical Standards (2015) for energy performance (whichever is higher). In 
line with the London Plan (2021), new dwellings in major development should be Zero 
Carbon with a minimum on-site reduction of at least 35% beyond Building Regulations 
Part L (2013), with any shortfall to be offset through a financial contribution.  
 

9.141 Policy also requires the development to incorporate a site wide communal heating 
system and to be enabled for district energy connection.  
 

9.142 On the basis that the shared living accommodation is sui-generis and the units are 
not self-contained, Tower Building A has been assessed against the non-domestic 
non-residential targets for carbon emissions. Officers consider this to be a reasonable 
assumption, with the traditional residential accommodation within Shoulder Building B 
assessed against the standard domestic methodology.  
 

Page 104



9.143 Overall, across the whole development, a reduction in regulated CO2 emissions of 
46% over current Part L Building Regulations (2013) is expected to be achieved. The 
remaining regulated CO2 emissions shortfall would be covered by a carbon offset 
payment (£592,800) which would be secured through the s.106 agreement.  
 

9.144 Whilst no existing district heating networks currently exist, the site is within an area 
where one is planned. The development has been provided with a reasonable space 
allowance in order to facilitate the future connection (for both domestic and non-
domestic accommodation) to a proposed heat network, should one come forward. 
Space has been allocated for future district heating plate exchangers in the boiler plant. 
A s.106 obligation is also recommended requiring connection to the District Heating 
System if the Council has appointed an operator before commencement on site, or a 
feasibility into connection to a future system on first replacement of the heating plant. 
On this basis, as the proposal complies with the above requirements regarding carbon 
reduction and a CO2 offset payment, subject to a condition requiring the above 
standards to be achieved, the proposal is considered acceptable.  
 

9.145 Both blocks can achieve the on-site carbon dioxide reductions as required by policy. 
Sustainable design and construction measures have been designed in where feasible, 
including measures to address overheating within the units. These matters are to be 
secured by condition. 

 
9.146 A whole-life cycle carbon assessment and circular economy statement has been 

provided to capture the developments carbon impact, demonstrating how waste will be 
minimised and which actions will be taken to reduce life-cycle carbon emissions. This 
meets the requirements of Policy SI 2 and SI 7 of the London Plan (2021). 
 

Water use 
9.147 Policy SP6.3 requires all new build residential development to meet a minimum water 

efficiency standard of 110 litres/person/day as set out in Building Regulations Part G. 
A planning condition is recommended to secure compliance with this target to ensure 
sustainable use of resources in the shoulder block containing the C3 accommodation. 
There is no policy requirement relating to water efficiency standards in non-domestic 
buildings such as for the co-living tower.  

 
Other planning issues 
 

9.148 A health impact assessment was submitted. This anticipates the impact on health 
associated with the proposed development would be positive overall. This includes 
provision of new high quality homes across a range of sizes and tenures, encouraging 
active lifestyles, improving connectivity to the public realm and local services and 
opportunities for more natural surveillance and active uses at ground level to improve 
sense of safety. Planning obligations and conditions are recommended to secure 
measures to avoid any potential for unacceptable health impacts, for example 
implementation of appropriate air quality mitigation measures for during construction. 
The development is liable for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payment to ensure 
that development contributes to meeting the need for physical and social infrastructure, 
including educational and healthcare facilities. 
 

9.149 An EIA Screening Opinion (20/03128/ENV) was issued prior to the submission of the 
planning application. The development was not considered to require an EIA, taking 
account of its location, nature, scale and characteristics.  

Page 105



 
9.150 A TV and Radio signal impact assessment was submitted, which identified the 

potential for very localised disruption to the reception of digital satellite television 
services to the immediate northwest of the site within 193m from the base of the 
building (around east George Street and Billinton Hill). This could be mitigated by 
repositioned satellite dishes, to be secured by the s.106 agreement.  

 
9.151 In order to ensure that the benefits of the proposed development (including those 

required to mitigate the harm caused) reach local residents who may be impacted 
indirectly or directly by the proposal’s impacts, a skills, training and employment 
strategy (both operational and construction phases) and a contribution towards training 
are to be secured through the s106 agreement.  
 

9.152 London Plan policy D9 states that tall buildings, including their construction, should 
not interfere with aviation, navigation or telecommunication. NATS Safeguarding (who 
are responsible for the management of en-route air traffic) have confirmed that there 
would be no conflict with their safeguarding criteria, with no objections raised to the 
development as a result. Accordingly no conditions or mitigation would be required.  

 
Conclusions 
 

9.153 The proposed development would introduce a significant amount of new housing, 
including a mix of uses with shared living accommodation, affordable residential units 
and active ground floor commercial uses. The office retention policy does not cover 
this location and the education re-provision (albeit smaller), application submission for 
FSB relocation and flexible permission in place renders the loss supportable.  The 
proposed development would be well designed and deliver improvements to the public 
realm, making use of an existing underutilised site. There would be a good standard 
of accommodation for new residents, with an acceptable level of impact on neighbours. 
There would be neutral harm to designated heritage assets and some low level harm 
to the setting of the NLA Tower as a Locally Listed Building, but that harm is considered 
acceptable given the benefits being delivered by the scheme. Valued trees are being 
retained which contribute positively to amenity. With conditions and mitigation, the 
proposal would be sustainable and acceptable in terms of its impact on the highway 
network. Residual planning impacts would be adequately mitigated by the 
recommended s.106 obligations and planning conditions.  
 

9.154 All other relevant policies and considerations, including equalities, have been taken 
into account. It is recommended that planning permission is granted in line with the 
officer recommendation for the reasons summarised in this report.  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



Appendix 1: Drawing numbers 
 
Drawings: 
19066-SQP-ZZ-00-DR-A-PL100 A, 19066-SQP-ZZ-00-DR-A-PL101 G, 19066-SQP-ZZ-00-
DR-A-PL103 F, 19066-SQP-ZZ-00-DR-A-PL115 A, 19066-SQP-ZZ-07-DR-A-PL105 D, 
19066-SQP-ZZ-08-DR-A-PL106 D, 19066-SQP-ZZ-10-DR-A-PL107 D, 19066-SQP-ZZ-12-
DR-A-PL108 C, 19066-SQP-ZZ-13-DR-A-PL109 D, 19066-SQP-ZZ-18-DR-A-PL110 D, 
19066-SQP-ZZ-26-DR-A-PL111 C, 19066-SQP-ZZ-B1-DR-A-PL102 C, 19066-SQP-ZZ-
M0-DR-A-PL104 D, 19066-SQP-ZZ-RF-DR-A-PL112 C, 19066-SQP-ZZ-RF-DR-A-PL114 
B, 19066-SQP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-PL201 E, 19066-SQP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-PL202 E, 19066-SQP-
ZZ-XX-DR-A-PL204 C, 19066-SQP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-PL205 C, 19066-SQP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-
PL206 D, 19066-SQP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-PL207 D, 19066-SQP-ZZ-XX-DR-A-PL301 A 
 
Supporting Documents: 
19066-210526-FifthStateCroydon-DesignAndAccessStatement -  
19066-210929-FifthStateCroydon-DesignAndAccessStatment-Addendum-D  
Financial Viability Appraisal (DS2, May 2021)  
Financial Viability Appraisal GLA Response October 2021 (DS2)  
Energy Statement Revision 02 55202 May 2021 (Chapmans)  
Whole Life Cycle Carbon Assessment (Chapmans)  
Sustainability Statement Revision 01 55202 May 2021 (Chapmans)  
Flues and Ventilation Report Revision 02 55202 May 2021 (Chapmans)  
Utilities Assessment Revision 01 55202 May 2021 (Chapmans)  
Phase 1 Ecology Assessment May 2021 (LUC)  
Housing Contribution, Need & Demand Study and Economic Impact Assessment May 
2021 (Volterra)  
Fifth State Croydon Management Plan (CRM)  
Fire Statement Revision May (2021 55202-CBD-00-ZZ-RP-F-5700) (Chapmans)  
Fire Statement Addendum Report Revision 04 December (2021 55202-CBD-00-ZZ-RP-F-
5701) (Chapmans)  
Noise Assessment Report 26975/NAR April 2021 (Hann Tucker Associates)  
Sustainable Urban Drainage Statement EXP-1275-REP-C-001 November 2021 
(Expedition)  
Statement of Community Involvement May 2021 (Quatro)  
Townscape, Heritage and Visual Impact Assessment May 2021 (The Heritage 
Practice/Cityscape)  
Air Quality Assessment 784-A115779 May 2021 (Tetra Tech)  
Transport Assessment PB9824-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-R-0002 May 2021 as amended (RHDHV)  
Travel Plan PB9824-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-R-0002 April 2021 (RHDHV)  
Waste, Delivery and Servicing Plan PB9824-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-R-0003 April 2021 (RHDHV)  
Outline Demolition and Construction Method Statement DXXXX-MS-001 REV B Feb 2021 
(O’Keefe)  
Outline Construction Logistics Plan PB9824-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-R-0004 May 2014 (RHDHV)  
Landscape and Public Realm Strategy 8321-DRP-001 May 2021 as amended (Space 
Hub)  
Archaeological Desk-based Assessment May 2021 (LUC)  
Environmental Preliminary Risk Assessment June 2021 (Paragon)  
Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment April 2021 (LBHGEO)  
Pedestrian Wind Environment Study WE940-06F02(REV2)- WE REPORT May 2021 
(Windtech)  
Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing Assessment 784-A115779 May 2021 as amended 
(Tetra Tech)  

Page 107



Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing Technical Note (784-A115779) 7th January 2022 
(Tetra Tech) 
Health Impact Assessment May 2021 (Iceni)  
Planning Statement May 2021 (DP9)  
Television and Radio Reception Impact Assessment April 2021 (GTech)  
Arboricultural Impact Assessment April 2021 (SJ Stephens Associates)  
Circular Economy Statement R00 55202 October 2021 (Chapmans)  
 
 
Appendix 2: BRE Guidance Terms 
 
Daylight to existing buildings  
 
The BRE Guidelines stipulate that the diffuse daylighting of the existing building may be 
adversely affected if either: 
 

• the vertical sky component (VSC) measured at the centre of an existing main window 
is less than 27%, and less than 0.8 times its former value (or reduced by more than 
20%), known as the “VSC test” or  

 
• the area of the working plane in a room which can receive direct skylight is reduced 

to less than 0.8 times its former value known as the “NSL test” (no sky line). 
 
Sunlight to existing buildings 
 
The BRE Guidelines stipulate that the sunlight of an existing window may be adversely 
affected if the centre of the window: 
 

• receives less than 25% of annual probable sunlight hours (APSH), or less than 5% of 
annual winter probable sunlight hours between 21 September and 21 March (WPSH); 
and 

• receives less than 0.8 times its former sunlight hours (or a 20% reduction) during 
either period; and 

• has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year greater than 4% of annual 
probable sunlight hours. 

 
If one of the above tests is met, the dwelling is not considered to be adversely affected. 
 
Daylight to new buildings 
 
The Average Daylight Factor (ADF) test calculates the average illuminance within a room 
as a proportion of the illuminance available to an unobstructed point outdoors, under a sky 
of known illuminance and luminance distribution. 
 
The BRE Guidelines stipulate that kitchens should attain at least 2% ADF, living and dining 
rooms at least 1.5% ADF and bedrooms at least 1% ADF. 
 
Sunlight to new buildings 
 
The BRE Guidelines stipulate that a building with a requirement for sunlight will appear 
reasonably sunlit provided: 
 

Page 108



• at least one main window wall faces within 90 degrees if due south and 
• the centre of at least one window to a main living room can receive 25% of annual 

probable sunlight hours (APSH), including at least 5% of annual probable sunlight 
hours in the winter months between 21 September and 21 March (WPSH). 

 
Sunlight to gardens and outdoor spaces 
 
The BRE guidelines look at the proportion of an amenity area that received at least 2 hours 
of sun on 21st March. For amenity to be considered well sunlight through the year, it 
stipulates that at least 50% of the space should enjoy these 2 hours of direct sunlight on 21st 

March. 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



CROYDON  
www.croydon.gov.uk

Scale 1:1250                Crown Copyright Ordnance Survey (License No: 100019257) 2011

Reference number: 21/02020/FUL   

Page 111

Agenda Item 6.3



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 27 January 2022  

PART 6: Planning Applications for Decision Item 6.3 

1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 

Ref: 21/02020/FUL 
Location: 86 Bradmore Way | Coulsdon | CR5 1PB 
Ward: Old Coulsdon 
Description: Demolition of existing dwelling and garage and erection of a 2-3 

storey building (including lower ground floor), comprising 7 
dwellings, together with car parking, cycle parking, refuse storage 
and associated landscaping. 

Drawings: 20.043.001; 20.043.002; 20.043.003; 20.043.101F Rev. F; 
20.043.102M Rev. M; 20.043.103; 10.043.110A Rev. A; 
20.043.111; 20.043.112; 20.043.113; 20.043.120; 20.043.121; 
20.043.122; 20.043.123; 20.043.124; 20.043.125; 20.043.126B; 
20.043.127B; 20.043.130; 20.043.132; 2020/5527/002 Rev. P5; 
2020/5527/003 Rev. P5; 2101/06/AIA Rev. A; Amended 
Landscaping Plan (Received 14.01.2022); CGI Rendering 
Looking Northwest toward Site; and CGI Rendering Looking 
Southeast toward Site. 

Statements: Arboricultural Impact Assessment (ref. 2101/06/AIA) -- Prepared 
by Oakwood Tree Consultants Ltd (15.10.2021); Covering Letter 
-- Prepared by HTA Design (16.04.2021); Design and Access 
Statement Rev. A -- Prepared by Harp & Harp (Received 
18.01.2022); Energy Statement for Planning (ref. 8540 Rev. 2) -- 
Prepared by Base Energy (21.04.2021); External Daylight Study 
(ref. 8540 Rev. A) -- Prepared by Base Energy (21.04.2021); 
Flood Risk and Surface Water Assessment -- Prepared by Base 
Energy (20.04.2021); Planning Statement -- Prepared by HTA 
Design (April 2021); Planning Statement Addendum 1: Fire Safety 
(ref. NPA-BWC-86-IHTA-P-Planning Statement-Addendum-
211121 TC) -- Prepared by HTA Design (November 2021); and 
Transport Statement (ref. 5527/TS01) -- Prepared by RGP (April 
2021). 

Agent: Arjun Singh 
Applicant: New Place Associates 
Case Officer: Demetri Prevatt 

 
 Type of Dwelling Units 
 

One 
Bedroom 

Two 
Bedroom

Three 
Bedroom

Four 
Bedroom

Five or 
More 

Bedrooms 
Totals 

Existing 0 0 1 0 0 1 
Proposed 0 2 3 2 0 7 

 
Number of Vehicle Parking Spaces Number of Cycle Parking Spaces 

Five (5) Sixteen (16) 
 

Page 113

https://publicaccess3.croydon.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QRVAA8JLJ9U00


1.1 This application is being reported to Planning Committee in accordance with the 
following committee consideration criteria: 

 
‐ Objections above the threshold in the Committee Consideration Criteria; and 
‐ Referral from Ward Cllr. Margaret Bird supported by Ward Cllr. Steve 

Hollands. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
2.1 That the Planning Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to 

the completion of a legal agreement to secure the following: 
 
‐ A financial contribution of £10,500 for sustainable transport improvements 

and enhancements. 
 
2.2 That the Director of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration has delegated 

authority to negotiate the legal agreement indicated above. 
 

2.3 That the Director of Planning and Sustainable Regeneration has delegated 
authority to issue the planning permission and impose conditions and 
informatives to secure the following matters:  

 
CONDITIONS 

 
 Standard 

1. Three-year time limit for commencement. 
2. Requirement for development to be carried out in accordance with the approved 

drawings and reports. 
 

 Pre-Commencement of Development Conditions 
3. Submission and approval of a Construction Management Plan and 

Construction Logistics Plan. 
4. Submission and approval of a Construction Environmental Management Plan 

for Biodiversity. 
5. Submission and approval of details of a Tree Method Statement and Tree 

Protection Plan. 
6. Submission and approval of details of a Protected and Priority Species Site 

Survey and, if necessary, Impact Management Plan. 
 

Pre-Commencement of Above Ground Work Conditions 
7. Submission and approval of details of a Sustainable Urban Drainage System. 
8. Submission of detailed drawings of the retaining walls. 

 
Pre-Commencement of Visible Superstructure Conditions 

9. Submission and approval of details of the materials specifications including 
facing materials, joinery and openings.  

10. Submission and approval of details of Enhanced Sound Insulation. 
11. Submission and approval of details of the rooftop photovoltaic panel installation. 

 
 

Page 114



Pre-Occupation Conditions 
12. Submission and approval of details of on Electric Vehicle Charging Points. 
13. Submission and approval of details of a Waste Management Plan. 
14. Submission and approval of further details on the Landscaping Strategy 

including a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy, landscaping management plan, 
and details on: boundary treatment design (incl. visibility splays); arrangement 
of communal amenity space; play space arrangement equipment, and 
materials/plantings for hard/soft landscaping.  

15. Submission and approval of details on lighting. 
 
Compliance Conditions  

16. Use restriction to dwellinghouses (Use Class C3). 
17. Implementation of cycle storage as shown on plans prior to occupation. 
18. Provision and maintenance of off-street vehicle parking spaces. 
19. Provision of accessible and adaptable dwellings. 
20. Compliance with dwelling emissions rate and water efficiency standard. 
21. Installation and maintenance of anti-vibration measures. 
22. Compliance with noise emissions levels of mechanical equipment. 
23. Provision of ultra-low NOx boilers. 
24. Any other planning condition(s) considered necessary by the Director of 

Planning and Strategic Transport 
 
INFORMATIVES  

 
1. Community Infrastructure Levy 
2. Code of practice for Construction Sites 
3. Highways informative in relation to s278 and s38 works required 
4. Compliance with Building/Fire Regulations  
5. Construction Logistics Informative 
6. Refuse and cycle storage Informative  
7. Any other informative(s) considered necessary by the Director of Planning and 

Strategic Transport 
 

Page 115



3.0 PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS  
 

 
 
Proposal  

 
3.1 The application seeks Planning Permission for the redevelopment of the site 

involving the: 
 

‐ Demolition of the existing two-storey detached dwellinghouse (Use Class 
C3); 

 
‐ Erection of a two/three-storey detached building with a habitable loft level to 

provide seven (7) self-contained dwelling units (Use Class C3); 
 

‐ Provision of five (5) vehicle parking spaces on a raised platform; 
 

‐ Provision of associated amenity, cycle storage, hard/soft landscaped, and 
waste storage spaces; and 

 
‐ Various supporting alterations. 

 
3.2 According to the proposed plans listed above, the building proposed would rise 

above its 324.6sqm lower ground level floor plate to peaks and ridgelines located 
between 8.6m to 12.3m above the lowest adjacent ground level. It would have a 
design inspired by the Arts & Craft architecture and styling of neighbouring 
buildings and be finished in a red hue. The predominant finishing material of 
mixed red stock brick would be complemented by red creasing tiles, red framing, 
and rosemary red clay roofing tiles. These red elements would be contrasted by 

Page 116



a mix of light green framing and timber joist, as well as, lead dormers at roof 
level. Visual relief would be provided via the aforementioned creased tile and 
contrasting elements, as well as, bay windows, clipped eaves, diaper pattern 
brickwork, and gable-end projections. 

3.3 The proposed building would provide a three-bedroom, five-person 
dwellinghouse spread across the lower and upper ground floor levels (Unit 5), 
and two (2) four-bedroom, eight-person dwellinghouses spread across all three 
(3) levels (Units 1 & 2). Additionally, two (2) three-bedroom, five-person flats 
would be spread across the lower and upper ground floor levels (Units 3 & 4) 
while two (2) two-bedroom, three-person flats would be located in the loft level 
(Units 6 & 7). The gross internal area (GIA) of each flat is detailed in Table 3.0. 

 

Dwelling 
Floorspace 
Provided 

Floorspace 
Required 

Number of 
Bedrooms 

Type of 
Bedrooms 

Occupancy 

Unit 1 144.5sqm 124.0sqm 4 4 Doubles 8 
Unit 2 136.2sqm 124.0sqm 4 4 Doubles 8 

Unit 3 112.1sqm 93.0sqm 3 
2 Doubles & 1 

Single 
5 

Unit 4 131.2sqm 93.0sqm 3 
2 Doubles & 1 

Single 
5 

Unit 5 93.4sqm 93.0sqm 3 
2 Doubles & 1 

Single 
5 

Unit 6 61.2sqm 61.0sqm 2 
1 Double & 1 

Single 
3 

Unit 7 69.2sqm 61.0sqm 2 
1 Double & 1 

Single 
3 

Table 3.0: Details of dwellings to be provided. 

 
3.4 At the front of the property, a ramp from street level would provide access across 

the forecourt to stairs to the lower ground floor level, as well as, a private front 
entrance to Unit 3 and communal entrance to Units 4, 6, and 7. The stairs to the 
lower ground floor level would lead to the private entrances to Units 1, 2 and 5. 
The forecourt would be the location for five (5) off-street vehicle parking spaces 
(including one (1) disabled parking space), as well as, communal cycle and waste 
stores. 

 
3.5 The private amenity space provided by the balcony or patio from which every unit 

would benefit would be supplemented by 362.1sqm of amenity space to be 
provided in the re-landscaped rear garden. A section of the rear garden has been 
identified as the location for the requisite 38.8sqm of children’s play space. 

 
3.6 According to the Arboricultural Impact Assessment (dwg. 2106/06/AIA) and 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment Plan (dwg. 2101/06/AIA), the proposal would 
involve minor pruning to a single tree (T2) located in the front garden of the host 
property, as well as, the felling of a group of trees (G13) in the side garden and 
three (3) trees (T7, T10 and T12) in the rear garden. The proposed loss of trees 
would be off-set by the planting of two (2) feature trees in the front garden and 
three (3) in the rear garden. 

3.7 The proposed alterations would involve a reconfiguration of the existing vehicle 
crossover to the front of the property, formation of a second crossover, and 

Page 117



raising the height of the front garden to form a forecourt through the installation 
of raised platform (i.e. rootbridge system). 

 
Site and Surroundings 

 
 
3.8 The application site is an essentially rectangular 1,425.3sqm residential property 

located in Coulsdon on the southwest side of Bradmore Way. It is a double-wide 
property that contains a two-storey detached dwellinghouse that sits notably 
below street level due the front garden’s steep slope down from the pavement. 
While the design of the dwellinghouse adopted some elements of the 
characteristic Arts and Craft styled houses that line Bradmore Way, it is a unique 
yet fitting element along the street scene. 

3.9 Steep gradients and mature trees are defining elements of the character and 
appearance of the local suburban setting with the host property being no 
exception. Bradmore Way slopes upward in a west to east direction while the 
properties have dramatic changes in height and fall away from north to south. 
Dense groups of plantings and trees in the rear gardens provide a green frame 
to the picturesque views of Farthing Downs to the south. 

3.10 The existing dwellinghouse is accessible via steps carved into the slope of the 
front garden. These steps also provide access to a path along the side of the 
building that leads to the rear garden. A vehicle ramp that has also been built 
into the slope of the front garden provides access to a detached garage. 

Page 118



3.11 Although the application site is within walking distance of Coulsdon South 
national rail station, it has a ‘poor’ PTAL Rating of 1B. Vehicular access is 
relatively convenient due to the aforementioned detached front garage and lack 
of local parking restrictions, such as a Controlled Parking Zone, along the 
immediate stretch of Bradmore Way. 

3.12 In regard to other relevant planning constraints, the local area is deemed to be a 
Critical Drainage Area. However, the host property is neither located within a 
Conservation Area, subject to a relevant Article 4 Direction, nor the site of a 
Listed Building. 

Planning History 

3.13 19/02891/FUL -- Enlargement of the existing single dwelling house and creation 
of a pair of semi-detached dwellings with vehicle access, cycle and refuse 
storage, retaining walls and raised patio area. -- Conditionally Granted on 
24.03.2020. 

3.14 18/02380/FUL -- Demolition of existing garage and the erection of a  three/four 
bedroom two storey dwelling with accommodation at lower ground floor, 
associated parking and amenity provision. -- Conditionally granted on 
06.09.2018. 

3.15 18/01623/HSE -- Alterations and part demolition of the existing property; the 
erection of a two storey front/side/rear extension; and the provision of a rear 
balcony and raised patio area. -- Conditionally granted on 01.06.2018. 

3.16 Advice given on pre-application enquires ref. 17/06335/PRE, 19/01574/PRE, 
19/03672/PRE, 20/00276/PRE, and 20/03986/PRE. 

 
 
4.0 SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 The principle of the intensified residential development is acceptable given the 
residential character of the surrounding area and the need for housing 
nationally and locally. 

 The proposal includes a mix of different sized units and provides a good 
quality of accommodation and amenity space for residents. 

 The design and appearance of the development is of a high quality and is 
sympathetic to the character of the surrounding area. 

 The proposed landscaping scheme and planting of additional trees would 
result in an enhancement to the streetscene. 

 The living conditions of adjoining occupiers would be protected from undue 
harm. 

 The level of parking and the impact on highway safety and efficiency would be 
acceptable. 

 
 
5.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
5.1 None. 

Page 119



 6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 
 
6.1 Ten (10) neighbouring properties were notified of the application and invited to 

comment. Four-hundred and fifty-three (453) representations were received with 
four-hundred and fifty-one (451) constituting objections to the proposal. 
Individuals/groups such as MP Chris Philip, the East Coulsdon Residents’ 
Association, London Wildlife Trust, and Old Coulsdon Residents’ Association 
were noted as objectors. The concerns raised in the objections received are 
summarised in Table 6.0, which also contains the Case Officer’s response to the 
objections. 

 
Objection Officer’s Response 

Principle of Development 
As local housing targets are being 
met and there is a local 
oversaturation of flats, such a 
development is unnecessary. The 
area needs more family homes. 
Furthermore, the London Plan 
(2021) reduced its housing target 
prior to its adoption. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.2 through 8.6. 
Furthermore, a reduction in housing 
targets does not constitute their 
elimination and the housing targets in 
the London Plan are higher than those 
set out in the Croydon Local Plan 2018

The scale of the development is 
inappropriate for the locality and 
such developments should be 
concentrated around transport hubs.

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.2 through 8.6. 

The local area is not designated an 
area of focused intensification. 

It is acknowledged that the application 
site does not fall within an area of 
focused intensification. However, the 
proposed development is not seeking 
to benefit from the provisions of the 
Croydon Local Plan’s focused 
intensification policy (DM10.11). 

Density 
The increase in the number of 
dwellings constitutes an 
overdevelopment that would strain 
soft and hard infrastructure. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.8 through 8.10.  

The cumulative impacts of allowing 
intensification proposals on the 
application and in the local area 
would be excessive and 
unsustainable. 

The carrying capacity of the application 
site and surrounding area is 
acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.8 through 8.10. Similar 
assessments for intensification 
proposals in the local area would be 
completed prior to Planning Permission 
being granted. As such, cumulative 
impacts within the entire area would be 
taken into consideration. 

Impact on Character & Appearance  
As there are currently no blocks of 
flats along Bradmore Way, the 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.11 and 8.16. 

Page 120



proposal’s introduction of flats 
would be out of keeping with the 
character of the single-family area. 
The appearance of the 
development (e.g. materials, height 
and style) would be incongruous 
with the appearances of 
neighbouring buildings that define 
the character of the street scene. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.15 thought 8.20. 

The height of the proposed building 
is not considerate of the local 
topography and would result in 
losses of views through and 
beyond the application site. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraph 8.20. 

The excessive bulk, footprint, 
height, massing and size of the 
proposed building would be out of 
keeping with the quiet, leafy street 
and semi-rural street/area 
comprised of detached and semi-
detached properties. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.20 through 8.24. 

Balconies and roof terraces are out 
of keeping with the character of the 
rear garden setting. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraph 8.19. 

The existing dwellinghouse is of 
architectural/historical merit and 
warrants preservation. 

As the existing building is neither a 
locally or statutory Listed Building, it is 
not especially protected from demolition. 
The merits of replacing the 
dwellinghouse at acknowledged and 
addressed in paragraphs 8.11 through 
8.24. 

Impact on Local Amenity 
The increase in the number of units 
and inhabitants would result in an 
increase in activity and noise that 
would constitute an undue 
nuisance. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraph 8.29. 

The design and scale of the 
proposed building would appear 
overbearing and result in undue 
losses of light, outlook, and privacy.

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.25 through 8.28. 

The construction of the proposed 
development would generate dust, 
noise and pollution. 

The ability to construct permitted 
development is granted by right through 
planning legislation. However, building 
works to complete such development 
must take place in accordance with the 
Council’s requirements for construction 
that have been designed to fairly 
manage noise and disturbance during 
building works.  In addition, a condition 

Page 121



has been proposed requiring a 
Construction Management Plan and 
Construction Logistics Plan to manage 
these impacts. 

The increase in density and 
introduction of flats proposed would 
result in an increase in crime. 

While there may be a correlation 
between density and crime in some 
instances, there is no causality. 
Nevertheless, the design of the 
proposed development includes 
sufficient consideration of Crime 
Prevention through Environmental 
Design to ensure the safety and privacy 
of the host property and neighbouring 
properties. 

Quality of Accommodation 
The dwellings proposed would 
provide insufficient space including 
areas to accommodate 
working/studying from home. 

Addressed in paragraph 8.30. However, 
it is noted that as the relevant space 
standards do not explicitly address home 
office space, its provision does not 
constitute a material planning 
consideration. 

The level of daylight and sunlight 
would be substandard in one (1) or 
more of the proposed flats. 

Addressed in paragraph 8.31. 

Living in flats can be detrimental to 
the mental health of occupants. 

Addressed in paragraphs 8.30 through 
8.33. 

Impact on Local Transport 
The increase in the number of units 
and inhabitants would result in an 
unmanageable and unsustainable 
increase in traffic and on-street 
parking strain. Additionally, it would 
be detrimental to 
pedestrian/highway safety. 

Addressed in paragraphs 8.44 through 
8.54. 

The use of sustainable modes of 
transport by future occupants 
would be limited by the challenging 
local topography. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraph s 8.44 through 8.54. 

The proposed development would 
adversely impact the highway 
safety of the nearby educational 
institution.  

There is no empirical evidence to support 
this prediction. 

Impact on Natural Environment 
The loss of natural habitats, 
permeable surface area, trees and 
vegetation would be detrimental to 
nature and ecology. 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.38 and 8.43. 

As the Applicant provided 
insufficient ecological evaluation of 
the existing site including 

Addressed in paragraphs 8.38 and 8.39.

Page 122



appropriate references to potential 
presence (temporary or 
permanent) of badgers, bats, and 
slow-worms habitats, they need to 
provide a protected and priority 
species survey of the site, 
construction environmental 
management plan (CEMP), and 
ecologically-sensitive lighting plan. 
The applicant should also adopt a 
landscaping plan that utilises 
planting that, as best as possible, 
reflects ecological character of the 
area (e.g. the downland flora of 
nearby Farthing Downs). 

Acknowledged and addressed in 
paragraphs 8.38 and 8.41. 

Archaeology 
The application site could be a 
significant site for archaeological 
remains. 

The application site is not located within 
an Archaeological Priority Area and no 
evidence is available to the contrary. 

Inaccuracies with Application 
Submissions included with the 
application provided inaccurate 
information about local properties 
including references to consented 
local developments that are not 
relevant to the proposal. 

Any inaccuracies contained with the 
documents and drawings submitted with 
the application were minor in nature and 
insufficient to prejudice any assessment 
of the proposed development 

The submissions (incl. drawings) 
provided with the application were 
insufficiently detailed. 

The documents and drawings submitted 
with the application provide enough 
details to assist with a thorough and 
robust assessment of the proposed 
development. 

The Transport Statement submitted 
with the application did not identify 
all local parking restrictions. 
Additionally, the parking survey 
detailed was not completed during 
school times. 

The submitted statement contained 
enough relevant details during the 
relevant periods to assist with an 
accurate assessment of the on-street 
parking situation relevant to the 
proposed development. 

Public Consultation 
The Site Notices found on the 
Public Access Module did not 
provide a deadline for responses. 

Site Notices were not used for the 
subject application. The Notification 
Letters sent and details on the Council’s 
website displayed the deadline for 
responses.  

There was a lack of public 
engagement by the Applicant. 

While encouraged to work with 
neighbours and stakeholders, Applicants 
are not obligated to do so. 

Non-Material Considerations 
Properties along Bradmore Way 
are usually subject to covenants 
prohibiting flat conversions. 

As legal covenants are a matter of 
property law and have no impact on the 
acceptability of the proposed 

Page 123



development in planning terms as set out 
in the relevant planning legislation, they 
are not a material consideration for this 
application. 

Table 6.0: Issues material to the determination of the application raised in public objections. 
 
6.2 Two (2) of objections received were from local Ward Councillors Margaret Bird 

and Steve Hollands who used their representations to refer the application to the 
Planning Committee. In addition to referring the application, they also objected 
on the grounds that the proposal would: 

 
‐ Be an overdevelopment of the host property that would appear overbearing 

and out of keeping with the street scene; 
‐ Be intrusive for neighbouring properties and block views of Farthing Downs 

that contribute to local character; 
‐ Provide an insufficient amount of off-street vehicle parking spaces and 

electric vehicle charging points; 
‐ Provide insufficient amenity space for future occupants due to the 

inaccessibility of the communal garden; and 
‐ Have an unaccounted impact on local ecology. 

 

6.3 The concerns of the local Ward Councillors are acknowledged and addressed in 
the assessment below. 

 
 

7.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE  

7.1 This recommendation to grant planning permission has been taken having 
regard to the policies and proposals in the London Plan (2021) and Croydon 
Local Plan (2018), as well as, to all relevant material considerations: 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (As Amended) 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
Section 4 Decision Making 
Section 5 Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 
Section 8 Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities 
Section 9 Promoting Sustainable Transport 
Section 11 Making Effective Use of Land 
Section 12 Achieving Well-Designed Places 
Section 14 Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Costal 
Change 
Section 15 Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 
 
London Plan (2021) 
Policy GG2 Making the Best Use of Land 
Policy GG4 Delivering the Homes Londoners Need 
Policy D1 London’s Form, Character and Capacity for Growth 
Policy D2 Infrastructure Requirements for Sustainable Densities 
Policy D3 Optimising Site Capacity through the Design-Led Approach 

Page 124



Policy D4 Delivering Good Design 
Policy D5 Inclusive Design 
Policy D6 Housing Quality and Standards 
Policy D8 Public Realm 
Policy D11 Safety, Security and Resilience to Emergency 
Policy D12 Fire Safety 
Policy D14 Noise 
Policy H1 Increasing Housing Supply 
Policy H2 Small Sites 
Policy G4 Open Space 
Policy G5 Urban Greening 
Policy G6 Biodiversity and Access to Nature 
Policy G7 Trees and Woodlands 
Policy SI1 Improving Air Quality 
Policy SI2 Minimising Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
Policy SI4 Managing Heat Risk 
Policy SI7 Reducing Waste and Supporting the Circular Economy 
Policy SI12 Flood Risk Management 
Policy SI14 Sustainable Drainage 
Policy T1 Strategic Approach to Transport 
Policy T2 Healthy Streets 
Policy T3 Transport Capacity, Connectivity and Safeguarding 
Policy T4 Assessing and Mitigating Transport Impacts 
Policy T5 Cycling 
Policy T6 Car Parking 
Policy T7 Deliveries, Servicing and Construction 
Policy DF1 Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations 
 
Croydon Local Plan (2018) 
Policy DM1 Housing Choice for Sustainable Communities 
Policy DM10 Design and Character 
Policy DM13 Refuse and Recycling 
Policy DM16 Promoting Healthy Communities 
Policy DM18 Heritage Assets and Conservation 
Policy DM25 Sustainable Drainage Systems and Reducing Flood Risk 
Policy DM27 Protecting and Enhancing Our Biodiversity 
Policy DM28 Trees 
Policy DM29 Promoting Sustainable Travel and Reducing Congestion 
Policy DM37 Coulsdon 
Policy SP2 Homes 
Policy SP4 Urban Design and Local Character 
Policy SP6 Environment and Climate Change 
Policy SP7 Green Grid 
Policy SP8 Transport and Communication 
 
Other Relevant Policies & Guidance 
Borough Character Appraisal (LBC - 2015) 
Housing SPG (GLA - 2015) 
Suburban Design Guide SPD (LBC - 2019) 
Technical Housing Standards - Nationally Described Space Standard (2015) 

Page 125



Waste and Recycling in Planning Policy Document (LBC, 2015, As Amended) 
 
 
8.0 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

8.1 The main planning issues relevant in the assessment of this application are as 
follows: 

 
‐ Principle of Development; 
‐ Density; 
‐ Architectural and Environmental Design; 
‐ Local Amenity; 
‐ Quality of Accommodation; 
‐ Amenity Space; 
‐ Urban Greening; 
‐ Local Transport; 
‐ Environmental Sustainability; 
‐ Waste Management; and 
‐ Fire Safety. 

 
Principle of Development 

8.2 In order to create a housing market that works better for all Londoners, the 
London Plan (2021) states that the planning and development system must 
ensure that more homes are delivered (Policy GG4). This strategic objective is 
supported by the Croydon Local Plan (2018), which applies a presumption in 
favour of development of new homes and states that the Council will seek to 
deliver 32,890 homes between 2016 and 2036 with 10,060 of said homes being 
delivered across the borough on windfall sites (Croydon Local Plan -- Policy 
SP2). On these windfall sites, the London Plan (2021) encourages incremental 
densification that, through an appropriate design-led approach, helps make the 
best use of land and optimises the capacity of existing sites (Policy D3). 
Furthermore, the London Plan (2021) also states that London Boroughs should 
pro-actively support well-designed new homes on small sites (below 0.25 
hectares in size) through planning decisions in order to significantly increase the 
contribution of small sites to both meeting London’s housing needs and diversify 
the sources, locations, type and mix of housing supply (Policy H2). 

 
8.3 As the application site’s existing use is residential, the basic principle of 

optimising this residential use to increase the local stock of well-designed homes 
is acceptable. 

 
8.4 In regard to “well-designed new homes”, the London Plan (2021) and Croydon 

Local Plan (2018) note that development seeking to optimise local housing 
output is expected to have a high-quality design that addresses and respects the 
character of the local area; local need for family-sized housing; capacity of the 
local transport network; and the level of density the surrounding area is 
considered capable of supporting (London Plan - Policies D1, D2, D3 and GG2; 

Page 126



Croydon Local Plan - Policy DM1, DM10, SP2 and SP4).The proposed 
development would be a relatively low-impact addition to and diversification of 
an existing development leading to the provision of additional homes in a part of 
the Borough that is conveniently located close to an existing and well-served rail 
station. It is a good example of a sympathetically designed development that 
would increase the housing stock and options available to Londoners in an area 
where it is appropriate and could be handled. 

 
8.5 According to the Croydon Local Plan (2018), there is an identified need for larger 

homes in the borough requiring the retention of existing three-bedroom dwelling 
units and the development of more (Paragraphs 4.20 and 4.21). Therefore, the 
Croydon Local Plan (2018) has set a strategic target for thirty percent (30%) of 
all new homes over the plan period to have three (3) or more bedrooms to help 
meet the borough’s need for family sized units and ensure  that a choice of 
homes is available in the borough (Policies DM1.1 and SP2.7). In order to meet 
this strategic target, small scale suburban intensification schemes are generally 
expected to ensure that thirty-percent (30%) of the unit they provide have three 
(3) or more bedrooms. Additionally, the Council will only permit the 
redevelopment of residential units where it does not result in the net loss of three-
bedroom homes (as originally built) or the loss of homes smaller than 130.0sqm 
(Croydon Local Plan -- Policy DM1). 

 
8.6 It is acknowledged that the proposed development would result in the loss of a 

family-sized home (i.e. three (3) or more bedrooms). However, the existing 
dwellinghouse is larger than 130.0sqm and the proposal would result in the net 
gain of four (4) family-sized homes. Furthermore, the proposed development 
would exceed the strategic target for providing family-sized homes by having 
over seventy percent (70%) of the proposed homes providing three (3) or more 
bedrooms. 
 

Type of Unit Quantum 
Two Bedroom Two-Bedroom, Three-Person 2 

Three-Bedroom 
(Family-Sized) 

Three-Bedroom, Five-Person 3 

Four-Bedroom 
(Family-Sized) 

Four-Bedroom, Eight-Person 2 

Table 8.0: Breakdown of the proposed dwellings by unit type. 
 

Page 127



8.7 Subject to compliance with the relevant policies and objectives of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021), London Plan (2021), Croydon Local Plan 
(2018), Croydon’s Suburban Design Guide SPD (2019) (herein referred to as 
‘SDG’) and all other relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents, 
the proposal is considered to be in line with local and regional strategic objectives 
that seek to make the best use of land and optimise local housing potential. 

Density 

8.8 The London Plan (2021) requires development to follow a design-led approach 
that optimises the capacity of sites to ensure that development is of the most 
appropriate form and land use for the development site, as well as, responds to 
development sites’ context and capacity for growth (Policy D3). In regard to the 
latter, the plan notes that the density of a development proposal should be linked 
to the provision of future planned levels of infrastructure rather than existing 
levels and be proportionate to the site’s connectivity and accessibility by walking, 
cycling, and public transport to jobs and services (London Plan - Policy D2). 

8.9 The proposed development would utilise three (3) levels to increase the density 
of the site but still present itself as a two-storey building from the street. 
Furthermore, it would increase the footprint of the property’s main building 
without: adopting a shape that would be contrived or incongruous with the local 
built environment; or relying on excessive projections beyond the established 
building lines. Therefore, the proposal is considered to have adopted a 
considerate design-led approach that increases the density of the existing 
residential use on a spacious property through an acceptable built form. 

8.10 In regard to infrastructure in the local area, the development would be required 
to contribute to the provision of local infrastructure via charges under the Mayoral 
and Croydon Community Infrastructure Levies (CIL). Additionally, the 
development would be required to make a contribution toward the provision of 
sustainable transport in the local area through a payment required by the Section 
106 Legal Agreement that would need to be completed before the Planning 
Permission hereby recommended can be granted. These contributions are 
considered to be proportionate to the scale of the proposed development and 
sufficient to mitigate its expected impact on local infrastructure.   

Architectural and Environmental Design 

8.11 According to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021), the 
creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is 
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve 
(Paragraph 126). Therefore, the NPPF (2021) requires planning policies and 
decisions to ensure developments are visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping yet are 
sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (e.g. increased densities) (Paragraph 130). 

8.12 In accordance with NPPF (2021) policy on ‘achieving well-designed places’, 
Croydon’s Local Plan (2018) requires development proposals to be of high 

Page 128



quality and respect: the development pattern, layout and siting; scale, height, 
massing, and density; and appearance, existing materials and built/natural 
features of the surrounding area and Place of Croydon in which it is located 
(Policy DM10). 

8.13 With regard to the local character of the application site and its surroundings, 
both Croydon’s Borough Character Appraisal (2015) and Local Plan (2018) 
identify Coulsdon as a small suburban settlement surrounded by green areas of 
Green Belt (Character Appraisal - Page 26; Local Plan - Paragraph 11.70). 
Furthermore, the Borough Character Appraisal (2015) notes that Coulsdon is 
relatively verdant in character with tree lined streets and its detached houses are 
mainly found on larger hillside properties with landscaped front and rear gardens 
(Pages 30 & 31). 

 
Typology and Siting 

8.14 It is noted that although the proposed building would provide residential 
accommodation and supporting amenities (e.g. cycle and waste storage spaces) 
across three (3) levels, the building would present itself externally as a pair of 
two-storey semi-detached houses with notably-sized side extensions. 
Additionally, the new structure would be built on the same site as the existing 
dwellinghouse. As a result, the property would reflect the form and siting that is 
characteristic of semi-detached dwellinghouse properties in the local area 

Character and Materials 

8.15 The SDG (2019) explicitly states that the built character of an area is not defined 
by the people who live there, but rather the physical characteristics of which it is 
composed (Paragraph 2.7.1). As such, character can change over time and it is 
possible for well-designed proposals to be integrated into an existing community 
and have a positive effect on that area (SDG - Paragraph 2.7.1). 

8.16 In light of the SDG’s (2019) identification of what does not define character, the 
fact that the proposed development would result in a single-family building being 
replaced with a multi-family building is not negative mark against the proposal. 
Furthermore, it is noted that family neighbourhoods are not limited to areas 
comprised of only single-family houses as families can live within multi-dwelling 
buildings. In this regard, the proposed development would provide five (5) family-
sized dwellings that would help bring larger families to the local area. 

8.17 In attempting to provide a well-designed proposal, the SDG (2019) advises that 
development does not need to replicate existing qualities and can evolve the 
character of an area by referencing and reinforcing existing architectural styles 
or introduces new well-designed architectural styles that add interest to the area 
including increased building sizes (Paragraph 2.7.2). 

8.18 The design of the proposed two/three-storey building adopts the architectural-
styling of an Arts and Craft inspired semi-detached dwellinghouse, which are 
original to the local area. However, it applies these architectural elements (i.e. 
diaper pattern brickwork, gable-end projections, lead dormers and prominent 
chimney) on a new build that would maximise its bulk and massing rather than 

Page 129



evolve/expand over time. As such, it adopts the Contemporary Reinterpretation 
approach to responding to character described in the SDG (2019). The 
implementation of the proposal would result in a building that embraces the 
prevailing character and vernacular of the locality so as to blend-in rather than 
create a signature structure that would stand apart. Nevertheless, this 
recommendation includes a condition requiring the submission and approval of 
further details on the facing materials to be used in the development of the 
proposed building. 

8.19 The SDG (2019) states that balcony design is an integral part of a proposal and 
must be part of the initial design phase (Paragraph 2.26.1) rather than an amenity 
to be rejected outright. In this regard, the inset balconies proposed for the loft 
level would be a new feature in the immediate area but one that has been 
carefully designed as part of the overall scheme to ensure their appearance is 
integrated into the design and appearance of the rear elevation of the proposed 
two/three-storey building. Therefore, they are considered to be acceptable. 

Height and Scale 

8.20 According to Croydon’s Local Plan (2018), development proposals should seek 
to achieve a height of three-storeys while respecting the height of existing 
buildings (Policy DM10.1). In this regard, the proposed development would 
provide residential accommodation and supporting amenities across three (3) 
internal levels that have the appearance of a two-storey building typical of the 
local area. It is acknowledged that in order to accommodate these three (3) 
levels, the main ridgeline of the proposed building would rise almost 4.0m higher 
than the peak of the existing dwellinghouse. However, it is noted that the height 
of the proposed building would be line with that of the house located at the 
adjoining property to the southeast (no. 88A Bradmore Way). Such a relationship 
between neighbouring buildings is common along Bradmore Way as 
neighbouring buildings do not always have step-down in height that corresponds 
to a change in level between properties yet protect through views to Farthing 
Downs (See: Image 8.2). 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



 
    Image 8.1: Existing (top) and Proposed (bottom) Street Scene. 
 

 
    Image 8.2: Lack of step-down in roof height along Bradmore Way. 
 

Page 131



Form and Massing 

8.21 When a development would result in a building projecting beyond a rear building 
line, the SDG (2019) states it should follow a 45-degree rule (See: Image 8.3) to 
avoid any detrimental impacts on adjoining amenity (Paragraph 2.11.1). 
However, the SDG also advises caution when dealing with the ‘stepping’ that 
could result from adhering the 45-degree rule and states that no stepping should 
be introduced where the stepping would overly complicate the development’s 
form (Paragraph 2.11.3). 

 
8.22 As illustrated on the 45-Degree Outlook Test drawings (dwg. 20.043.130 and 

20.043.132) listed in the Approved Plans, the areas of the proposed building that 
would project beyond the rear building lines of the original dwellinghouse and 
existing neighbouring buildings would comply with the 45-degree rule test on 
elevation and plan. The considerate design of the proposed building allows the 
development to blend into its surrounding and provide a logical evolution to the 
pattern of development of the local rear garden setting. 

 

 
Image 8.3: 45-Degree Test Rule. 

Page 132



 

 
Image 8.4: 45-Degree Test on plan. 

 

 
Image 8.5: 45-Degree Test on elevation. 

 

Page 133



8.23 In regard to the width of redevelopment proposals such as the subject 
application, the SDG (2019) states that the width of a proposal should be 
determined by the appearance within the streetscene and proposed proportions 
and fenestration of the front elevation (Paragraph 2.17.2). Additionally, 
developments that seek to build closer to the boundary with neighbouring plots 
must demonstrate consideration to the impact on neighbouring amenity as well 
as the rhythm of development along the street (SDG - Paragraph 2.16.2). 

8.24 It is acknowledged that the proposed two/three-storey building would project 
beyond the side building lines of the existing dwellinghouse and encroach upon 
the property’s side boundaries. However, it is also noted that the host property is 
essentially a double width property. Therefore, the width of the proposed building 
would be similar to that of a pair of semi-detached houses with side extensions 
developed on a similarly-sized pair of adjoining properties. As many of the pairs 
of semi-detached properties original to Bradmore Way have developed in such 
a manner, the proposal would not result in a width and pattern of development 
out of keeping with that of the local built environment. Additionally, it is noted that 
the flank walls would be setback from the side boundaries of the property by at 
least 1.2m in keeping with the similar side setbacks of the neighbouring houses. 

Local Amenity 

8.25 The Croydon Local Plan (2018) states the Council will support development 
proposals that ensure they protect the amenity of the occupiers of adjoining 
buildings and do not result in: direct overlooking at close range or habitable 
rooms in main rear / private elevations; significant loss of existing 
sunlight/daylight levels of adjoining occupiers; and direct overlooking of private 
outdoor space (with the exception of communal open space) within 10.0m 
perpendicular to the rear elevation of a dwelling (Policy DM10). 

Enclosure & Impact on Light 

8.26 It is noted that the proposed two/three-storey building would be set away from 
the side boundaries with the adjoining properties of nos. 82 and 88A Bradmore 
Way by approximately 1.2m. While the proposed building would be taller than 
the existing dwellinghouse, the buffers between the building and adjoining 
properties would be sufficient to avoid any undue enclosure of the adjoining 
properties. The adequacy of the separation distances to be provided are evident 
in the findings of the External Daylight Study prepared by Base Energy Services 
Ltd. that concluded the losses of daylight and sunlight and neighbouring 
properties would be negligible and within reason according to the relevant BRE 
Guidance. 

Impact on Outlook 

8.27 As noted previously in this report (Images 8.4 and 8.5), the proposed building’s 
projection beyond the rear building lines of the buildings at the adjoining 
properties to the side would not encroach beyond the 45-degree rule tests 
described and illustrated in the SDG (2019). Therefore, it is noted that the 
proposed development would not give rise to any undue enclosure or losses of 
outlook from the neighbouring properties. 

Page 134



Impact on Overlooking 

8.28 It is noted that the door and window openings proposed for the front and rear 
elevations of the proposed two/three-storey building would have no more of an 
impact on privacy at neighbouring properties than existing openings located on 
the same elevations of the existing dwellinghouse. Similarly, the recessed design 
of the rear balconies proposed would ensure no new opportunities for the 
overlooking of areas currently out of sight. 

Noise & Activity 

8.29 Although the proposed development would increase the intensity of the 
residential use of the site, the density of development would be in keeping with 
carrying capacity and scale of the large suburban property. Therefore, the level 
of activity, disturbance and noise generated by the redevelopment would be in 
keeping with the levels expected in an area that can accommodate moderate 
intensification. However, the recommendation includes numerous noise-related 
conditions that would ensure noise emissions from mechanical equipment 
associated with the development are acceptable. 

Quality of Accommodation  

8.30 According to the Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space 
Standard (2015), all of the dwelling unit proposed would provide a sufficient 
amount of Gross Internal Area (GIA) (See: Table 3.0). As such, all dwelling units 
proposed are deemed capable of providing acceptable amounts of living space 
to future occupants due to the practicality, efficiency and effectiveness of their 
internal layouts. 

 

Dwelling 
Floorspace 
Provided 

Floorspace 
Required 

Number of 
Bedrooms 

Type of 
Bedrooms 

Occupancy 

Unit 1 144.5sqm 124.0sqm 4 4 Doubles 8 
Unit 2 136.2sqm 124.0sqm 4 4 Doubles 8 

Unit 3 112.1sqm 93.0sqm 3 
2 Doubles & 1 

Single 
5 

Unit 4 131.2sqm 93.0sqm 3 
2 Doubles & 1 

Single 
5 

Unit 5 93.4sqm 93.0sqm 3 
2 Doubles & 1 

Single 
5 

Unit 6 61.2sqm 61.0sqm 2 
1 Double & 1 

Single 
3 

Unit 7 69.2sqm 61.0sqm 2 
1 Double & 1 

Single 
3 

Table 3.0: Details of dwellings to be provided. 

 
8.31 In addition to having practical and comfortable layouts, the proposed dwellings 

would be located far enough away from neighbouring buildings to benefit from 
pleasant outlooks and good levels of natural light. Additionally, the habitable 
rooms to the front of the proposed building that would open onto communal areas 
or be in the path of the headlights of vehicles access the forecourt would be 
provided with adequate screening in the form of hanging planters.  

Page 135



8.32 In order to provide suitable housing and genuine choice for London’s diverse 
population (incl. disabled people, older people and families with young children), 
residential development must ensure that at least ten percent (10%) of dwellings 
are compliant with Building Regulation M4(3) and all remaining dwellings are 
compliant with Building Regulation M4(2) (London Plan - Policy D7). As the 
proposed development would provide one (1) dwelling (Unit 3) as a M4(3) 
compliant unit and the remaining as M4(2) compliant units, the proposal would 
be sufficiently accessible. Consequently, the proposal adheres to local and 
regional policies requiring the internal areas of housing developments to be of 
the highest quality. 

Amenity Space 

8.33 According to local and regional policy, housing is expected to be of the highest 
quality both internally and externally (London Plan - Policy D6; Croydon Local 
Plan - Policy DM10). In regard to the latter, the noted policies require 5.0sqm of 
private outdoor space to be provide for one to two-person units with an extra 
1.0sqm per every extra occupant thereafter. Furthermore, the London Plan 
(2021) expects these spaces to be practical in terms of their shape and utility so 
as to ensure the space offers good amenity (Policy D6). 

8.34 As noted above, every dwelling unit would be provided with private amenity 
space in the form of a patio for ground floor units and a balcony for upper floor 
dwellings. In regard to quality, each of these amenity spaces would be 
considered genuine, fit-for-purpose, and sufficiently-sized (Table 8.1). 
Additionally, the 362.1sqm communal amenity space to be located in the rear 
garden would provide over 50.0sqm of high-quality open space per unit. 

 
Dwelling Area of Balcony/Patio Area Required Complaint 

Unit 1 20.5sqm 11.0sqm Yes 
Unit 2 15.0sqm 11.0sqm Yes
Unit 3 14.7sqm 8.0sqm Yes
Unit 4 15.3sqm 8.0sqm Yes 
Unit 5 27.0sqm 8.0sqm Yes
Unit 6 6.0sqm 6.0sqm Yes
Unit 7 6.0sqm 6.0sqm Yes

Table 8.1: Details of dwellings to be provided. 

 
8.35 In addition to providing general outdoor amenity space, the Croydon Local Plan 

(2018) requires flatted development to provide a minimum of 10.0sqm per child 
of new play space (Policy DM 10.4). As such, the proposed development would 
need to provide at least 38.8sqm of play space. By proposing to use a section of 
the communal rear garden as play space, the development would be able to 
provide the necessary quantum of play space. 

8.36 In regard to the quality of the amenity spaces to be provided, it is acknowledged 
that the local topography (i.e. the significant slope within the rear garden) is a 
challenge to providing highly usable space. The layout of the amenity spaces 
addresses this issue by providing private amenity spaces with step-free access. 
As such, the communal spaces supplement the private amenity that would 
address the need for readily available amenity space. Although the private 
amenity spaces may not provide a significant amount of play space, communal 

Page 136



play spaces are a common and acceptable amenity that offers the benefits of 
social interaction among children from different households and the natural 
surveillance of multiple households. In order to ensure the quality and suitability 
of the proposed communal amenity spaces, this recommendation includes a 
condition requiring the submission and approval of further details on the: 
arrangement and type of play equipment to be installed, garden furniture to be 
provided in common spaces, and measures to ensure accessibility for users of 
varying abilities. 

Urban Greening 

8.37 According to local and regional policy, the inclusions of urban greening measures 
(e.g. high-quality landscaping, green roofs and green walls) must be provided to 
increase the green cover in London (London Plan - Policy G5; Croydon Local 
Plan - SP7). Additionally, the Council seeks to protect and enhance the borough’s 
woodlands, trees and hedgerows by requiring all development proposals to 
comply with the recommendations of BS5837 2012 (Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction) or equivalent and resists development that would 
result in the avoidable loss or the excessive pruning of preserved trees or 
retained trees (Croydon Local Plan -- Policy DM28). 

Landscaping & Biodiversity 

8.38 As the inclusion of urban greening measures in new development will result in 
an increase in green cover, the London Plan (2021) states that such measures 
should be integral to planning the layout and design of new buildings and 
developments (Policy G5). However, it is noted that only major developments are 
required by regional policy to achieve an identified urban greening factor (UGF). 
Nevertheless, both local and regional policy requires development proposals to 
manage impacts on biodiversity and aim to secure net biodiversity gain, (London 
Plan - Policy G6; Croydon Local Plan - Policies DM27 and SP7). Additionally, the 
Croydon Local Plan (2018) notes that development should seek to retain existing 
landscape features 

8.39 As noted above, tree-lined streets and front gardens are characteristic of the 
leafy suburban area that is Coulsdon. In this regard, it is acknowledged that the 
raised platform required to form the forecourt proposed would result in the loss 
of the plantings on the sloped front garden. However, it is also noted that the 
raised platform would accommodate the retention of existing trees. Additionally, 
the soft landscaping to be provided atop the platform (incl. a single tree) would 
off-set the loss of the existing soft landscaping, which has made a limited 
contribution to the visual amenity of the street scene due to its sunken location. 

8.40 At the rear of the property, it is acknowledged that the removal of vegetation and 
trees required to implement the proposed development would be notable. 
However, this loss would not result in the loss of any identified protected habitat 
or species. Furthermore, any damaging ecological losses resulting from the 
implementation of the subject proposal would be avoided as this 
recommendation includes a condition requiring the submission and approval of 
a Protected and Priority Species Site Survey and, if necessary, Impact 
Management Plan. 

Page 137



8.41 The losses of existing soft landscaping in the rear garden would be off-set by the 
planting of multiple new trees in the rear garden. Additionally, the landscaping 
plan included in the proposal would take advantage of the challenging change in 
levels across the application property to provide a coherent, navigable and softly 
landscaped environment that would enhance biodiversity and provide direct 
access to nature for multiple households. In particular, it is noted that it is noted 
that the palette of shrubs to be planted would be diverse and the species of trees 
identified should be suitable for the locality. 

Trees 

8.42 In order to protect and enhance the borough’s woodlands, trees and hedgerows, 
the Council requires all development proposals to comply with the 
recommendations of BS5837 2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition and 
construction) or equivalent and resists development that would result in the 
avoidable loss or the excessive pruning of preserved trees or retained trees 
(Croydon Local Plan -- Policy DM28). 

8.43 While the proposal would involve the loss of multiple mature trees, it is noted that 
the trees to be felled were no higher than Category C including two (2) trees 
classified as dead (Category U) and none subject to tree preservation orders 
(TPO)*. Additionally, the loss of a single group of trees and three (3) individual 
trees would be off-set by the planting of two (2) feature trees in the front garden 
and three (3) trees in the rear garden. In regard to the trees to be planted, the 
types proposed should be acceptable in terms of canopy, height and species. To 
ensure that the arboricultural methods, tree protection plan, and tree planting 
programme to be used are acceptable and implemented in full, this 
recommendation includes a Arboricultural Method Statement  and Landscaping 
Management plan conditions designed to secure the submission and approval of 
the aforementioned details and programme prior to the first occupation of the 
development. 

*Note: The use of the raised platform within the proposed parking area, would 
assist with the prevention of any protected trees needing to be felled to 
accommodate the proposed development and dropped kerb.  

Local Transport 

8.44 Development within the borough and Greater London is expected to deliver 
patterns of land use that facilitate residents making shorter, regular trips by 
walking or cycling. (London Plan - Policy T2; Croydon Local Plan - Policies 
DM16, DM29 and SP8). Therefore, the cumulative impacts of development on 
public transport and the road network capacity (incl. walking and cycling), as well 
as associated effects on public health must be considered and mitigated (London 
Plan - Policy T4). Additionally, development proposals must also avoid 
increasing highway danger (London Plan - Policy T4).  

8.45 As vehicle access to the site is not constrained, future occupants would be able 
to benefit from the possible use of private vehicles. Additionally, the site’s very 
poor PTAL Rating of 1B does not reflect the legitimate potential for future 

Page 138



occupants to be utilise a variety of modes of transport including walking, cycling, 
and using public transport.  

Access Arrangements 

8.46 Pedestrians would be able to access the main building from street level via a 
ramp leading to single communal and private front entrances. As such, future 
occupants of the units served by these entrances would be provided with a 
traditional ‘front door’ and accessible step-free route. The ramp would also 
provide convenient access to the cycle stores located on the upper ground floor 
level. In contrast, future occupants of the units accessible via lower ground floor 
entrances and those storing their bicycles at the lower level would need to 
navigate stairs. 

8.47 Two (2) vehicle crossovers to Bradmore Way would provide vehicular access to 
the five (5) off-street parking spaces to be provided on the raised platform. The 
existing 3.6m wide vehicle crossover would be widened to 5.0m while a new 
3.5m crossover would be formed to the southeast. This redevelopment would 
have no impact on existing street trees and the proposed visibility splays would 
be acceptable. Nevertheless, this recommendation includes a landscaping 
condition that would ensure the boundary treatments and steps in close proximity 
to the vehicle access would not be a detriment to pedestrian, cyclist and vehicle 
safety. Additionally, conditions regarding a Construction Logistics Plan, highways 
conditions survey, threshold levels, and a Section 278 Legal Agreement are also 
included. 

 
Car Parking 
 

8.48 According to the London Plan (2021), developments located in Outer London 
areas with a PTAL of 1B should provide no more than one and a half (1.5) vehicle 
parking spaces per unit (Table 10.3). As such, the seven (7) unit proposal should 
provide no more than eleven (11) parking spaces. Since the proposal includes 
five (5) off-street parking spaces, it is compliant with the London Plan (2021) and 
its strategic objectives to discourage unsustainable travel patterns, which can 
mean not providing the maximum number of spaces allowed. 

 
8.49 On suburban sites such as the host property, the Council would expect a 

residential development to generate a demand of one (1) vehicle parking spaces 
per dwelling unit. As such, the proposal would be expected to generate a demand 
for seven (7) vehicle parking space resulting in an overspill from the development 
site onto local streets of two (2) vehicles. A Parking Survey of the 200.0m of 
Bradmore Way on either side of the application site submitted by the Applicant 
concluded that the proposed development would not unduly increase local on-
street parking stress since these streets displayed sufficient overnight capacity 
(i.e. 42.7% average occupancy of the one-hundred and nine (109) spaces 
available). 

 

Page 139



8.50 Considering how close future occupants would be local bus stops, Couldsdon 
Town Centre and Coulsdon South rail station and the fact that they would be 
provided with amenities to accommodate cycling, it is noted that sustainable 
modes of transport (incl. e-bikes) would make low-car lifestyles viable. 
Furthermore, the development would be required to contribute to improving 
sustainable transport in the area.  

8.51 Swept paths for the parking spaces are provided (using a 4.8m car as required), 
demonstrating that the spaces are accessible for ingress and egress in forward 
gear. Additionally, one (1) disabled car parking space is to be provided with extra 
width to enable manoeuvring.  

8.52 A contribution of £10,500 will be secured via S106 agreement to contribute 
towards sustainable transport initiatives in the local area including on street car 
clubs with electric vehicle charging points (EVCPs) within the South Croydon / 
Purley Oaks area as well as general expansion of the EVCP network in the area 
in line with Local Plan policies SP8.12 and SP8.13. The funding will go towards 
traffic orders at around £2500, signing, lining of car club bay, EVCP provision 
including electrics and set up costs for the car club. Additionally, every residential 
unit is to be provided with a minimum 3-year membership to a local car club 
scheme upon 1st occupation of the unit. Funding secured will also be used for 
extension and improvements to walking and cycling routes in the area and 
improvements to local bus stops to support and encourage sustainable methods 
of transport.  

8.53 Conditions will be attached to require a condition survey of the surrounding 
footways, carriageway and street furniture prior to the start of any works on site.  
This would need to be accompanied by photos and a report of any areas which 
may be of concern (this would be secured as part of the CLP condition). Given 
the site’s location a Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) is required and will be 
secured by condition. Lastly, details of the provision of active and passive EVCPs 
in accordance with Policy T6.1 of the London Plan (2021) will also be secured 
via pre-commencement condition. 

Cycle Parking 

8.54 In order to encourage the use of cycling as a primary mode of transport, the 
redevelopment would be required to provide two (2) short-stay cycle parking 
spaces and fourteen (14) covered and secured long-stay cycle storage spaces 
as per Table 10.2 of the London Plan (2021). According to the Proposed Plans, 
suitably located cycle stores at the lower and upper ground floor levels would be 
able to provide all of the requisite spaces and in an acceptably accessible 
manner. Therefore, this recommendation includes a cycle storage condition that 
would secure the required provision including the electrical sockets required to 
accommodate the charging of e-bike to assist cyclists with the challenges of the 
local topography. 

 

 

Page 140



Environmental Sustainability 

Air Quality & Water Use 

8.55 In order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and deliver development that is 
adaptable in a changing climate, the Council requires minor new-build residential 
developments to achieve the national technical standard for energy efficiency in 
new homes (2015) and all new-build residential development to meet a minimum 
water efficiency standard of 110.0l per person per day (Local Plan - Policy SP6). 
In this regard, Energy Statement for Planning (ref. 8540 Rev. 2) prepared by 
Base Energy Services Ltd. notes that the proposal would achieve both targets. 
Therefore, this recommendation includes an Emission Rate & Water Use 
condition designed to ensure future compliance. 

Flood Risk Management  

8.56 In order for the Council to ensure that development within the borough reduces 
flood risk and minimises the impact of flooding, Policy DM25 of the Croydon Local 
Plan (2018) requires development proposed within areas at risk of flooding 
development to incorporate flood resilience and resistant measures into the 
design, layout and form of buildings to reduce the level of flood risk both on site 
and elsewhere. 

8.57 As the application site is located within a Critical Drainage Area, the applicant 
submitted a requisite Floor Risk Assessment (FRA). According to the submitted 
FRA, the proposed development would help manage flood risk through the 
installation of a Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDs) that would 
incorporate the utilisation of rainwater recycling (i.e. water butts), planting of rain 
gardens to allow for rain water attenuation, and formation of soakaways to 
gradually disperse surface water. Considering the scale of the proposed 
development and identified flood risks, this SUDS proposed would be 
acceptable. Therefore, this recommendation includes a SUDs condition 
designed to ensure that details of design and installation of the identified 
measures are submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the commencement of above ground works. 

Waste Management  

8.58 The London Plan (2021) requires new housing to provide adequate and easily 
accessible storage space that supports the separate collection of dry recyclables 
and food waste, as well as, residual waste (Policy D6). It is supported locally by 
Croydon’s Waste and Recycling in Planning Policy Document (2018) that 
requires a flatted development of the proposal’s size and arrangement to provide 
enough bins and bin storage space within the curtilage of the property to handle 
the approximately 140.0l of food waste, 896.0l of recycling waste and 1,080.0l of 
landfill waste that would be generated by the proposed dwellings on a weekly 
basis (Section 4). According to the drawings submitted with the application, there 
is sufficient space within a proposed forecourt bin store to integrate the requisite 
waste storage facilities. Therefore, this recommendation includes a Waste 
Storage Management condition designed to secure the provision of the requisite 
facilities and management procedures. 

Page 141



Fire Safety 

8.59 According to Policy D12 of the London Plan (2021), all development proposals 
must achieve the highest standards of fire safety and ensure that they identify 
suitable outdoor space for fire appliances and assembly points; incorporate 
appropriate fire safety features; minimise the risk of fire spread; provide suitable 
and convenient means of escape (incl. a robust strategy for evacuation); and 
suitable access and equipment for firefighting. 

8.60 The details on fire safety and risk management contained within the Planning 
Statement Addendum 1: Fire Safety prepared by HTA Design LLP are 
considered to provide sufficient and appropriate fire safety measures/procedures 
in accordance with regional policy. This recommendation includes a Fire Safety 
condition designed to ensure that the identified measures/procedures are 
implemented. 

Other Matters 

8.61 All material considerations have been taken into account, including responses to 
the public consultation. Taking into account the consistency of the scheme with 
the Development Plan and weighing this against all other material planning 
considerations, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in planning policy 
terms. 

8.62 The development would be liable for a charge under the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

8.63 All other planning considerations including equalities have been taken into 
account. 

Conclusion 

8.64 The proposed development would considerately optimise the housing potential 
of a large suburban property through the erection of a sympathetically-design 
two/three-storey building that would be a positive addition to the local street 
scene, provide high-quality dwelling units with the necessary supporting 
amenities, and contribute to biodiversity, sustainable transport and urban 
greening. Furthermore, the comprehensive design and layout of the proposed 
development would help meet local and regional objectives on providing the 
housing Londoners need (incl. family-sized homes) without generating any 
detrimental impacts on fire safety, local amenity and local transport. Therefore, it 
is recommended that Planning Permission be GRANTED. 

 

Page 142



PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA  

PART 8: Other Planning Matters 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 In this part of the agenda are reports on planning matters, other than planning 
applications for determination by the Committee and development presentations.  

1.2 Although the reports are set out in a particular order on the agenda, the Chair may 
reorder the agenda on the night. Therefore, if you wish to be present for a particular 
application, you need to be at the meeting from the beginning. 

1.3 The following information and advice applies to all those reports. 

2 FURTHER INFORMATION 

2.1 Members are informed that any relevant material received since the publication of 
this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be reported to the Committee in 
an Addendum Update Report. 

3 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

3.1 The Council’s constitution only provides for public speaking rights for those 
applications being reported to Committee in the “Planning Applications for Decision” 
part of the agenda. Therefore reports on this part of the agenda do not attract public 
speaking rights. 

4 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

4.1 For further information about the background papers used in the drafting of the 
reports in part 7 contact Mr P Mills (020 8760 5419). 

5 RECOMMENDATION 

5.1 The Committee to take any decisions recommended in the attached reports. 

Page 143

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Development presentations
	6 Planning applications for decision
	6.1 6.1 21/01274/FUL - 100 Reddown Road Coulsdon CR5 1AL
	Item 6.1 100 Reddown Road Coulsdon

	6.2 6.2 21/02912/FUL - Citylink House, 4 Addiscombe Road, Croydon, CR0 5TT
	Item 6.2 Citylink 4 Addiscombe Road Croydon (1)

	6.3 6.3 21/02020/FUL -  Bradmore Way, Coulsdon, CR5 1PB
	Item 6.3 86 Bradmore Way Coulsdon

	8 Other planning matters

